Mapping the Languages of Edinburgh

SCOTLANG Seed Project 6

Joanna McPake Scottish CILT, University of Stirling

Final Report

October 2002

Contents

List	t of Tables and Figures	3
Ack	knowledgements	4
Abl	previations used in this report	5
A n	ote on terminology	6
Sun	nmary	9
1.	Scotland's language resource 1.1 Why map the languages of Scotland? 1.2 The need for co-ordinated policy to develop Scotland's language resources 1.3 Investing in Scotland's language resources 1.4 The structure of this report	13 14 17 19
2.	Language surveys and censuses 2.1 Introduction 2.2 Earlier language surveys 2.3 Technical issues for language surveys 2.4 Conclusions	20 20 32 36
3.	The 'other' languages of Scotland 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Census data 3.3 Educational records 3.4 Other language communities in Scotland 3.5 Conclusions	37 37 39 42 52
4.	 Designing the Languages of Edinburgh survey 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Ideological context 4.3 Logistical demands on schools 4.4 Focus 4.5 Linguistic complexity 4.6 Data collection 4.7 Language of the survey 4.8 Inclusion of monolinguals 4.9 Summary of design and implementation 	53 53 55 55 56 58 60 61 62

5.	Languages at school	
	5.1 Introduction	65
	5.2 Primary languages	65
	5.3 Secondary languages	67
	5.4 Continuity and diversification	67
	5.5 'School' languages studied outside school	69
	5.6 'School' languages in use outside school	70
	5.7 Competence in 'school' languages: overview	72
	5.8 Competence in 'school' languages: listening and speaking	74
	5.9 Competence in 'school' languages: reading and writing	78
	5.10 Conclusions	82
6.	Languages outside school	
	6.1 Introduction	83
	6.2 Languages spoken outside school	83
	6.3 Other languages studied outside school	88
	6.4 Understanding and speaking other languages	90
	6.5 Reading and writing other languages	92
	6.6 Using other languages outside school	95
	6.7 Conclusions	102
7.	Motivation to learn and use other languages	
	7.1 Introduction	106
	7.2 Why investigate motivation to learn and use other languages?	106
	7.3 Comparing monolinguals' and plurilinguals' motivation	109
	7.4 Conclusions	112
8.	Evaluation of the pilot	
	8.1 Introduction	113
	8.2 Logistics	113
	8.3 The census form	115
	8.4 Conclusions	118
9.	Conclusions	
	9.1 Introduction	119
	9.2 Estimating the plurilingual population of Scotland	119
	9.3 Identifying and investing in Scotland's language resources	120
	9.4 Potential returns on the investment	125
Ref	erences	127
Арр	pendices:	
	Appendix A: Student Questionnaire, with responses	136

List of Tables and Figures

Tables

Table 2a:	Ten languages most widely spoken by London school children	30
Table 2b:	Ten languages estimated to be most widely spoken in London	31
Table 3a:	Ethnic minority groups in Scotland	38
Table 3b:	Scottish P1 and S2 students by ethnic background	40
Table 3c:	Ten languages most widely spoken by Edinburgh school children receiving	
	EAL support	41
Table 3d:	Languages studied in out-of-school classes by Edinburgh school children in Session	
	2000-2001	42
Table 5a:	Continuity in language study between primary and secondary school	68
Table 5b:	Respondents studying 'school' languages outside school	69
Table 5c:	Respondents using 'school' languages outside school	70
Table 5d:	'Plurilinguals' and 'keen language learners'	72
Table 5e:	'School' languages studied, used, understood, spoken, read and written	72
Table 5f:	Competence in understanding and speaking 'school' languages	75
Table 5g:	Competence in reading and writing 'school' languages	78
Table 6a:	Languages spoken outside school	85
Table 6b:	Competence in understanding and speaking other languages	90
Table 6c:	Competence in reading and writing other languages	92
Table 7a:	Student responses to five items related to motivation	109

Figures

Figure 5i:	Primary languages	66
Figure 5ii:	Secondary languages	67
Figure 5iii:	Competence in understanding 'school' languages: all students	76
Figure 5iv:	Competence in understanding 'school' languages: plurilingual students	77
Figure 5v:	Competence in speaking 'school' languages: all students	77
Figure 5vi:	Competence in speaking 'school' languages: plurilingual students	78
Figure 5vii:	Competence in reading 'school' languages: all students	80
Figure 5viii:	Competence in reading 'school' languages: plurilingual students	80
Figure 5ix:	Competence in writing 'school' languages: all students	81
Figure 5x:	Competence in writing 'school' languages: plurilingual students	81
Figure 6i:	Languages studied outside school	89
Figure 6ii:	Competence in understanding other languages	91
Figure 6iii:	Competence in speaking other languages	92
Figure 6iv:	Competence in reading other languages	94
Figure 6v:	Competence in writing other languages	94
Figure 6vi:	Other language use with relatives	96
Figure 6vii:	Other language use with non-relatives	96
Figure 6viii:	Contexts for other language use (1)	100
Figure 6ix:	Contexts for other language use (2)	100

Abbreviations used in this report

AAP	Assessment of Achievement Programme
ALUS	Adult Language Use Survey (an LMP survey)
EAL	English as an Additional Language
ESL	English as a Second Language
FLUSS	Foreign Languages in the Upper Secondary School
GMU	Gaelic Medium Unit
ILEA	Inner London Education Authority
LEA	Local Education Authority
LfA	Languages for All
LMP	Linguistic Minorities Project
MLPS	Modern Languages in the Primary School
Panjabi (G)	Panjabi spoken by people of Sikh heritage, using the Panjabi written in
	the Gurmukhi script as the language of literacy
Panjabi (U)	Panjabi spoken by people of Pakistani origin, for whom Urdu is the
	usual language of literacy
SCIS	Scottish Council for Independent Schools
Scottish CILT	Scottish Centre for Information on Language Teaching and Research
SEED	Scottish Executive Education Department
SLS	Schools Language Survey (an LMP survey)
SPS	Secondary Pupils' Survey (an LMP survey)
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SQA	Scottish Qualifications Authority

Acknowledgements

Very many people contributed to this study of the *Languages of Edinburgh*. Thanks are due firstly to the students who took the time to complete the census form on which this study was based and to the teachers who administered it. Many other City of Edinburgh Council staff – including headteachers, staff of the English as an Additional Language service, advisers and other Council officials provided help and additional information for the study, as did the staff of the Scottish Council for Independent Schools and headteachers of the independent schools in Edinburgh. The willingness of so many people to support this research is greatly appreciated, particularly when so many demands of this type are made on the time of teachers and other education workers.

The study was part of the SCOTLANG initiative, an research infrastructural project funded by the Scottish Higher Educational Funding Council and co-ordinated by the Scottish Centre for Information on Language Teaching and Research (Scottish CILT) at the University of Stirling. Particular thanks are due to Professor Richard Johnstone, Director of Scottish CILT, who devised the initiative and provided considerable support throughout the project. Visiting Professor Joseph Lo Bianco has also been an invaluable source of information and ideas. The opportunity to take part in the SCOTLANG residentials and to discuss all the seed projects as they developed has been a unique and very worthwhile experience, contributing much to the development of this research. I am grateful to all members of the SCOTLANG project teams and advisory board for their comments and insights.

This research could not have been completed without the work of a number of other people, including Graham Thorpe, Susan Kirk and David Whitcombe at the Scottish Council for Research in Education who provided extensive technical expertise in the data processing and outputs, and Lottie Gregory, administrator at Scottish CILT, who supported the logistical requirements of the research in numerous ways. A number of people helped in mailing questionnaires and coding data and in keeping track of the exercise at various stages. My thanks to all of them.

A Note on Terminology

This report adopts the practice of the Council of Europe in using the term *plurilingual(ism)* to refer to the ability of individuals to speak several languages; and *multilingual(ism)* to refer to societies in which a number of languages are spoken.

The terminology generally used in English to refer to the speaking of many languages is often confusing and sometimes reflects ambivalence or hostility towards the use of languages other than English. As Mackiewicz (2002) points out, the term 'plurilingual(ism)' in English had to be invented by the Council of Europe because English lacks the distinction made by French (plurilingue/ multilingue) and German (mehrsprachig/ vielsprachig), thus hampering translation of documents dealing with these phenomena and the development of thinking around these ideas. The promotion of plurilingualism is a key goal for the Council of Europe, associated with mobility and the exchange of ideas, and with the protection and development of the linguistic heritage of Europe as a source of mutual enrichment (Council of Europe, n.d). For these reasons, the Council of Europe has put considerable resources into the creation of instruments to support and develop plurilingualism, such as the Common European Framework and the European Charter for Regional and Minority Languages.

For the multilingual Council of Europe, plurilingualism has entirely positive connotations. In English, the term *bilingualism*, the term most often used in place of plurilingualism, is not necessarily viewed positively. A widely held notion of bilingualism is equal competence in two languages. Linguists recognise that this type of bilingualism – known as 'balanced bilingualism' – is rare, and prefer to define bilingualism as using two languages in daily life.¹ However, lay people rarely accept this definition. Consequently, the move to have children who speak another language or languages in addition to English defined as 'bilinguals' met with considerable resistance when first proposed, and still tends to be challenged by monolinguals who have not encountered the term used in this way before.

Previously, 'bilingual' children were referred to as 'ESL' (English as a second language) or 'EAL' (English as an additional language) students (and indeed, earlier, as 'non-English speakers' or even 'non-speakers'), labels which emphasised these children's less than native-level fluency in English and ignored their competence in other languages. The shift towards 'bilingual' was intended to raise awareness of these children's linguistic abilities rather than deficits, and has undoubtedly promoted more positive attitudes. Paradoxically, however, among those who habitually use the term 'bilingual', it has begun to lose the connotations of someone who speaks more than one language and to be used interchangeably with 'EAL learners', applied only to those who are in the process of learning English. Thus, teachers will sometimes deny that children who speak more than one language but are entirely fluent in English are bilingual.

7

¹ See Hamers and Blanc, 1989, for a detailed discussion of definitions and types of bilingualism. Note that they distinguish between *bilinguality* and *bilingualism* in ways similar – but not identical – to the distinction made here between plurilingualism and multilingualism.

As yet, the term 'bilingual' features in no Scottish policy documents relating to the education of children who speak more than one language. The most recent relevant document, on the National Priorities for Scottish education, makes reference – for reasons which are unclear – to 'speakers of lesser used languages' (Scottish Parliament 2000a). At a meeting at which performance indicators relating to the National Priorities were being developed, there was strong resistance to the use of the term 'bilingual' on the basis that the children in question would not be fluent speakers of English. In itself, this resistance would not be sufficient reason to reject the term, given that it is based on misunderstandings and, ultimately, racism. Indeed, these would be reasons to persist with the promotion of the term, to raise awareness of the needs, abilities and potential of children who speak more than one language.

As the authors of the Linguistic Minorities Project (LMP, 1985) pointed out, one major reason to reconsider the use of the term 'bilingual' is the fact that many of the people in Britain who speak another language in addition to English in reality speak more than one other language. In fact, many of the connotations of the term 'bilingual(ism)' in English reflect monolingual perceptions of language use in multilingual contexts. Not only do monolinguals tend to assume that bilingualism requires equal native-like fluency in both languages, but they also envisage what Heller has termed 'parallel monolingualisms' (1999), a term which also implies that the two languages are kept entirely separate. They find it hard to accept that there are many people in the world who use several languages for different purposes. Furthermore, they tend to look for hierarchical relationships between the language spoken by bilinguals – one must be the 'mother tongue', the 'first language', the 'stronger' language, etc. – failing to recognise that people can acquire more than one language at once, that parents may themselves speak several languages, that people will be better at using each of their languages for certain purposes than for others.

In contrast, plurilingualism allows for any number of languages (including two), and, given that it is more difficult to imagine that people who speak several languages speak them equally well (although this is, of course, possible), the idea that people may have varying levels of competence in their different languages and use them for different purposes becomes more acceptable. 'Plurilingual' is too new a word in English to have developed the negative connotations now associated with 'bilingual', and should in time become linked with the positive messages about European mobility, culture and the exchange of ideas. For these reasons, *plurilingual(ism)* is used throughout this report to refer to people who speak more than one language in their daily lives, while *multilingual(ism)* refers to societies or social contexts in which many languages are spoken.

Summary

1. The Languages of Edinburgh study

This report describes and discusses the findings from a study based on a language census of 11 to 12 year old students in Edinburgh schools. The aims of the research were:

- to map the languages known and used by Edinburgh school children;
- to investigate students' own views on levels of linguistic competence they have reached in the languages they know;
- to explore the contexts in which they use their languages;
- to examine students' attitudes to plurilingualism.

The study was conducted as a pilot to investigate the feasibility and value of a larger study, mapping the languages of Scotland.

The census took place in early autumn 2001, and information was collected from 3840 students, estimated to be approximately four fifths of the 11 to 12 year old population of Edinburgh. All were students in the first year of secondary education (or equivalent), in state secondary and special schools, and in independent schools.

The study was part of the SCOTLANG project, a research infrastructural initiative funded by the Scottish Higher Education Funding Council and co-ordinated by the Scottish Centre for Information on Language Teaching and Research (Scottish CILT), at the University of Stirling.

2. Main findings

Languages studied at school

Almost all (99%) the participants in the survey said that they were studying another language at secondary school, and, for the majority (81%), this language was French. Most of the students (94%) said that they had studied at least one modern language at primary school. French was also the main primary school language, studied by three-quarters of the respondents (75%). Students who had studied French at primary school were more likely than those who had not to be able to continue to study their primary school language after transferring to secondary school.

Generally speaking, students of French and German were more confident than students of Spanish and Italian about their competence in understanding, speaking, reading and writing these languages. These findings probably indicate that students have had greater opportunities to study French and German, given that many had had to give up Spanish or Italian on transfer to secondary school, and that some Spanish-speakers were reflecting on competence acquired informally rather than at school – e.g. on holiday in Spain.

Languages in use outside school

One in seven (14%) of the survey participants was plurilingual, having have acquired one or more languages apart from English outside school, as a result of family or other connections with places where these languages are widely spoken. Collectively they

9

spoke 59 languages, the most common of which were Scots (19%), Urdu (11%), French (11%) and Chinese (9%).

Analysis of plurilinguals' confidence in their linguistic competence, and of the contexts in which they use their other languages outside school, focused on five languages: Scots, Gaelic, Urdu, Panjabi and Chinese. Among Scots, Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi $(U)^*$ speakers, around half of the respondents reported that they could understand and speak these languages well. This was the case for around a third of Gaelic and Panjabi $(G)^*$ speakers. However, Scots and Gaelic speakers were more confident about their literacy skills than were Chinese, Urdu or Panjabi (U and G) speakers.

All plurilinguals were most likely to use their other languages with their parents and least likely to use them with siblings, friends or teachers. Scots speakers are the most likely to use it with siblings and friends, possibly indicating that Scots is seen as having a greater role to play in establishing solidarity among young people than is the case for the other languages.

Home use of the other language was high among all language groups, with four fifths (80%) or more of the respondents indicating that they used their other languages at home (not necessarily all the time). Use of other languages in other contexts (for example on holiday, on the telephone, in a religious place) varied considerably from language to language. Generally speaking, Scots and Chinese speakers were the most likely to use their other languages in a range of contexts. Plurilingual respondents made relatively little use of their literacy skills in other languages, reflecting their lower level of confidence in these skills but also perhaps limited opportunities for reading and writing in languages other than English.

Motivation to learn and use languages

Although there was only limited space on the questionnaire to investigate participants' motivation to learn and use other languages, the findings here suggest that both monolingual and plurilingual students had relatively high levels of motivation at the time the survey was conducted: over four fifths (84%) of the participants agreed that knowing more that one language would be useful to them in the future, and almost two thirds (64%) thought that everyone should be able to speak more than one language. In the context of other recent studies of Scottish school students' motivation to learn other languages, these findings fit a general pattern of high motivation in the late primary which declines over the course of secondary schooling. There was little difference between monolingual and plurilingual respondents in this regard, suggesting that the experience of learning and using other languages among plurilinguals.

3. Conclusions

^{*} See Chapter 3 for a discussion of the differences between Panjabi (U), spoken by people of Pakistani origin for whom Urdu is the language of literacy and Panjabi (G), spoken by people of Indian origin for whom Panjabi written in the Gurmukhi script is the language of literacy.

The *Languages of Edinburgh* was devised as a pilot study to investigate the feasibility and value of a national survey of the languages of Scotland. The aim of such a survey would be to identify the potential language resource which Scotland possesses, and the kind of investment required to help ensure this potential is realised. If the Edinburgh findings were to be replicated across Scotland, they would suggest that:

- primary language learning is now almost universal in Scotland;
- virtually all are studying a language at the start of their secondary careers;
- motivation to learn and use languages at this stage appears to be high;
- the plurilingual population is greater than generally believed.

These are all positive indicators, but greater investment in languages at secondary and subsequent stages of education would bring greater rewards. Such investment might include:

- after-school provision to enable secondary students to study a second language;
- investigation of the experiences and characteristics of 'keen' language learners and ways to capitalise on their enthusiasm;
- more secondary, further and higher education provision for 'world' languages such as Chinese and Urdu;
- investigation of good practice in existing out-of-school provision and ways in which it might be improved ;
- further research into the circumstances and experiences of plurilingual speakers of European languages;
- recognition of the long-term value of supporting the other languages of 'transient' plurilinguals (those who spend a few years in Scotland and then move to another country);
- enhanced educational provision to develop cultural knowledge and understanding which draws on the multicultural traditions and possibilities of contemporary Scotland with a particular focus on local languages such as Gaelic and Scots rather than one which prizes only English;
- further investigation of the opportunities for speakers of Gaelic, including GMU graduates from English-speaking families to maintain and develop skills in Gaelic as adolescents;
- further research into secondary school students' perceptions of what it means to speak Scots and into their experiences of learning and using Scots.

Such investment would enable Scotland to capitalise on an enhanced language resource with a range of benefits to the intellectual, cultural, economic, social activities of the nation, and also in terms of greater democratic participation and respect for human rights.

1. Scotland's Language Resource

1.1 Why map the languages of Scotland?

There is currently very limited information available about the languages known and in use in Scotland. While English is clearly the dominant language, spoken by almost everyone, we do not know how many other languages are spoken, nor how many people speak them.

Scots become plurilingual in a variety of circumstances. Some people learn to speak another language (or languages) from one or both of their parents. Some grow up in communities where another language is in use. Some have spent time abroad, in countries where languages other than in English are needed for education, work and social purposes. Almost all Scottish schoolchildren now study at least one language other than English, for a recommended minimum 500 hours, usually over six years, from the penultimate year of primary school to the fourth year of secondary school (Minister's Action Group for Languages, 2000). Some continue to study one or more languages after the age of 16 at school, ultimately to degree level or beyond; and many take up language learning again as adults. However, it is difficult or impossible to estimate the language knowledge and skills of the Scottish population from existing statistics.

Why is it important to have this kind of information? Language skills represent a valuable resource for any nation, but perhaps particularly for a small nation which seeks to make its mark in the Knowledge Economy (Scottish Office 1999). Ruíz (1988) is generally credited as the originator of the language-as-resource orientation in language planning, drawing attention to the importance of languages as a national resource, particularly in relation to national security, foreign affairs and international trade. In this context, he noted the paradoxical nature of educational provision for language learning in the USA, where policy makers were seeking to encourage the study of 'foreign' languages while neglecting or actively discouraging the maintenance of 'community' languages. A country which wished to develop its linguistic resources, he argued, would value the potential contribution which existing plurilingual communities could make.

More recently, Lo Bianco (2001) has elaborated the concept of language-as-resource specifically in the context of language policy in Scotland. He draws attention not just to the economic potential of the language resource but also to the intellectual, cultural, social, citizenship and rights potential. Moving away from purely economic arguments is important, not just because of the risk of exploiting plurilingual communities through the commodification of language, an issue to which Heller (2002) has recently drawn attention, but also because the Scottish Parliament has very clearly established that its policy-making activities are to be driven not (only) by economic interests but, most fundamentally, by principles of social justice (Scottish Executive, 1999).

1.2 The need for co-ordinated policy to develop Scotland's language resources

Another important factor in Lo Bianco's work in Scotland has been to argue for all groups representing language interests to come together, so that the support for Scotland's linguistic resources ceases to be fragmented in ways which are currently very damaging. Lo Bianco links the development of competence in English, including basic

literacy and 'multiliteracies' (ability to cope with the increasingly complex ways in which knowledge is constructed and presented in the 'information society') with the acquisition or maintenance of similar skills in other languages, whether those already in use in Scotland or learned as 'foreign' languages. He sets the following goals for 'comprehensive, co-ordinated and long-term' language planning:

higher and more widely shared literacy skills, widespread proficiency in languages other than English, a higher level of articulate use of spoken language and effective, and concrete actions to support the intergenerational retention of indigenous forms of communication. Considering language as a national and personal resource allows us to connect the highest interests of public authority (citizenship ideals, democratic participation and cultural vitality) with personal interests (cultural, occupational and recreational pursuits), alongside the long-term interests of the national economy. (p5)

However, as Lo Bianco points out, Scotland currently lacks an explicit language policy which links activities in the diverse policy areas in which language issues are typically addressed. In Scotland these most centrally include compulsory schooling, enterprise and lifelong learning, social justice, and culture, although other policy fields may also touch on language issues from time to time. In the absence of such 'joined-up' policy there is an ambivalence about long-term, strategic goals, which can provoke competitiveness among different language interests, a blame culture, substantial gaps in policy and resource allocation, and a lack of action in response to policy recommendations. To look only at policy development in relation to languages in education, for the purposes of exemplification of this critique, it becomes clear that the gains achieved by some spectacular successes in particular areas can easily be lost as a result of this kind of fragmentation.

Modern Languages in the Primary School

For example, the Modern Languages in the Primary School (MLPS) initiative, introduced in 1993, has progressively introduced language learning into the top two years of primary schools. Five years later, over four fifths (82%) of all Scottish primary schools were teaching a language to at least the last two years, and sometimes to younger children (Tierney and De Cecco, 1999). Despite the considerable difficulties which the initiative has faced, particularly in terms of teacher supply, the training model developed – a 27-day course in which practising primary teachers learned both the language they were to teach and the appropriate pedagogy – is widely considered to have been a success, in generating immense enthusiasm for the project among both teachers and students, and also in terms of results (McPake, under review). However, the advantage gained – students entering secondary schools already in possession of basic skills in another language and, in most cases, a high level of enthusiasm – can easily be lost if, for example, they are unable to continue to study this language and have to begin another.

Languages for All

Similarly the Languages for All (LfA) initiative, introduced in 1989, has proved highly successful in ensuring that all students study another language, for at least the first four years of secondary education, and now, in most cases, from the penultimate year of primary school, making six years of compulsory language study in all. Before this initiative, some students were allowed to drop the study of another language, typically

after two years of secondary education, and some never studied another language at all, on the grounds that they would not benefit from such courses. Between 1976 and 1996, the number of students sitting a Standard Grade² or equivalent examination in another language doubled, so that now virtually all 16 year olds sit the examination (McPake et al., 1999). However, the gains from this initiative have recently been placed at risk by a policy document on flexibility in the secondary curriculum (Scottish Executive Education Department, 2001) which, in providing examples of what curricular flexibility might entail, indicates that students could abandon the study of another language at the age of 14 if they would benefit more from other courses of study.

Gaelic medium education

Educational provision for Gaelic is another area in which considerable gains have been made in recent years. Since 1985, national funding to set up Gaelic medium units (GMUs) in primary schools across Scotland, wherever there was sufficient parental demand, has been provided. There are now 59 primary GMUs in primary schools, teaching 1800 students (Scottish Executive 2000b). The goal of this initiative has been both to maintain Gaelic in the Gaelic 'heartland' areas (the north-west of Scotland) but also to encourage non-Gaelic speaking families to enrol children in GMUs as a form of 'immersion' education – i.e. learning through the medium of another language. This approach has been found to be effective both in enabling students to achieve high levels of linguistic competence, and also in students' general academic attainment. (For a review of immersion education, see Johnstone, 2001. For a review specifically of the impact of Gaelic-medium education, see Johnstone et al., 1999.) Despite the success of the primary initiative, its long-term impact has yet to be established. Particularly problematic is the fact that most children educated in primary GMUs are unable to continue to be educated through the medium of Gaelic at secondary school, because of a lack of subject specialist secondary teachers who can teach in Gaelic. In the case of those from non-Gaelic speaking homes who attended GMUs at primary level, it is not currently known whether these students retain much or anything at all of their Gaelic competence by the time they leave school. Thus the immediate benefits of the primary GMU policy may be lost by the failure to make longer-term provision for students and families who have demonstrated a willingness to contribute to the revitalisation of Gaelic.

Standard Grade Urdu

In 1998, the Scottish Qualifications Authority (SQA) introduced a Standard Grade examination in Urdu. For first time in Scotland, a non-European language entered the school curriculum. Student candidates for the examination have risen each year to date, and, though small compared with many other subjects (174 students sat the examination in 2001), exceed the numbers taking Gàidhlig (Gaelic for native speakers of the language), Russian or Classical Greek (Scottish Qualifications Authority, 2002). The initiative has been seen as offering both parity of esteem for Urdu in relation to the other European languages in the curriculum, and also equity, in that students who, in many cases, dedicate considerable amounts of their free time to the study of Urdu, can now gain a national qualification in the language. However, Urdu is the only language for

² Standard Grade examinations are Scottish general level examinations (roughly equivalent to the English General Certificate of Secondary Education (GCSE) examination) which students sit at the age of 15-16.

which a Higher examination³ does not currently exist. The SQA has said that it will consider introducing a Higher if there is sufficient demand, but there are also rumours that the authority is considering removing the subject from the Standard Grade diet because of the relatively low level of uptake. The current position therefore sends out messages which contradict the intention to promote parity of esteem and equity.

In addition, failure to resource the initiative adequately threatens its future. For example, unlike the MLPS initiative, there has been no move to provide training for Urdu teachers working in schools. All school teachers must have teaching qualifications recognised in Scotland. However, there are no initial teacher education courses for Urdu teachers in Scottish teacher education institutes. Therefore the Urdu teachers in schools must either be Urdu-speaking teachers who have qualified to teach another subject in Scotland, or teachers who qualified in Pakistan. In both cases, they may do an excellent job, but none will have the particular expertise in teaching Urdu to children living in Scotland which, for example, secondary French specialists possess. This may have long-term implications for the quality of Urdu provision and student attainment.

1.3 Investing in Scotland's language resources

These examples illustrate the kinds of problems which ensue when 'comprehensive, coordinated and long-term' language planning is not in evidence. The contention underlying this study is that one reason for the absence of such planning is the lack of awareness of the nature of the language resources which Scotland currently possesses and, consequently, an inability to plan effectively to capitalise on the resource or to consider what investment strategy is needed to maximise return. A map of the languages of Scotland would therefore aim to describe the current resource – to determine the range of languages known and used by the inhabitants, and to provide some indication of the nature of the linguistic skills they possess. This would help to identify the kind investment needed – principally (but not only) in terms of enhancement of educational provision which would enable people to make full use of their linguistic skills in social, cultural, intellectual and economic contexts.

This pilot study aims to map the languages of Edinburgh via a census of 12-13 year olds, in most cases in their first year of secondary education. The decision to focus on students in this age group is deliberate: the point of transition from primary to secondary school is a key point at which existing resources, in terms of languages studied at school and languages studied and used outside school, can be identified, along with any gaps in investment. For example, the information these students provide could help to quantify the need for better systems of maintaining continuity and diversification in the provision for language teaching at school; and it would also help to identify the kind of educational support needed to enable students who are already plurilingual to maintain and develop their other languages.

Continuity and diversification

³ Higher examinations are Scottish higher level examinations, which students sit at the age of 16-17, as preparation for entrance into higher education.

Students in the first year of secondary education will, in most cases, already have completed two years of language study at primary school, and have just embarked on a secondary language course. The data collected will therefore provide both a general picture of provision for the early years of language learning, and in particular, evidence of the extent to which students are able to continue to study the language they began at primary school when they transfer to secondary school. As noted in section 1.3, there are concerns that the principle of continuity (whereby students ideally study the same language continuously from age 10 to age 16) conflicts with the desire for diversification (the need for a range of different foreign languages to be taught, so that nationally, linguistic capacity is not based on one or two languages alone). Data from a national survey targeting students in their first year of secondary education would provide evidence of any imbalance in the range of languages taught, at an early stage. In addition, it would identify the proportion of students who have had to change languages between primary and secondary school, These students are not only at a disadvantage in having started the language two years or more after many of their peers, but are also likely to lose the initial skills they developed in their primary language.

Investment, in this context, might mean developing local or national systems to support continuity and diversification, but also, for example, providing alternative provision (such as after school classes) for those who are forced to change languages on entering secondary school but would wish to continue with their primary language.

Maintaining and developing existing skills in other languages

Investigating the language skills of plurilingual students in this age group enables us to consider the nature of the linguistic competence they have already acquired, and what additional support may be required. Although it is often assumed by educationalists and policy-makers that children from plurilingual families speak their other languages fluently and become literate in these languages – either through family literacy practices or community provision of some kind – in fact there is now considerable research to show that attrition (language loss) is widespread. Community provision – when available - for developing literacy skills in other languages is generally inadequate. There is limited time for instruction: the amount of time available to the after school or weekend class cannot compare with the amount of time dedicated to the development of literacy skills in the mainstream school. In many cases, community teachers are untrained, unpaid, and have to work with limited and inappropriate teaching materials. In addition, there are strong societal tendencies – particularly in anglophone countries – to devalue languages other than the dominant language, leading to a process sometimes controversially – termed 'linguicide' (Phillipson, 1992), where children who grew up in plurilingual families gradually lose their ability to speak any other language apart from English.

Understanding the nature of the skills which plurilingual students possess by the age of 12, and identifying what investment is needed to enable them use their other languages for the widest possible range of functions, and as effectively as possible, when they are adults, will enable the students themselves, and Scottish society more generally, to benefit from this linguistic resource.

The identification of the nature of current language resources, their future potential, and the kind of investment required to help ensure this potential is realised is therefore the principal aim of this study.

1.4 The structure of this report

In the report which follows, Chapters 2 and 3 look in more detail at the history of language surveys, and at what is already known about the 'other' languages of Scotland. The methods used to devise the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey are described in Chapter 4. In Chapters 5, 6 and 7, the main findings from the Edinburgh survey are presented and discussed. Chapter 8 reviews the success of the study as a pilot for a larger investigation of the languages of Scotland. Chapter 9 draws conclusions from this study, in terms of the identification of Edinburgh's existing language resources and of the educational investment which would allow the city to capitalise on their potential.

2. Language Surveys and Censuses

2.1 Introduction

Large-scale language surveys are rarely conducted. This may be partly to do with the technical difficulties involved, and possibly also because there is limited public interest in the outcomes. Yet, data of this kind can have a major impact on public perceptions and, consequently, on policy. In Scotland, information about the use of Gaelic has been collected, via the census, since 1881. The first data set produced led to improvements in the provision of Gaelic in highland schools, and to requests for similar provision in the Census for Welsh (MacKinnon, 1988: 1). Longitudinal data on the Gaelic-speaking population from the Census, showing the decline in the Gaelic speaking population (from 254 000 in 1891 to 66 000 in 1991) have been used to argue, very successfully, for dedicated funding to reverse the decline. In contrast, languages about which little or no information is collected (it is estimated that about half of all the world's languages have not been documented in any way) are at great risk of disappearing without trace (Nettles and Romaine 2002: 7). Certainly it is difficult or impossible to plan to support and develop languages when information is lacking about the demography of speakers, the contexts in which they habitually use the language, and their attitudes towards language maintenance and development.

This chapter reviews language surveys conducted in the UK over the past 25 years or so, focusing particularly on the technical challenges identified by those who conducted them and on their success in meeting these, as a prelude to a discussion (in Chapter 4) of the design of the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey.

2.2 Earlier language surveys

Interest in documenting the use of languages other than English, Gaelic, Welsh and Irish can be traced back, in England, to the 1970s, with three initiatives: an investigation of the languages of London school children (Rosen and Burgess, 1980), the Inner London Education Authority (ILEA) surveys of the languages spoken in London schools (biennially from 1978 to 1989), and a study of the 'other' languages of England (Linguistic Minorities Project, 1985). More recently, a synthesis of language data collected by the local education authorities (LEAs) serving inner and outer London (Baker and Eversley, 2000) has drawn attention to the wide range of languages spoken by London children (over 350) and the growing numbers of children who are plurilingual.

'The Languages and Dialects of London's School Children'

Rosen and Burgess's study (conducted in 1977-8, reported in 1980) was the earliest of these three surveys. It was administered to 4600 students, aged 11 to 12, in 28 schools in ILEA and Haringey. The findings revealed that 15% spoke at least one other language in addition to English, while a further 15% spoke what were classified as 'overseas dialects of English' (principally English-based Creoles from the Caribbean). The method by which the researchers recommended the survey should be administered involved teachers conducting group discussions aimed at probing students' linguistic repertoires. However, they were aware of variations in the ways in which the information was collected may have varied. The results were recorded by the teachers. As Rosen and Burgess themselves

acknowledge, this approach was dependent on teachers' judgements, and may have produced inaccuracies in the data collected, particularly because students might, in some cases, have been reluctant to discuss their linguistic backgrounds, in the groups, or with their teachers

In addition to collecting information about students' knowledge of languages other than English, the survey also sought to estimate the English language competence of all those who took part, ranging from 'strong standard' (English) speakers to those who spoke a language other than English. It is possible that this aspect of the survey coloured the views of teachers and student participants as to its 'real' purpose: for example, it may have been understood as an attempt to quantify the extent of EAL support need by children who spoke languages other than English. Because of this linking of the collection of data about use of other languages with an evaluation of students' English language competence, it seems likely that the Rosen and Burgess survey produced an underestimate of the numbers of plurilingual students.

The ILEA Language Surveys

A similar problem with dual purposes for data collection affected the ILEA language surveys, conducted approximately every two years from 1978 to 1989, when the Authority was disbanded (ILEA 1979, 1982, 1983, 1986, 1987, 1989). The original aim was to identify children who required English language support. Data about the specific languages which children spoke were incidental: the aim of collecting this information was to target appropriate English-language support to children of similar linguistic backgrounds. In the first survey (conducted in 1978, reported in 1979), over 10% of the ILEA school population was recorded as plurilingual, the main languages being Greek, Turkish and Bengali. This proportion was likely to have been an underestimate, however, given that the aim of the survey was to collect information about children who had difficulties with English, not to identify all plurilingual students.

The 1981 survey, now labeled 'Language Census', changed the focus to the collection of 'statistics of pupils with a home language other than or in addition to English', and stated specifically that these were to include those who had reached 'full competence' in English. This survey identified 14% of ILEA pupils as plurilingual, with Bengali now the most widely spoken language. At the time of the last survey, in 1989, a quarter (25%) of the ILEA school population was plurilingual, and 184 languages were listed. However, the English language competence of plurilingual students was still a major focus of the Census. While collecting data on the placing of plurilingual students in relation to the four 'stages' of English commonly used in ILEA to chart progress from beginner to 'full competence', the census omitted to investigate plurilingual students' competence in oral and literacy skills in their other languages.

Another major flaw in the ILEA surveys was the failure to recognise that children might speak more than one language in addition to English: the question schools were required to answer on their students' behalf was whether they spoke another language in place of English as their *first* language. As Nicholas (1994), reviewing the ILEA language

surveys, points out, this monolingual conceptualisation of plurilingualism creates immense scope for confusion:

Many plurilingual pupils would, with reason, represent English as their first and home language, and no other. The census would be unlikely to elicit an accurate response from pupils using other languages who regarded English as their 'first language' in the school environment. In addition, respondents who did identify a first language other than English, where the language commonly used at home was seen as 'lower' in status to other languages used, in many cases would be likely to volunteer 'higher status languages, or national languages, in preference. (pp 23-4)

For this reason and others (e.g. the ILEA language surveys consistently failed to record the use of English-based Creoles among the school population, as 'dialects of English' were not included), the proportion of plurilingual students and the number of languages spoken were probably considerably higher than recorded.

'The Other Languages of England'

The Linguistic Minorities Project (LMP) set out to provide detailed information about the range of languages other than English spoken in England at the time: the field work was conducted in the early 1980s, and the definitive account of the findings was published in LMP 1985. Despite the amount of time which has passed since this survey, it remains immensely influential, both in terms of establishing the complexities of multilingualism in England, and in terms of its ambitious approach to language surveys. When the project began, there had been almost no research in this area in England (p4; note that the Rosen and Burgess survey and the first ILEA survey took place at almost the same time as LMP began, although the LMP authors are able to comment on both by the time they published the project findings in 1985). Earlier estimates of the extent of multilingualism in the English cities involved in the project had been highly speculative, and generally turned out to be considerably lower than the LMP surveys found to be the case.

Many of the issues which continue to be the focus of work around multilingualism in the UK can be traced back to those raised by the LMP authors: for example, the educational implications of children's linguistic repertoires; contrasting perspectives on plurilingualism as problem or plurilingualism as resource; and the co-existence among minority language communities of 'high' and 'low' varieties of minority languages (e.g. Standard Bengali and Sylheti) along with the development of new 'British' varieties of Panjabi, Greek, etc. These concepts and others were not necessarily new within sociolinguistics, but LMP is generally recognised as the first study to have explored them systematically and in detail, in England, and to have addressed their findings in these areas not only to linguists but to policy-makers and educationalists.

LMP conducted four surveys, of children's and adults' language use, and on provision for learning community languages, in different areas of England. Brief accounts of the three surveys on language use are presented here, focusing on the technical issues each raised, and on the implications of the choice of methods for interpretation of the findings. The survey of provision for learning community languages is not discussed here, as less relevant to the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey.

The Schools Language Survey (SLS)

This survey, designed to be implemented as a census by LEAs, aimed to collect information on range of languages spoken at home by pupils in LEA schools, and on the number of pupils speaking each of these languages. The survey was conducted in five LEAs (Peterborough, Coventry, Bradford, Haringey and Waltham Forest), administered by teachers who were asked to ask every member of the class whether they spoke another language, apart from English, at home. Only students who answered 'yes' to this question were then asked to respond to three other questions:

- 2. What is the name of that language?
- 3. Can you read that language?
- 4. Can you write that language?

(LMP 1985: 318)

As with the ILEA surveys, it appears that the SLS approach omitted to provide space for students who spoke more than one language apart from English. There is some mention of this issue in the discussion of the results, particularly in relation to students who spoke one language but were literate in another (as, for example, would be the case for many people of Pakistani origin, who speak Panjabi but use Urdu as their language of literacy), but the overall findings from the survey have to be considered an oversimplification of the linguistic picture for this reason.

As the authors were aware, the teacher's role in conducting this survey was of crucial importance, and could potentially be the cause of distortions in the data. For example, they acknowledge that some teachers may not have formally asked all class members whether they spoke another language or not, but may have asked only those whom they believed to speak another language to provide the answers to questions 2, 3 and 4. In addition, the survey was dependent on teacher and student being able to label the languages spoken: the fact that a number of responses contained responses relating to the students' ethnicity, nationality or religion (e.g. 'Pathan', 'Indian', 'Hindu') rather than to the language(s) spoken indicate that this was problematic for some of those who took part in the survey.

In order to conduct the survey successfully, the project team needed to provide a very high level of information and support for the participating LEAs and their schools. They encountered a range of objections to participation which give an indication of the potential for distortion of the aims of the research and consequently for the generation of misleading data, or the withholding of information. For example, some LEA staff were concerned that the findings would have major resource implications; and LEA and school staff sometimes expressed concerns that the data collected might be misused in ways which might impact negatively either on the ethnic minority populations of the area, or on the 'white' population. Many objections, the team felt, were rooted in racism or in monolingual perspectives. However, clearly the team were successful in overcoming many of these objections, at least at the level of the administration of the survey (but perhaps not always at classroom level⁴), in that they obtained information on almost the entire school population of the five LEAs.

The findings showed that the proportion of students who could speak one or more languages in addition to English ranged from 7% in Peterborough, to 31% in Haringey, with very different patterns of language distribution in each LEA. Around 50%⁵ of those who said they could speak another language apart from English reported having some level of literacy in another language (though this was not always the language they said they could speak).

The Secondary Pupils' Survey (SPS)

The Secondary Pupils' Survey was designed as a smaller scale survey to look in more detail at children's use of language in and out of school. The intention was to make the survey of relevance to all children, not only those who could be defined as plurilingual, and also to investigate whether children would be more willing to provide information about their linguistic repertoire in a format which did not involve teacher mediation. In this survey, there was space for respondents to mention up to three languages (one of which would, in most cases, be English, given that the form was written in English).

Students who said they could speak one or more languages apart from English were asked to assess their oral and literacy skills in the language(s) they knew, to say which language(s) they used with different interlocutors, and what opportunities they had had to study these languages. All students – whether monolingual or plurilingual – were asked whether other members of their family could speak languages other than English, whether they could understand the language(s) when spoken by others, what languages they had studied at school or out of school, and what languages they were aware of being spoken by others in their school or in the local area.

SPS was conducted with around all Peterborough pupils in the first year of secondary education at the time (around 1700 11 year olds) and with around 1000 14-15 years olds in 11 Bradford schools where the researchers knew (from the results of SLS) that over 10% of the school population was plurilingual. The results of the survey indicate that there were some difficulties with the format of the questionnaire: in some cases students had been unable to follow the questionnaire routing, and some questionnaires contained only partial data. These outcomes suggested that the questionnaire format was perhaps over-complicated for some students. However, the data as a whole were regarded as representative of the two student groups.

Around 10% of the Peterborough students and around 30% of the Bradford students said they spoke one or more languages in addition to English. Responses indicated that,

⁴ Some of the feedback they received suggested that: 'Not all schools and teachers followed our instructions to the letter, of course, or even indeed in spirit. We must presume that some teachers did not feel able to give the survey a very high priority within their overall workload, and may even have allowed feelings of hostility to the children most immediately concerned, to senior school staff, to their immediate superiors or to academic researchers to influence what they recorded.' (pp327-9)

⁵ The proportion was lower in Coventry, where around 40% reported literacy in a language other than English.

overall, patterns of linguistic competence were the same for both groups: over 80% said that they could understand and speak the languages in question quite well; while around a third said that they could read and write in these languages. The data also showed that plurilingual students were more likely to use these languages with their parents and grandparents, but more likely to use English with siblings and friends, although patterns vary considerably, depending on the language in question. Around a fifth of the plurilingual Bradford respondents and around a quarter of those in Peterborough were studying a community language, usually out of school hours. Of those who said they spoke only English, around one in seven, in both Bradford and Peterborough, said that at least one of their parents spoke another language in addition to English.

Of all the school surveys reviewed here, SPS appears to have been the most successful in avoiding the pitfalls which beset the earlier surveys in London, and also, to a lesser extent, SLS. Unlike Rosen and Burgess or the ILEA surveys, SPS did not link plurilingualism to questions of competence in English, and therefore is less likely to have led respondents to under-report knowledge of other languages. In particular, its approach in seeking information about all students' linguistic backgrounds is likely to have encouraged monolingual and plurilingual respondents to take a positive view of the information requested. Unlike the other surveys, SPS was not dependent on teacher mediation, which the other surveys indicated could lead to misunderstandings, reticence on the part of informants, and missing data, in cases where teachers collect data only from those already known to be plurilingual. Although the SPS researchers themselves thought that only older students (over the age of 15) would be able to complete questionnaires on language practices, the Peterborough cohort demonstrated that students in the first year of secondary education were able to do so. There is, however, no discussion of alternative methods of administration of the questionnaire to those who might have had difficulty in understanding written English: these would include not only plurilingual students whose English was in the early stages of development but dyslexic students and others who, for a variety of reasons, may have learning difficulties or delays.

The Adult Language Use Survey (ALUS)

ALUS was developed to collect information about adults' competence in languages other than English and to investigate patterns of language use, with a particular focus on evidence of language shift and opportunities for language maintenance. As it would have been impossible to look at these issues in relation to all plurilingual adults across England, the survey focused on 10 languages (Bengali, Cantonese, Greek, Gujerati, Italian, Panjabi⁶, Polish, Portuguese, Turkish and Ukrainian) in three locations (Bradford, Coventry and London). They aimed to look at communities speaking each of the languages in at least two of the three locations. Rather than conduct a census of these communities, they sought to identify a representative sample from each, in two or more locations, and to conduct interviews with those selected. The samples were based on an analysis of names known to be typical of the linguistic groups in question, from

⁶ This included both those for whom Panjabi written in the Gurmukhi script is the language of literacy, referred to as the Panjabi (G) group, and those who speak Panjabi but for whom Urdu is the language of literacy, referred to as the Panjabi (U) group. For further discussion of Panjabi (G) and Panjabi (U) see Chapter 3.

telephone directories and electoral rolls, plus other 'community lists' where available. From this analysis, an estimate of the total community size in each location was constructed, and the survey sample based on this estimate.

Over 1000 interviews were conducted, mainly in the languages of the respondents, using interviewers recruited from local communities. This is an important feature of the survey which appears rarely to have replicated elsewhere. As the researchers point out, there are a number of reasons for conducting interviews about plurilingualism in languages other than English:

The need for our questionnaires and interviewers to be bilingual was only partly to ensure communication with the widest range of respondents. More importantly, it was to show that we recognised the legitimacy of languages other than English for serious public purposes, and in certain cases to show that we did not undervalue certain stigmatised dialects. Nor did we feel that we were likely to be given accurate answers to questions about the use of particular language varieties if the questions were posed in a language which was itself distant from that most commonly used by the respondents. (p138)

Furthermore, in discussion of the data collected, the researchers felt that the community interviewers were able to provide insights which English-speaking interviewers might have missed; and it also emerged that some interviewees had told the interviewers that they would not have agreed to take part in the survey if they had been approached in English.

However, designing a multilingual survey presented a number of challenges:

- translating the original English questionnaire into a number of different languages in such a way as to ensure that the original intentions remained clear, that consistency across languages was achieved, and yet that cultural differences were reflected;
- the need to develop interviewing approaches which genuinely reflected the language of the communities to be surveyed, rather than standard or prestige varieties, and to ensure that interviewers did not convey negativity towards non-standard varieties;
- designing interview questions which interviewers had to read aloud to interviewees, when the language of literacy used in a community was not the same as the language of oral communication (this was a particular issue for both Panjabi (U) communities and Chinese communities);
- enabling interviewers who were fluent speakers of the languages in question but not highly literate in these languages to conduct the interviews effectively;
- designing a response form in which the information collected would be accessible to researchers who did not speak the languages in question.

In addition, there are a number of shortcomings associated with the particular survey method which the LMP authors themselves identify:

- the survey is dependent on participants' recall which may not be accurate, and is likely to be limited to current or recent patterns of their language practices
- the data are the result of the relationship established between interviewer and interviewee; different interviewers might generate different responses;

- the data are based on self-reporting and are not backed up by other evidence (e.g. recordings of the interviewee in interactions with other interlocutors);
- interviewees might withhold information because they did not regard it as important, or because they did not want to reveal aspects of their linguistic practices to others.

Another substantial limitation of the survey is that participants were interviewed only in relation to one other language, plus English. Although the LMP team were aware that many of their respondents would be plurilingual, the complexity of the survey meant that they could not deal with more than one language. They did, however, collect basic information about the other languages spoken in addition to the language about which the survey was concerned. They also developed approaches to interview administration procedures which took into account the possibility of plurilingualism.

The results of this very complex survey cannot be briefly summarised. One of the key issues to emerge, however, is that linguistic practices and patterns of use vary considerably not only from language to language, as might be expected, but also from community to community, even when the same language is in use. The different immigration histories of, for example, Panjabi (U) communities in Bradford and Coventry, and the different contexts in which they were now living, appeared to be linked different types of linguistic behaviour⁷. These findings indicate the danger of generalising from studies which take place within one community or location to the linguistic behaviour of all those who speak the same language, across the UK.

'Multilingual Capital'

The aim of the authors of *Multilingual Capital* (Baker and Eversley 2000) was to find a way of producing visual maps of the languages spoken in London. This study began as part of the Logosphere Programme at the London School of Oriental and African Studies - a project to develop new methods of language mapping. The model developed worked well for African countries but did not suit the situation found in London boroughs. However, the team recognised that a language map of London would be valuable for social policy reasons, as well as enabling them to tackle the issue of urban language mapping.

Thus the approach of the researchers was very different to that of those who had worked on the previous language surveys. A major feature of the study is to demonstrate the potential value of the maps, rather than to develop appropriate methods of data collection. In fact, the data used were not collected by the researchers, but those routinely collected by London local education authorities (LEAs) for their own purposes. The approaches to data collection were known to differ markedly from one authority to another, and some to be more reliable than others: possibly the least reliable method recorded was that of one authority which, rather than spend time collecting the information, averaged the results for the four authorities which surrounded it. It seems likely that several authorities were using an approach based on that adopted for the ILEA surveys, given that ten of the authorities are the successors to ILEA: so, for example, it is probable that, in many cases,

⁷ The different findings for these two groups are presented in more detail in Chapter 3.

the data were collected by teachers rather than directly from students or their families; and that forms have space for only one language other than English.

In most cases, the data were collected in 1998 or 1999. They exclude private schools. In all, data from over 850 000 children were included. About 3% of the data was unusable: because language names were derived from the country of origin (e.g. 'Nigerian', 'Ghanaian'); because the language names were unknown to the researchers, nor listed in Dalby's (1999) index of 40 000 languages and dialects; or because for some children, no language information was listed.

The survey found over 350 languages spoken by London children. The 'top ten', following English, are shown in Table 2a:

	%		%
1. Bengali/ Sylheti	4.5	Panjabi	3.3
3. Gujerati	3.2	4. Hindi/ Urdu ⁸	2.9
5. Turkish	1.7	6. Arabic	1.2
7. English Creoles	1.2	8. Yoruba	1.2
9. Somali	0.9	10. Cantonese	0.9

Table 2a: Ten languages most widely spoken by London school children

Based on data from Baker and Eversley 2000

The data show that speakers of particular languages tend to cluster in the same or adjacent areas of London. There appear to be more speakers of other languages north of the Thames than south. The density of populations of speakers of other languages varies markedly from one authority to another. Hindi/Urdu speakers are the most widespread.

It is possible to use the data collected from London school children to estimate the total number of people speaking these languages living in the city. To do this, it is important to bear in mind that population patterns for different ethnic groups (as defined by the 1991 Census) differ considerably: e.g. communities who emigrated to the UK in the 1950s now include a substantial proportion of older people, while more recent arrivals have a younger profile. Fertility rates also differ among ethnic groups. Using a range of different types of data, two models to estimate the total populations of the speakers of the top 40 languages in London were developed. These indicate changes in the overall distribution of languages, compared with the school pupils survey. The top ten languages (after English) for the whole London population, based on these estimates, are:

⁸ Baker and Eversley chose to view Hindi and Urdu as, effectively, the same language, a decision which some linguists would support but which members of the communities which call their language 'Hindi' or 'Urdu' might not accept. For further discussion on this issue, see Chapter 3.

	000s		000s
1. Panjabi	144 - 156	2. Gujerati	138 - 150
3. Hindi/ Urdu	126 - 137	4. Bengali/ Sylheti	120 - 136
5. Turkish	68 - 74	6. Arabic	50 - 54
7. English Creoles	46 - 51	8. Cantonese	45 - 48
9. Yoruba	43 - 48	10. Greek	29 - 31

Table 2b: Ten languages estimated to be most widely spoken in London

Based on data from Baker and Eversley 2000

In addition to presenting their findings in a series of maps, showing the range and concentration of populations speaking the principal languages identified, *Multilingual Capital* contains a series of chapters considering the value of the data for various social policy and commercial purposes. So, for example, in one chapter on the potential impact of the data on local authority expenditure, it is noted that, in the light of the MacPherson Report on the death of the Black student Stephen Lawrence, local authorities had been urged to improve services to ethnic minority communities. However, the measure of ethnicity derives from the 1991 census figures and therefore does not take into account more recent arrivals. The data provided in *Multilingual Capital*, in addition to being more up to date, are more detailed and therefore of much greater value in enabling authorities to target resources effectively. In another chapter on how multinational businesses decide where to locate their offices, it is noted that one of the deciding factors is access to skilled linguists. London has been particularly successful in attracting multinationals, because of its multilingual population. *Multilingual Capital* provides accurate data to support the claims made by London bodies competing for this type of business.

Despite these indications of the potential of the type of data synthesis which *Multilingual Capital* represents, it is clear that the quality of data collection within LEAs needs to be improved in order for this potential to be fully exploited. The authors therefore developed a prototype questionnaire which they encouraged local authorities and schools to use. It is designed for use in secondary schools, to be completed in one lesson, with minimal help from the teacher. Particular features of the questionnaire are questions about languages spoken at home/ outside school: these have been found to generate information not provided when students were initially asked which languages they knew. The authors also note the under-reporting of languages spoken by white pupils who are fluent English speakers; and under-reporting of languages which may be regarded as being of low status. This questionnaire is the basis for that used in the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey.

2.3 Technical issues for language surveys

From these surveys, three substantial technical issues emerge for those devising language surveys: sampling, administration procedures and questionnaire design.

Sampling

There are two approaches to sampling for language surveys. The first is to conduct a census - i.e. to survey the entire population in question (for example, the population of

Scotland, in the case of the Gaelic question in the Census; the ILEA school population, in the case of the ILEA language surveys). The second is to identify in advance groups within the population that are of relevance to the survey. Thus, for ALUS, LMP used telephone directory and electoral register data to identify people whose names indicated that they were likely be of ethnic/ linguistic minority origin; and similar techniques have been used in surveys of ethnic (rather than linguistic) minority populations (e.g. Smith's 1991 survey of ethnic minorities in Scotland).

Pre-identifying the relevant population has a number of advantages, including cost: it is clearly less expensive to target only those who are likely to be speakers of the language(s) relevant to the survey than to cover the entire population, when only a fraction will have information of significance. It may be possible to explore linguistic issues in more detail when all those receiving the questionnaire have a shared language background. The fact that such surveys can be conducted in the language of the target group brings a number of additional benefits, in terms of access to the group, and in terms of generating data which might otherwise not be forthcoming.

There are, however, major disadvantages. Not all those likely to be of interest to researchers can be traced via electoral registers or telephone directories, including anyone under the age of 18, refugees and asylum seekers, people who do not have telephones, and those who have not registered to vote. These last two categories possibly include a disproportionate number of people from ethnic minority backgrounds. It is time-consuming to run through electoral rolls, looking for names of ethnic minority origin. Even although this sorting can now be done by computer, making it feasible to extract the minority ethnic population of a district or a town relatively quickly, it would, according to McEnery et al. (n.d.: 3), be a 'daunting task' to do so for the whole of the UK.

In any case, identifying speakers of particular languages from electoral register details cannot be an exact science. The fact that someone has a name which indicates an ethnic minority background does not necessarily mean that they speak the language(s) most commonly associated with that ethnic group: the family in question may have abandoned their 'heritage' language and use only English; or they may have travelled the world and speak a number of languages not necessarily associated with the ethnic community with which they are ostensibly most closely linked. Names are not always clear indicators of ethnic origin in any case. Some names occur among different ethnic groups, including anglophone names deriving from the colonial past; and families in which inter-marriage has taken place at some stage may also have surnames which represent only part of their linguistic heritage.

Pre-identification of the sample therefore works best when dealing with a single-language population, in a relatively small geographical area (a town, or a district of a larger city). It is of particular use when seeking detailed information about a linguistic community for which basic information is already available: e.g. knowing about the prevalence of Panjabi-Urdu diglossia in communities of Pakistani origin will enable researchers both to phrase questions more appropriately and to explore the contexts in which Panjabi and Urdu are used among particular communities. The approach is of much less value when

several language groups, across a wider geographic area, are to be identified, particularly when the range of languages in use in the area is not known, and where basic information about language use among communities in the area is not available.

With large multilingual populations, a census is preferable. A census (theoretically) covers the entire population within the parameters of the survey, and therefore there is no risk of excluding relevant informants. A particular strength is the likelihood of picking up those (perhaps particularly White people) who are fluent speakers of English but are also plurilingual. Major drawbacks, however, are cost and the loss of detail. Questions have to be generalisable to the whole population, rather than tailored to issues which may be meaningful to some but not all groups. A particular problem in the past has been ensuring the scope to cover more than one other language apart from English.

Administration procedures

Administration of language surveys in schools (the model of most interest to the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey) presents a number of challenges. Firstly, for an outside researcher, there is the task of persuading local authorities to take part in the survey, and, once agreement has been reached, to convince school managers and staff to participate. As the LMP SLS exercise showed, securing agreement is in itself a challenge, not simply because of the logistical demands the survey may make, but also because of the political and ideological implications of asking questions about the languages students speak. These factors, inevitably, also influence what students report about the languages they speak. As Nicholas points out:

For a number of reasons, language diversity surveys in Britain operate unavoidably in an ideological arena. The presence and use of languages in addition to English in Britain cannot be measured as neutral, demographic 'hard facts', primarily because they exist in a hostile environment [...] This hostility, which also includes prejudice and racism, overt or covert, exists at every level of British society: in the street, in the classroom, in the political system. Of course, it is a factor in underreporting and underestimates in survey data. (Nicholas 1994: 39-40)

It seems clear from the analysis of the Rosen and Burgess, ILEA and LMP schools surveys that eliciting information directly from the students themselves rather than using teachers as mediators has greater potential for success, both because students have more knowledge of their linguistic experience outwith school than their teachers do, and because confidentiality and anonymity are important in contexts where people may fear negative or dismissive responses to the information they might volunteer.

However, teachers and other adults sometimes object to this approach, usually on the basis that children may 'invent' responses, or that they may over-represent their linguistic knowledge: some teachers objected to the use of 'ever' in the LMP SLS question 'Do you yourself ever speak any language at home apart from English' on the basis that this would lead to exaggeration. It is perhaps useful to note that all questionnaire data can be criticised for the same reason. Although questionnaires are often regarded as providing reliable and objective data, those who analyse questionnaire responses do, on occasion, encounter information which seems quite clearly to be fictitious: some respondents choose not to take the exercise seriously. For example, researchers into linguistic

diversity on occasion encounter the handful of respondents who claim to speak invented languages such as 'Klingon' or 'Pokemonese', or those who regularly speak Latin with their families. Such obvious fabrications are easily spotted, of course. It is quite possible that other respondents invent more plausible data which are accepted by the researchers in good faith. Those who conduct questionnaire-based studies have to accept that a small number of respondents will provide inaccurate information – either as a result of a misunderstanding of what is sought, or because of deliberate attempts to mislead or trick the researchers – and to hope that such respondents make up an insignificant proportion of the whole group. There is no reason to believe that young respondents are inherently more likely than adults either to misunderstand questions or deliberately to set out to mislead researchers.

Questionnaire design

The overall design of a questionnaire and the wording of individual questions are likely to have a major impact on the nature of the responses. Some formats are believed to lead to under-representation. For example, MacKinnon (1988) reports that the original question relating to Gaelic in the 1881 census asked whether respondents 'habitually' spoke Gaelic. The scope for subjective interpretation of this question was recognised and for the 1891 Census, it was changed to asking whether respondents were able to speak Gaelic (only, or in addition to English). This change in the question produced a 10% rise in respondents identifying themselves as Gaelic speakers in 1891 compared with 1881, even although the language was in fact in decline. Baker and Eversley report that making clear that questions about students' linguistic repertoires refer to languages spoken *outside school* is important, as in school language surveys, some students may believe that questionnaires are concerned only with languages learned in school.

Over-representation is also potentially problematic. Crawford (2000), investigating the unexpected finding from the US Census that more people reported speaking Spanish at home than reported being of Hispanic descent, hypothesises that some people have learned Spanish in order to be able to talk to domestic staff. This raises the intriguing, but rarely discussed issue of whether people who were originally monolingual English speakers but who have learned to speak other languages for particular purposes should be regarded as plurilingual or not. (LMP report considering, but eventually excluding from ALUS a respondent who had learned Panjabi from his neighbours, and an Englishman fluent in Cantonese as a result of many years spent in Hong Kong.) As a way of avoiding this kind of ambiguity, Crawford recommends the format adopted by the Canadian Census, where respondents, reporting the linguistic knowledge and competence of each member of the household, are asked:

Can this person speak English or French well enough to carry on a conversation? What language(s) **other than English or French**, can this person speak well enough to carry on a conversation? What language does this person speak **most often** at home? What is the language that this person first learned at home **in childhood** and **still understands**?

(Canadian Census 1996, quoted in Crawford 2000: 3; emphases in Census form)

Another requirement for language surveys which the experience of earlier surveys in England has established is the need to cater for more than one language in addition to English, and to avoid any suggestion of a language hierarchy by describing other languages as 'first' languages, 'mother tongues', 'native' languages, etc. Furthermore, it is important to recognise that the languages people speak may be dialects or non-standard varieties of English or another language, and to encourage accurate and detailed reporting in this respect. The ILEA surveys in particular were criticised for not recognising 'dialects of English' and therefore for obscuring the extent to which London school children might be fluent in Creoles. Reporting the use of Scots presents some similar difficulties, given that people are confused about the extent to which Scots differs from English and do not necessarily accord high status to the Scots element in their repertoire. (See Chapter 3 for further discussion of this issue.)

A particular problem with language censuses which focus only on language issues (i.e. not national Censuses) is that monolingual respondents will have little to contribute. The LMP SPS addressed this by including a section for those who said they spoke only English, which both allowed them to identify monolingual children with one or more plurilingual parents, and to gauge monolingual students' awareness of their multilingual surroundings. An advantage of this approach is that some students who initially define themselves as knowing English only may later realise that they have at least a passive knowledge of other languages. It also provides scope for comparisons between monolingual and plurilingual perspectives

2.4 Conclusions

This chapter has provided an account of earlier language surveys conducted in England, and drawn attention to the technical issues which future surveys need to address. In summary, this review indicates that a school-based language survey should:

- be aware of the ideological context in which such surveys inevitably take place;
- take account of the logistical demands a survey is likely to make on schools, and attempt to minimise these;
- be clear about its focus (e.g. avoiding confusion as to whether the survey is really about plurilingualism or in fact about competence in English);
- recognise the complexity of the linguistic context (e.g. plurilingualism, not just bilingualism, use of dialects and non-standard varieties, avoidance of language hierarchies; existence of diglossia);
- collect data directly from students rather than via teacher mediators;
- consider producing survey forms in a number of languages, or at least address the question of how those who are do not possess sufficiently high literacy skills in English will provide information;
- provide scope for those who speak only English to report on their linguistic experience and views.

Each of these criteria will be reviewed in the account, in Chapter 4, of the design of the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey. Before this, Chapter 3 summarises what is known about the 'other' languages of Scotland, from Census data and other research.

3. The 'Other' Languages of Scotland

3.1 Introduction

The 'other' languages of Scotland are not necessarily easy to define. While Gaelic is well-established as a 'national' language, Scots has a more precarious position. Disagreements among linguists and policy-makers as to whether Scots is a language or a dialect, or a collection of dialects, reflect uneasy perceptions among the general population that Scots is inferior to standard English and therefore not worth consideration. Collection of data about the use of Gaelic has established that the language is in steep decline, but the difficulty of determining the status of Scots has prevented the collection of similar information. For this reason, policy to support the use of Gaelic, and thus to halt the decline, is further developed than policy to support the use of Scots.

Languages other than Gaelic or Scots have received very little attention in Scotland to date. There are no accurate national data on the number of languages spoken or on the numbers of people who speak them. Nor are there Scottish-based sociolinguistic studies of language use in relation to any of these languages, and consequently we can say very little about the language experiences, needs or aspirations of those who speak these languages.

This chapter sets out what is known or can be inferred about the other languages of Scotland, focusing firstly on Census data and other statistics, and then on the literature relating to Gaelic and Scots, and to three other languages likely to be in wide use in Scotland: Panjabi, Urdu and Chinese.

3.2 Census data

Researchers and policy-makers seeking statistics relating to the 'other' languages of Scotland rely principally on data from the UK Census, conducted every ten years. However, these provide only a very approximate idea of respondents' ethnic affiliations and very little information about the languages they know or use. The Scottish version of the Census collects data on speakers of Gaelic, but nothing on any other languages. A proposal to collect data on Scots in the 2001 Census was rejected. (See Scottish Parliament 2000b for the reasons for this decision.) Data on the ethnic origins of respondents were collected for the first time in 1991.

The 1991 Census for Scotland indicates that there were approximately 66000 speakers of Gaelic at that time (1.3% of the Scottish population). As a large proportion of these were in the older age groups, it is likely that the number has fallen over the last decade. The ethnic minority statistics show that around 63000 people who identified themselves as belonging to an ethnic minority group (1.25% of the Scottish population). Those of Pakistani origin made up the largest ethnic minority group, around a third of the total, as is shown in Table 3a.

Census ethnic minority categories	N
Black	6400
Black Caribbean	900
Black African	2800
Black Other	2600
South Asian	32400
Indian	10100
Pakistani	21200
Bangladeshi	1100
Chinese and others	23900
Chinese	10500
Other Asian	4600
Other Other	8800
TOTAL	62600

Table 3a: Ethnic minority groups in Scotland

Source: 1991 Census of Population Local Base Statistics

These data suggest that there may be around 21000 speakers of Panjabi and Urdu, the main languages of Pakistani communities in the UK, and around 10000 speakers of Chinese. However, these figures can only be estimates: people who define themselves as ethnically Pakistani or Chinese may speak other languages in place of, or in addition to those principally associated with these communities in the UK, or they may speak only English.

Furthermore, there are reasons to believe that the Census figures under-represent the number of people from minority ethnic groups in Scotland, partly, of course, because some 'White' people also belong to minority ethnic groups (Irish, Italians, travellers, Eastern European refugees, etc.); and partly because the pre-determined categories on the Census form do not necessarily conform to people's perceptions of their ethnic origins or affiliations. For example, as Audrey (2000) has demonstrated in her study of the 'Pakistani' community in Govanhill, many of the immigrant generation (now elderly), were born in parts of the Panjab which, following Partition, have become part of India. Had they remained there, as Muslims, they would probably have left the area for Pakistan (as did others from the same areas who have remained in the sub-continent or who came to Scotland at a later date). Use of an identity label such as 'Pakistani' ignores the complexities of geography and religion. In fact, when asked to select one identity label, most of her respondents preferred to describe themselves as 'Muslim' (pp. 225-230).

3.3 Educational records

No national records of the languages school children speak are collected. It might be feasible to do this via the School Census, a form which is sent annually to headteachers by the Scottish Executive Education Department (SEED), requesting information about pupils enrolled in all Scottish schools. These forms gather information on children's ethnic background (using almost the same categories as the Census: the Schools Census,

however, includes the category 'mixed' and does not include 'other Asian'). It also asks headteachers to indicate the number of children who speak English as a second language (ESL), but does not include a question about the other languages children speak. However, the data on ethnic background and ESL are not published, as SEED's statistics department do not consider them to be reliable. This is principally because of the number of headteachers who either do not keep information on their students' ethnic origins or who refuse to pass this information on, leading to a substantial proportion of students being classified as 'ethnicity not known/ not divulged' (SEED Statistics Branch: personal communication). Reasons for not collecting the information appear to include the belief that collecting the data is, in some way, racist; or concern that the data will not be used appropriately (cf. the views of some of the school and authority staff participating in the LMP school surveys, described in Chapter 2).

Data from the 1999 Schools Census, obtained on request, indicate that 88% of the school population included in the returns⁹ are categorised as 'White', 2.5% as being of ethnic minority origin (i.e. double the proportion recorded for Scotland as a whole in the 1991 national Census) and just under 10% as 'unknown'. This picture is shown in Table 3b. The number of children recorded as being speakers of ESL (2484) is just over three quarters (78%) of the total number of children recorded as being of ethnic minority background (3195). However, as some ESL speakers are undoubtedly 'White', the relationship between the two data sets is not clear.

⁹ The data on ethnicity and ESL are collected for Primary 1 and Secondary 2 only, each year.

Schools Census ethnic minority categories	N	%
White	108804	87.6
Black	166	0.1
Black Caribbean	16	
Black African	83	
Black Other	67	
South Asian	1733	1.4
Indian	381	
Pakistani	1284	
Bangladeshi	68	
Chinese and others	1296	1.0
Chinese	400	
Mixed	305	
Other	591	
Not known/ not divulged	12 272	9.9
TOTAL	124271	100

Table 3b: Scottish P1¹⁰ and S2¹¹ students by ethnic background

Source: SEED Statistics Branch (Schools Census 1999)

Some Scottish local authorities also keep records of school children's ethnic origins and/or of the languages they speak, but these records are not collected consistently from one authority to another and the accuracy of the information they contain may not be easy to establish. As mentioned in Chapter 2, Baker and Eversley (2000) noted major inconsistencies in the collection of such data, even in a city such as London, where a high proportion of the population is plurilingual, and where such information has, potentially, considerable importance in the development of social policy.

In Scotland, the principal sources of information within local authorities on the languages children speak are the English as an Additional Language (EAL) services who collect the data for two purposes: to record the linguistic diversity of the school population in their area, and as part of their work in identifying children who require EAL support. The ways in which authorities collect these data differ. The City of Edinburgh EAL service collects two sets of data: one, conducted annually, covers all the children who receive EAL support; the second, conducted for specific purposes (most recently for the Council's Best Value review in 2000), collates information collected by schools on the languages spoken by all school students This 1999-2000 data set shows that there were 2922 plurilingual Edinburgh school students (5.4% of the school population), speaking a

¹⁰ P1 stands for 'Primary 1', the first year of primary education in Scotland. P1 students are 5-6 years old.

¹¹ S2 stands for 'Secondary 2', the second year of secondary education in Scotland. S2 students are 13-14 years old.

total of 69 languages. The numbers speaking each language are not recorded (Edinburgh EAL Service 2000). The data relating to plurilingual students who receive EAL support for the session 2001-2 record 67 languages spoken by 1698 students (Edinburgh EAL Service 2002). Table 3c shows the top ten languages among the EAL students.

	Ν		Ν
1. Panjabi (U)	572	2. Panjabi (G)	182
3. Cantonese/ Hakka	154	4. Arabic	148
5. Bengali	134	6. Mandarin	48
7. Italian	38	8. Korean	33
9. Spanish	28	10. French	27

Table 3c: Ten languages most widely spokenby Edinburgh school children receiving EAL support

Source: Edinburgh EAL Service 2002

A comparison between the data relating to all plurilingual students and those relating to plurilingual students receiving EAL support in the session 1999-2000 suggests that this latter group constitutes a little over half (53%) of the plurilingual school population (Edinburgh EAL Service 2000).

Supplementing these data from the EAL Service are figures from the City of Edinburgh Council on the numbers of students attending community language classes supported by the Council in 2001. These show that there were 323 students, aged between 4 and 20, attending classes, around a third of whom were students of Chinese (Cantonese). The picture is set out in Table 3d. Note that there may be other classes organised by language communities who have not sought or obtained Council support. In particular, regulations prevent the Council from supporting supplementary educational activity which has as its main purpose religious instruction: some language classes (e.g. Qu'ranic Arabic classes) may fall into this category.
Language	N
Chinese (Cantonese)	111
Urdu	73
Bengali	44
Arabic	34
Farsi	25
Chinese (Mandarin)	18
Panjabi (G)	18
TOTAL	323

Table 3d: Languages studied in out-of-school classesby Edinburgh school children in Session 2000-2001

Source: City of Edinburgh Council

If we compare the number of students attending out-of-school classes in session 2000-1 (323) with the total number of plurilingual students in Edinburgh schools in Session 1999-2000 (2922), this would suggest that around 10% of plurilingual students attend out-of-school classes. This is not an exact figure, as the comparison is between two different academic sessions, and, as noted above, there may be other out-of-school classes which do not receive Council support. Reasons for not attending out-of-school classes are likely to vary, but it is important to bear in mind that there appears to be provision only for seven out of the 69 languages spoken.

Edinburgh therefore has quite detailed information about the range of languages spoken by schoolchildren, though not about the numbers who speak each language. Not all authorities keep such comprehensive records. However, figures alone tell us nothing about plurilingual students' experiences of learning and using languages other than English. The next section reviews what is know from earlier research into speakers of five of the main 'other' languages of Scotland: Gaelic, Scots, Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi.

3.4 Other language communities in Scotland

This section reviews what is already known about Scottish speakers of Gaelic, Scots, Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi, and identifies some of some of the key issues which language surveys in Scotland might address. In the cases of Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi, it has been necessary to hypothesise, on the basis of studies conducted in England, some of the issues likely to be of significance in Scotland, given the dearth of specifically Scottish studies.

Gaelic

Scottish Gaelic, a close relative of Irish Gaelic, can be traced back to the 4th century AD, when it began to spread across Scotland from Ireland, via Irish missionaries. However, despite its status as the oldest living language in Scotland, Gaelic has experienced a very long history of decline. (See MacKinnon, 1991, for a short history of the language.)

From 1881 onwards, a Gaelic question has been included in the Scottish version of the Census. These data have provided powerful evidence of the decline in Gaelic usage over the last century – from 254 000 people in 1891 to 66 000 in 1991, or, as a proportion of

the Scottish population, from 6.8% to 1.3%. The decline has been particularly acute in areas regarded as 'Gaelic heartlands' or *Gàidhealtachd* (Rogerson and Gloyer 1995: 47), partly because of attrition and partly because many Gaelic speakers have moved – largely for economic reasons – from the *Gàidhealtachd* to areas of Scotland which are not traditionally regarded as Gaelic speaking. According to the 1991 Census, around 40% of the Gaelic speaking population now lives outside the *Gàidhealtachd*, with approximately 10% to be found in Glasgow, and 5% in Edinburgh. The 1991 data also indicate the likelihood of further decline in the numbers speaking Gaelic when the results of the 2001 Census are known: a third of Gaelic speakers in 1991 were over 60 years old, while only 10% were aged between 3 and 16; in the Western Isles, where Gaelic is strongest, only 20% of the youngest section of the population were recorded as Gaelic speakers (Rogerson and Gloyer 1995: 49).

In part as a result of the very detailed information available from Census returns about patterns of Gaelic use, considerable pressure has been put on national and local government in recent years to take measures to promote Gaelic. These have centred on two types of intervention: support for the use of Gaelic in broadcast media, and provision of Gaelic medium education, particularly at pre-school and primary levels. A detailed account of these interventions and an assessment of their likely success in combating the decline can be found in Johnstone, 1994. In the discussion which follows here, the focus is on Gaelic medium education and its implications for the maintenance or creation of Gaelic-speaking communities.

Although a limited amount of Gaelic-medium education was available in some Gaelic speaking areas of Scotland from the 1950s, (MacKinnon 1988), a nationwide initiative to halt the decline of the language led to the introduction of Gaelic medium units (GMUs) in various parts of Scotland, from 1985 onwards. These are Gaelic-medium streams operating within English-medium schools. Most recent figures indicate that there are 59 GMUs in primary schools in Scotland, catering for around 1800 students, and 13 units in secondary schools, catering for around 230 students (Scottish Executive 2000b). It is estimated that approximately half the students in these classes are 'mother-tongue' speakers of Gaelic (Johnstone et al. 1999). The others are English-speaking children whose parents wish them to learn Gaelic through what is, effectively, an 'immersion' programme. Each year, around 100 students sit Standard Grade examinations in Gàidhlig (i.e. Gaelic for native speakers of the language) and around 50 sit a Higher in the same subject (Scottish Executive 2000). The number of Gaelic-speaking children not attending Gaelic-medium units is not known, but it is evident from the study conducted by Johnstone et al. (1999) that a substantial number of Gaelic-speaking parents opt for English-medium education for their children, even when Gaelic-medium provision is available in the same school.

There appear to have been few studies to date addressing the long-term impact of Gaelicmedium education on the maintenance of Gaelic. In particularly, there is a need for follow-up studies of children who attended GMUs when at primary school to discover whether they have been able to maintain the language subsequently, or whether (in the case of children one or both of whose parents are Gaelic speakers) it has increased the likelihood of their using Gaelic in a wider range of contexts. As Gaelic-medium provision at secondary school is very limited, the issue of Gaelic maintenance into adulthood remains a challenge.

Broadly speaking, two types of Gaelic-speaking community in Scotland could currently be said to exist. Firstly, there are those of the *Gàidhealtachd*, where Gaelic may be used in a variety of community settings: the home, the school, the pub, the church, in shops, and, in some circumstances, at work. These areas are not wholly Gaelic-speaking, as noted earlier: even in the Western Isles, around 30% of the population does not speak Gaelic (Rogerson and Gloyer 1995). But the chances that children growing up in the *Gàidhealtachd* will hear Gaelic spoken around them are considerably greater than is the case elsewhere in Scotland.

The second type of community is to be found in areas where most of the population are not Gaelic speakers. This includes lowland Scotland and other parts of Scotland, such as Highland Region and Argyll & Bute, traditionally Gaelic speaking areas but where the language is now in steep decline. In these areas, Gaelic is likely to be confined largely to home use: it would be rare for people to hear Gaelic spoken in their immediate environment, other than in schools with GMUs. To speak of a 'Gaelic-speaking community' in this context is somewhat misleading. However, although the notion of a geographically defined community is inappropriate, one of the informants in Stradling and MacNeil's study (2000) of the role of Gaelic in the home and in the community in enhancing the Gaelic of children educated in GMUs, points out that the existence of GMUs helps to create or maintain a community scattered over quite a wide area, but one which meets on a regular basis:

Think of our community as being the community of the Gaelic medium unit that the children go to. It is not a physical, geographical community. But the parents with children in the unit are very active in organising fund-raising activities, outings and Gaelic events. Comunn nan Parant is very active so we actually have quite a lot of get-togethers. (Stradling and MacNeil 2000: 19)

Other Gaelic-related activities (particularly for those whose work involves using and promoting Gaelic) perform similar functions for Gaelic speakers outwith the *Gàidhealtachd*.

There appear to be no detailed descriptions of these Gaelic-speaking networks outwith the *Gàidhealtachd*, although they are the group with which this study is primarily concerned, as Gaelic-speakers in Edinburgh will clearly fall into this category. From the accounts of anonymised groups which contributed to several of the studies conducted by MacNeil and others (MacNeil 1993; Johnstone et al. 1999; Stradling and MacNeil 2000) we can infer that communities outwith the *Gàidhealtachd* which are linked to GMUs consist both of Gaelic-speaking parents who wish their children to be educated in the language in order to preserve the tradition, and English-speaking parents who wish their children to the maintenance of Gaelic as a symbol of Scottish identity, or because they are, more generally, aware of the advantages of bilingual education. Some of these English-speaking parents are likely to be learners of Gaelic, and therefore at various stages of linguistic competence. There are a number of families in which one parent is a Gaelic-speaker and the other is not (and may or may not be learning Gaelic). In these families, the children may be brought up bilingually, or they may be brought up speaking mainly English: the latter case is particularly likely if the English-speaking parent is not learning Gaelic and therefore cannot understand interactions in Gaelic. However, there are some accounts of English-speaking Gaelic learners with such a strong commitment to the language that they have brought their children up as monolingual Gaelic speakers (Macdonald 1999: 113). In addition to those who choose to send their children to a GMU and thus become part of the GMU community, there are other Gaelic speaking parents who either choose not to send their children to the GMU or who are unable to do so because there is none in the vicinity. These parents may – or may not – choose to bring their children up bilingually.

In the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey, we can therefore expect to find Gaelic-speaking children whose primary education took place in the one GMU school in Edinburgh, and perhaps a few children who have been brought up bilingual (to some degree) in Gaelic, although they have had little or no formal education in the language. The extent to which any of these Gaelic-speaking children use Gaelic now is likely to be limited, because, now that they are in secondary school, those who attended the GMU will not have the same opportunities to use the language on a daily basis. In any case, they are likely not to be at the same school as the others in their primary class, as children attending the GMU in Edinburgh come from all over the city, but tend to go to the secondary schools for their local area. Those who did not attend the GMU will perhaps use Gaelic in the home or with relatives, but their Gaelic networks may not be particularly dense.

Scots

Confusion over whether Scots is a language, a dialect, or a number of languages/ dialects makes it difficult to establish the number of speakers of Scots, levels of competence, or patterns of use. As Dósa (1999) has indicated in his review of the arguments for and against Scots as a language, the answer is not likely to be found in the careful analysis of linguists' definitions of 'language', 'dialect' and 'accent' but through the outcomes of language policy in Scotland (which would aim to codify modern Scots and to teach the resulting standard in schools, among other things). This perspective is not, however, widely understood by the general population in Scotland: a number of surveys have found that people are unsure, if asked, whether they speak Scots or not. This in part reflects the absence of a widely accepted definition of Scots, and in part, widely held negative attitudes towards the use of Scots, (see, for example, Aitken, 1982 and Menzies, 1989). This rejection of Scots, particularly among the middle-classes and those who aspire to middle-class status, is of long standing: in the 18th century, affluent inhabitants of Edinburgh employed Irish elocution teacher, Thomas Sheridan (father of the playwright), to teach them standard English pronunciation (McCrum et al. 1992); while very recently, a national newspaper noted that middle-class Scottish parents were taking their children to speech therapists to eliminate what were described as 'Rab C. Nesbitt' accents (Paterson 2002). Scottish people who take part in surveys on Scots may therefore not wish investigators to know that they can speak or understand it, even when this is the case.

The difficulty of establishing who speaks Scots and in what circumstances is illustrated by Macafee's account (2000) of the campaign to include a question on the Scots language in the 2001 Census. This involved the development of three versions of a pilot Census question which were tested out in the context of three different market research surveys. In addition, a test of proficiency in Scots, and an analysis of the language used by groups of informants in discussions, were conducted. The results of these initiatives were contradictory. The three versions of the pilot question produced markedly different results: two indicated that about a third of the population regarded themselves as able to speak Scots, while the third that only 17% did so. These results conflicted with those of a pre-campaign survey (reported in Murdoch, 1995) which suggested that between half and two thirds of the population had at least some degree of competence in Scots. The test results did not correlate with respondents' own assessment of their abilities. The linguistic analysis was controversial, both in terms of the ways in which participants' linguistic competence was classified, and in that it attempted to draw definitive conclusions from one set of interviews, in circumstances which may not have been particularly typical of those where Scots tends to be used. Macafee concluded – as did the General Register Office, responsible for determining the questions to be included in the Scottish version of the 2001 Census - that findings in response to census-style questions such as 'Can you speak Scots or a dialect of Scots?' could not be regarded as reliable.

These very major difficulties which previous researchers have encountered in conducting surveys of Scots use raise a number of problems for the current survey. Firstly, there is a methodological problem. Previous surveys have asked a specific question about Scots, and yet cannot, for the reasons indicated above, regard the responses as accurate. The Languages of Edinburgh survey could not include language specific questions, given that the goal was information on all the languages spoken. This raised the issue of whether Scots speakers, asked whether they speak another language apart from English, outside school, are likely to identify Scots as another language, and also whether they will wish to record their knowledge of Scots at all, whether or not they consider it to be a language. A second problem relates to how to interpret data from those who say they do speak Scots (and, by default, those who do not provide any information about their ability to speak Scots). The previous research indicates that what respondents mean by *Scots* in a survey situation differs from respondent to respondent, Furthermore, there is very little research on schoolchildren's perspectives on Scots: Menzies (1989) investigating attitudes towards Scots among Glaswegian secondary school students, and Iacuaniello, (1993) on attitudes among 18-27 years olds, asked to reflect on their school experiences in relation to Scots, are exceptions; and both studies indicate negative experiences and attitudes. Therefore the data collected on Scots in the Languages of Edinburgh survey have to be interpreted with great caution.

Chinese

Although the Chinese make up the fourth largest minority ethnic group in the UK, and the second largest in Scotland (1991 Census), there have been far fewer studies focusing on the experiences of the Chinese in the UK than there have of the other main minority ethnic groups (Wong 1992). It is known that most of the Chinese now living in the UK emigrated from Hong Kong, from the 1950s onwards. Emigration was prompted in the first instance by the collapse of agriculture in the rural 'New Territories', an area in which Hakka was the principal language spoken, although Cantonese is the language of education in Hong Kong (Wong 1991). Illiteracy rates among the first generation of immigrants were relatively high, estimated to be around 13% (Tsow 1984). Virtually all first generation immigrants were employed in the catering trade. Because of the demand for Chinese food across the UK, there has been a tendency for Chinese families, running the local restaurant or take-away to be relatively isolated, with identifiable Chinese communities only in the largest UK cities, such as London, Liverpool and Glasgow. The nature of Chinese catering meant that acquisition of English was not particularly swift, as cooks needed no English at all, and serving staff only a minimal grasp of the language. In 1985, it was estimated that over two thirds of the first generation of immigrants did not speak English (Home Affairs Committee 1985). The history of the Chinese in Scotland seems not to differ significantly from that of the rest of the UK (Chan 1982; Barr 1983).

The few studies which include a focus on language use among Chinese communities in the UK show that Cantonese is the main language spoken in Chinese homes, although other Chinese languages (largely Hakka) are also in use, along with English. The extent to which children speak Chinese at home declines, and the amount of English they speak increases, the longer they have spent in the UK (Tsow 1984). Wong's more recent research (1992) indicates that virtually all Chinese children in the London school she studied could speak to their parents and grandparents in Chinese, but that when speaking to siblings and peers, over half used English, or a mixture of English and Chinese. The most detailed study conducted has been that of Li Wei (1994) who investigated language choice and language shift among three generations of Chinese speakers living in Tyneside. In this study, as in Tsow's, it is clear that Chinese children use English with a greater number of interlocutors than do their parents or grandparents, but also that they can speak Chinese to older members of the community, particularly those who speak little or no English. However, the data also demonstrate that children's Chinese language skills are markedly less developed than those of their parents. In spoken Chinese, most school aged participants in the study could 'partake in casual conversation (usually about domestic topics, among friends)' but few could go beyond this to understanding radio or TV programmes, films or formal speeches, or to 'communicate effectively and with general ease in a range of social contexts'. In written Chinese, with one exception, none of the school-aged participants could go beyond reading simple signs and notices.

Panjabi and Urdu

Panjabi and Urdu are discussed together because of the complex relationship between the two languages. The LMP authors note that

In all of the areas in which LMP worked, the interpretation of data relating to bilingual families who have their origin in the Panjab has been the most complex sociolinguistic issue we have had to face. (LMP 1985: 45)

To understand the data reported in this study, some background knowledge of the linguistic context of the Panjab is required. Before Partition, the Panjab was one province in which Panjabi was the principal language spoken. After Partition, the province was divided between India and Pakistan. In the Indian state of Panjab, with a majority Sikh population, Panjabi, written in the Gurmukhi script developed for the Sikh scriptures, is the official language is Urdu, written in a script based on the Persian-Arabic form. Thus in Pakistan, Panjabi is rarely used for written communication (although it is possible to write Panjabi using the Urdu script) or for broadcasting. Pakistanis from the Panjab speak both languages, using Panjabi largely in informal contexts and Urdu for formal situations (see Miller, 1983, for an individual's account of the complexities of choosing whether to speak Panjabi or Urdu), but read and write in Urdu (and are also able to read the Arabic of the Qu'ran).

Urdu, Panjabi and Hindi in their spoken forms are, to some extent, mutually intelligible: linguists have tended to regard the three languages as forming a continuum. However, there are heated arguments about the relationship between Hindi and Urdu, in particular, with a strong case for the autonomy of each from the other being contested by those who hold that they are, in fact, the same language (with minor lexical differences) divided by two scripts. (See Khan, 1991, for a summary of this debate.) The consequences of this complex linguistic context for those conducting language surveys in the UK are that those who describe themselves as speaking Panjabi, and, depending on their opportunities to become literate, as reading and writing the same language are likely to be Sikhs. This type of Panjabi is referred to as Panjabi (G) in this report. People of Pakistani origin may describe themselves as using Panjabi and Urdu or they may choose to mention only Urdu, as the prestige language of Pakistan.¹² This Panjabi-Urdu diglossia is referred to in this report as Panjabi (U).

For the UK as a whole, the primary phase of immigration from India and Pakistan occurred in the period 1955 to 1970, when men from northern India, Pakistan and what is now Bangladesh were encouraged to come to the UK as unskilled manual labourers. These workers were, in time, joined by their wives and families. Between 1968 and 1973, this population was supplemented by people, largely of Indian origin – including a substantial number of Sikh and Muslim Panjabi speakers - forced to leave Kenya and Uganda.

Maan's account (1992) of Indian and Pakistani communities in Scotland indicates some differences from the pattern of immigration in England. It suggests that the majority of immigrants were Muslims, and therefore likely to be Panjabi (U) speakers. In the late 19th and early 20th centuries, a small group of (Muslim) Panjabi¹³ seamen employed by Glasgow-based shipping companies came to live in Scotland, either for short periods of time, or, in some cases, permanently. They made their living as pedlars travelling around Scotland, establishing the basis for family businesses in wholesale and retail. During the period of large-scale immigration from India and Pakistan, after the second world war, many of those who came to Scotland were from the same areas as the earlier settlers, because of their existing connections. Those not employed in the wholesale and retail businesses of their relatives or friends found work in a variety of sectors, most notably, in transport. Maan comments that over 50% of Glasgow bus-drivers and conductors were of Indian or Pakistani origin in the 1960s (p162). Only in Dundee, where the jute mills employed a small Pakistani work force, estimated at around 500 - 600 people in the early 1970s (Jones and Davenport, 1972), has there been a community based around employment in textile factories. This contrasts in particular with Pakistani communities in the north of England, where textile factories were the principal employers. The nature of the work, and the fact that many factories were predominantly or entirely staffed by Pakistani workers has had implications for the retention of Panjabi (U) and for educational opportunities for these communities, unlikely to be replicated in Scotland.

Therefore, although there have been a small number of survey-based studies of Panjabi (U)-speaking communities in England, and also, more recently, an interest in patterns of language use among such communities, extrapolation from these studies to Panjabi (U)-speakers in Scotland is dangerous. Both major survey-based studies – the LMP ALUS accounts of Panjabi (U)-speakers in Coventry and Bradford, and a study conducted by Khan (1991) in the London borough of Newham – take as a key focus the possibility of language shift, from Panjabi (U) to English, in these communities. Khan's study compares patterns of language use of 'first generation' (i.e. those aged 31 to 50) and

¹² In other parts of Pakistan, other languages, such as Sindhi, Kachchi and Pashto are spoken, but relatively small numbers of people speaking these languages have come to the UK. There is also a small population, based in Karachi, for whom Urdu is the main language of speech as well as of literacy. But again, few families who, by tradition, speak only Urdu, are thought to have come to the UK.

¹³ These seamen came from an area of the Panjab which is now in India, but as they were Muslims, they and their descendants may define themselves as being of Pakistani origin, particularly as later immigrants, often related to the earliest group, moved to Pakistan at the time of Partition, before coming to Scotland.

'second generation' (i.e. those aged 16 to 30) respondents, in different domains, for example with siblings, or with Panjabi (U)-speakers to whom the respondents were not related. The hypothesis, borne out by the study, is that the second generation are more likely than the first to use English.

The LMP study allows for comparisons to be made between Panjabi (U)-speaking communities in two different cities: Coventry and Bradford. Thus it becomes clear that certain historical and environmental factors influence patterns of language use. For example, the Bradford Panjabi (U)-speaking population made up a larger proportion of the total population of Bradford (3.3% of the population) compared with Coventry (0.6% of the population) and reached very high levels of concentration in certain parts of the city. In both cities, the LMP researchers found evidence of clustering of the Panjabi (U)speaking populations in certain areas of the two cities. Clustering has benefits for the language community: resources such as Mosques, Asian shops, and out of school classes to promote literacy in Urdu or Qu'ranic Arabic can be located in areas convenient to those who wish to use them. People who live in such areas will also have more opportunity to speak Panjabi (U) on a daily basis, as encounters outside the home with other speakers of the language will be more frequent than for those who live in predominantly English-speaking areas. However, the numerically greater population in Bradford, and the fact that Panjabi (U)-speakers were more likely to work in places where most of the other workers spoke the same languages (in contrast to Coventry, where factories tended to employ workers from a variety of language minority backgrounds) suggested that opportunities to use Panjabi (U) particularly outside the home, could be greater in Bradford than in Coventry.

Such factors seem likely to underlie some of the main findings relating to Panjabi (U) in Coventry and Bradford. Coventry respondents were more likely to speak English well and to be literate in English They were much more likely to use English in the work place, and their children were more likely to speak mainly English.

A more recent study of Panjabi (U) speakers in Sheffield, (Reynolds 2001) used a different approach to investigate the possibility of language loss across generations, combining a social network analysis of language use, with a study of code-switching behaviour. The social network analysis, which, ten years after Khan's study, was able to focus on three generations rather than two, showed clearly that older respondents were more likely to use Panjabi (U); and also that, respondents of any age were most likely to use Panjabi (U) with people of the 'grandparent generation' and least likely to use the language with friends. However, all but one of the respondents used Panjabi (U) in at least one context, therefore suggesting that language loss may be more gradual than had been hypothesised by Khan. This finding raises the question of whether Khan's 'second generation', contemporaries of Reynolds' 'parent generation' might have begun to use Panjabi (U) more as they became adults.¹⁴ Factors which might change patterns of

¹⁴ Li Wei, in his study of language choice among Chinese communities, mentioned above, notes the danger of assuming that data which appears to indicate that age is a major factor in language choice is demonstrating generational shift, and not lifestyle choices, suggesting that it is possible that as adults,

language use in adulthood could include marriage to Pakistani-born spouses (common in Pakistani communities) and a desire for one's children to grow up speaking Panjabi (and also literate in Urdu).

3.5 Conclusions

This review of what is known about the other languages of Scotland has established that national data on languages in use in Scotland are, with the exception of Gaelic, lacking. The most relevant data from the national Census relate to ethnicity rather than to languages; while collection of data in educational contexts has tended to focus on identifying students likely to need English as an additional language support rather than the potential demand for provision for languages other than English.

There have also been few studies of the use of languages other than English in Scotland, again with the exception of Gaelic. However, even in this case, very little research has been conducted into the maintenance of Gaelic outwith the *Gàidhealtachd*. Generally speaking, much of the research into the use of languages other than English in the UK as a whole has focused on attrition, often in order to support arguments that enhanced provision to support the maintenance of Gaelic, asking how it is that other languages have managed to survive as long as they have might be a more effective way of identifying appropriate maintenance strategies. In addition, if Scotland is to capitalise on the potential resource which speakers of languages other than English represent, we need to know much more about these speakers' attitudes to these languages and in particular the intentions of young plurilinguals have towards using their other languages, with their families (including, eventually, their own children), for cultural purposes, in the course of their careers, etc. than is currently the case.

children from minority language communities may come to use the community language more than they do as children (1994: 115). A similar point is made in LMP (1985:365-6).

4. Designing the *Languages of Edinburgh* Survey

4.1 Introduction

The review of the literature on language surveys reported in Chapter 2 established that a school-based language survey should:

- be aware of the ideological context in which such surveys inevitably take place;
- take account of the logistical demands a survey is likely to make on schools, and attempt to minimise these;
- be clear about its focus (e.g. avoiding confusion as to whether the survey is really about plurilingualism or in fact about competence in English);
- recognise the complexity of the linguistic context (e.g. plurilingualism, not just bilingualism, use of dialects and non-standard varieties, avoidance of language hierarchies; existence of diglossia);
- collect data directly from students rather than via teacher mediators;
- consider producing survey forms in a number of languages, or at least address the question of how those who do not possess sufficiently high literacy skills in English will provide information;
- provide scope for those who speak only English to report on their linguistic experience and views.

This chapter describes how the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey was designed, taking into account these key criteria.

4.2 Ideological context

Nicholas (1994) has drawn attention to the fact that all language surveys (as is the case with all surveys of social phenomena) take place in an 'ideological arena'. For language surveys conducted in the UK, he describes this as largely a hostile arena, given the level of institutional racism which characterises much of British society. In addition, much UK thinking about language typifies what Phillipson (1992) has termed 'linguistic imperialism': a belief that some languages are superior to others, and, in this case, that English is the only language needed in the modern world. According to this belief, not only do monolingual English speakers not need to learn other languages, but speakers of other languages should learn English and – in its most extreme form, most recently articulated by the British Home Secretary, David Blunkett (Blunkett, 2002) – cease to speak their other languages. Is Scotland different from the rest of the UK in this respect? Arshad (2001) notes that Scotland has a long tradition of tolerance and a strong belief in meritocracy, but provides ample evidence that much of this tradition is rhetorical rather than real. A recent survey by the Scottish Executive found that 25% of the Scottish population held racist views (Scottish Executive, 2002c).

The implications of this context for the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey were that headteachers or the teachers involved in the administration might refuse to take part, perhaps because they felt that the data to be collected were irrelevant (on the basis that English is the only language which counts) or because they felt that collecting information which has some relation to children's ethnicity is, in itself, a racist activity.

In Chapter 3, it was noted that data which SEED aims to collect on school students' ethnic origins cannot be published because of a significant proportion of headteachers who fail to provide this information; and that LMP had encountered a similar reluctance among some staff when conducting the schools language survey. LMP argued that the basis of this refusal lies in racism, in that they encountered staff who felt that far too much was already being done to accommodate children of ethnic minority origin in schools, and that resources should instead be put into supporting 'our' children. Another interpretation, however, is that people are suspicious of the purposes of collecting such data. There may be good reasons for this: for example, the proposal to construct language maps of Edinburgh could put children and their families at risk of racist attacks if their location was too precisely plotted.

There can be no foolproof solution to the problems of non-participation which might ensue from the different responses or interpretations of the purposes of the survey. The principal strategies used in the Languages of Edinburgh survey were clarity, an emphasis on the potential benefits of the research, and inclusiveness. This involved making clear the purposes of the survey in all written information provided for the City of Edinburgh Council, headteachers, staff, students and parents and reiterating these in personal communication with schools (usually at headteacher level). The likely benefits were presented in terms of identifying the linguistic resource which Edinburgh possesses in all its young people, whether already plurilingual or becoming so. Such benefits are not overtly at least – controversial, although this might not prevent some from identifying 'race' issues in the exercise and its outcomes. The fact that all S1 students were involved, rather than those pre-identified as plurilingual, made clear the inclusive intention of the survey, and had a number of advantages in terms of the findings. Not only did it provide an opportunity to investigate all students' attitudes towards learning and using other languages, whether at school or out of school, but it also enabled students whose teachers were unaware that they were plurilingual to record their linguistic skills.

4.3 Logistical demands on schools

Demands on schools to take part in a wide range of research studies are increasing, partly as a result of the faster pace of change in education and partly because of the current emphasis on evidence-based on policy and practice. Education authority officials and headteachers recognise the need for research, but at the same time have to protect staff and students from excessive disruption. A school survey needs to avoid making substantial administrative demands on staff and to take up the minimum amount of students' time.

Baker and Eversley suggest that the Census form take no more than a lesson to complete (around 40 minutes). However, asking schools to identify a whole lesson in which the demands of the curriculum can be put aside for the sake of research activities could be interpreted as excessive by some teachers, particularly when the census was an independent study, not a local authority initiative. Thus the form used in the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey was very short -4 pages in total, with 14 questions in all - and required students only to tick boxes or write short (usually one-word) answers. Piloting of the form indicated that it usually took a class teacher 15 minutes, from announcing the

survey and distributing the form to a class, to collecting the forms back in again, to complete the exercise. It could take longer if there were several children in the class who needed help to read the form, or if some students had a substantial amount of information to contribute. In addition, some teachers chose to spend longer on the exercise by reading through the materials provided to inform students about the purposes of the research and discussing these with their classes. In these cases, the exercise might take up a whole lesson.

At the piloting stage, some teachers indicated that they would have liked to use the survey as an opportunity to discuss multilingualism and students' experiences of learning languages, at primary school or out of school, and suggested that support materials were made available for this purpose. The idea of producing a video was considered, but had to be rejected because of time constraints. Should a national survey be conducted, this element could be included as an option which teachers could make use of if they wished. Making such materials available to accompany the survey would go some way to redressing the balance in a situation where researchers are seen to take from schools, giving little or nothing in return.

4.4 Focus

Discussion of earlier studies has made clear that surveys which have, or are perceived to have, multiple – and possibly conflicting – purposes may fail. In particular, surveys which include requests for information about the languages spoken by schoolchildren but which also focus on needs for English as an additional language support may end up underestimating the number of children who are plurilingual, because of an assumption among survey administrators that the survey is *really* about 'EAL students'. Thus it is important that a survey which aims to map multilingualism makes this intention clear and unambiguous.

The *Languages of Edinburgh* survey may not entirely meet this criterion of clarity. Although its aim is to map multilingualism in Edinburgh, at the same time it seeks to make links between children's experiences of learning languages at school and learning and using languages out of school. For those who have always seen these two aspects of children's language learning and use as unconnected, the survey may therefore appear to have two goals rather than one; and given that the student respondents are likely to have been educated in contexts where few links are made between these types of language learning and use, they may themselves find the focus of the survey confusing.

4.5 Linguistic complexity

Previous studies have drawn attention to the fact that many people who are plurilingual speak more than one other language apart from English, and therefore that surveys need to leave space for information relating to several languages. It is also important not to make assumptions about 'language hierarchies' – i.e. not to make reference to 'first' or 'second' languages, 'mother tongues', 'native languages'. etc. – and to recognise that people use their languages for different purposes: for example, having different languages for speech and literacy, using a particular language only in a religious context, and so on. For these reasons, the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey contained space for four other

languages, in addition to English, in each of the questions relating to language use outside school. This would allow, for example, for students to comment on two languages they had acquired outside school and two which they had studied at school, among other options. For the purposes of analysis, it was necessary to limit the number of languages on which students could report, and it is therefore possible that some students know more than four other languages.

Earlier studies have also indicated that some respondents are reluctant to report their use of other languages because of the perceived low status of certain languages, varieties or dialects. This is a difficult issue to deal with in a census, particularly in a context where a wide range of languages, varieties and dialects may be in use. A method which involved some discussion among respondents and survey administrators would enable these issues to be explored in more detail, particularly in contexts where a substantial number of informants have knowledge of the same stigmatised language, variety or dialect. For example Nicholas (1994), who describes the development of a language survey in a London further education college, was able to focus considerable attention on the use of Creoles in the college as a substantial proportion of the college students were Creole speakers: in fact, as a result of this focus, speakers of English-based Creoles emerged as the largest linguistic group. In the Edinburgh survey, it was not possible, however, to draw attention to all the languages, varieties and dialects which students might speak but might not think of including, because of the likely range.

It was decided to take an experimental approach to this issue. The key question in which students were asked to identify the languages they spoke outside school was:

Do you speak any languages apart from English when you are not at school?

Half of the census forms distributed used this form of the question, without any additional prompts. The other half included a list of possible answers to the question:

Do you speak any languages apart from English when you are not at school? (*e.g.* Scots, Panjabi, Italian, Cantonese, Creole, *etc.*)

These prompts were chosen to encourage students who might be unsure whether to include certain elements within their linguistic repertoire to do so. Scots was chosen because of the confusion as to whether Scots is or is not a 'language' and because negative attitudes towards Scots could mean that some would not consider this worth mentioning. Panjabi and Creole were included for similar reasons. Cantonese was included to encourage Chinese speakers to be specific about the particular Chinese language they spoke, and Italian to make clear that the survey was concerned with European languages as well as those from elsewhere. The list is not exhaustive: clearly there were likely to be other varieties which students were unsure whether or not to include, but it was hoped that providing a range of possibilities would encourage those whose particular languages, varieties or dialects were not represented to think of including these.

Subsequent analysis of responses to the two variations of the question (A – with no prompts, and B – with prompts) showed that the variations made no difference to most respondents: those who had variation A were as likely as those who had variation B to provide information about the languages (including potentially stigmatised varieties and dialects) they knew. Therefore it is not clear whether the prompts were no help in eliciting responses relating to potentially stigmatised varieties and dialects, or whether, in fact, respondents did not view the languages, varieties or dialects they mentioned as stigmatised¹⁵. There was one very significant exception to this rule, however: twice as many respondents receiving variation B described themselves as Scots speakers as those receiving variation A. This finding suggests that many Scots speakers either need to be reminded that they can speak Scots, or that they need reassurance to include Scots in a survey of this type.

4.6 Data collection

The Languages of Edinburgh survey set out to collect information directly from all 11-12 year olds at school in Edinburgh. Earlier surveys had shown that data collected via teachers or headteachers were likely to be flawed. For teachers to gather detailed information about each child in a class is a time-consuming exercise and requires a degree of specialist knowledge (for example about the names of languages and about the cultural contexts associated with language use in particular communities) which not all teachers possess. Few teachers are in a position to make an accurate assessment of children's language skills in languages other than English, particularly if they cannot speak the language(s) in question themselves. Even if they do speak the child's language, they are unlikely to know in detail the contexts in which the child uses the language. They may assume that the child speaks another language all the time when not at school – when, in fact, the child uses the language with his or her parents and older relatives, but not with siblings or friends of the same age. Alternatively, they may assume that a child who speaks English so fluently as to be indistinguishable from the monolingual Englishspeakers in the class does not speak another language at all, unaware of the fact that the child may use another language perhaps with grandparents or on the phone to relatives in another country.

Despite the difficulties of collecting data via teachers, there is resistance to the idea that children's own reporting of their linguistic experience will produce reliable data. Some of the general objections to children as informants in questionnaire studies have already been discussed in Chapter 2. In addition to these, more specific concerns about children's ability to assess their own linguistic competence also exercised a number of commentators. The *Languages of Edinburgh* survey asks students to rate their skills using the following formula:

¹⁵ This analysis relates principally to the respondents who reported speaking Panjabi (when coming from a Panjabi/ Urdu background) and those who provided information about the particular Chinese language they spoke. The numbers reporting other potentially stigmatised languages, varieties or dialects – e.g. Sylheti, Creoles, Italian dialects - were so small, or non-existent, that it is not possible to judge the effect of the two variations on the question.

I can understand/ speak/ read/ write (name of language)

well ... quite well ... a bit ... not yet ...

Students fill in the name(s) of the language(s) they know and then rate their comprehension, speaking, reading and writing skills according to the four point scale indicated above. It is clear that this kind of question will not provide an objective assessment of the respondents' linguistic skills, firstly because there is no indication of the kinds of comparisons which might be made: 'well' compared with a 'native speaker', with another 11-12 year old learner of this language, with the respondent's command of English? Secondly, even assuming that some model of competence were shared by all respondents (e.g. the Common European Framework of Reference for Languages - see Council of Europe, 2001), it is quite likely that young language learners would not be as accomplished in placing themselves on the scale as their teachers might be.

Responses to this question should not therefore be understood as objective in the sense which teachers and others might like them to be. They are subjective, in the same way as attitudinal questions, commonly encountered in questionnaires, are subjective. What is being measured here are students' own perceptions of their competence, reflecting their attitudes rather than, say, their recollection of test results (though these may have influenced their attitudes). Positive perceptions of competence are important in language learning. For example, in a study of examining the reasons why many students give up learning another language after the age of 16 (McPake et al. 1999), it emerged that students who had performed well in examinations did not necessarily perceive themselves to be 'good at' the language in question. They seemed to measure themselves against native speakers of the language, or in terms of their success in communicating in 'real life' situations, rather than in terms of what could reasonably be expected after four to six years of school-based language study. In this case, because their perception was that their level of competence was low, they often decided not to continue studying a language.

Despite these problems, it is worth noting that self-assessment is quite widely used in language surveys, though generally with adults. For example, in the US Census, respondents are asked to rate their competence in English; and in the Canadian Census, they are asked to rate their competence in the other languages they know. Other researchers have found that self-reported data of this kind are generally reliable (see Fishman and Terry, 1969; Portes and Rumbaut 2001).

4.7 Language of the survey

Despite evidence from earlier surveys that the use of languages other than English was likely to enhance responses, it was not possible to produce *Languages of Edinburgh* survey in any language other than English. There were a number of reasons for this. Firstly, the full range of languages spoken by respondents was not known, and even if they had been, the cost of producing a survey form in so many languages would have been prohibitive. A pragmatic solution might have been to produce the survey in the languages known to be spoken by relatively large numbers: for example, Urdu, Panjabi,

Chinese, Arabic and Bengali. However, this would have created other kinds of difficulties. For example, teachers would have had to identify in advance students who spoke those languages, and in particular, they would have needed to know which students were sufficiently literate in these languages to be able to respond. Although some teachers undoubtedly possess this information, many do not, and therefore the confusion which might ensue had the potential to bias or limit the information collected. Moreover, it is unlikely that many students who are literate in languages other than English have ever been asked to make use of these literacy skills in a school context, and the novelty of the situation might have detracted from the goals of the survey.

For these reasons, the form was produced only in English. Two groups of students were likely to be significantly disadvantaged by this decision: those recently arrived from abroad whose literacy in English was not yet well developed, and those whose literacy skills were still, for other reasons, at the early stages. The support information sent to schools drew attention to the potential problems for these two groups. It pointed out that the information which the first group possessed about the other languages they knew was particularly relevant to the survey. However, the survey aimed to include all students, including those with early stage literacy skills, even if they appeared to speak only English and if, because of their learning situation, they had not had the opportunity to learn another language at school.¹⁶ If possible, schools were asked to make use of language support or learning support staff to assist students in either category to complete the census form.

A different approach was adopted in special schools. All special schools are different, and the literacy skills of students attending these schools vary considerably. However, many students attending special schools were unlikely to have the literacy skills, the concentration or the interest to complete a census form of the kind used in the Languages of Edinburgh survey without one-to-one support. It would have been unreasonable to expect special school staff to provide this kind of support, given their other responsibilities. Therefore, the researcher visited each of the schools participating in the survey, and worked on the completion of the form with each of the students concerned. In most cases, this involved interviewing the students, using the questions from the census form as stimuli. Some students were able to complete the forms themselves, with some help and encouragement. Others provided answers orally and these were recorded on the forms by the researcher. Depending on the particular learning needs and abilities of their students, some headteachers of special schools were enthusiastic about the inclusion of the children from their school in the survey, while others were unconvinced that their children would be able to contribute relevant information. In the event, only two of the census forms completed in special schools were rejected on the basis that the information could not be regarded as sufficiently accurate. However, a number of schools were not visited at all, either because they did not have students in the relevant age range at the time the survey was conducted, or because the headteachers, following discussion with the researcher, remained adamant that the students would not understand or be able to contribute to the survey.

¹⁶ For a detailed account of modern languages provision for children with special educational needs, see McColl (forthcoming).

4.8 Inclusion of monolinguals

Discussion earlier in this Chapter (see section 4.2) has drawn attention to the importance of including monolingual students, both in order to explore all students' experiences of language learning and in order not to prejudge those who are plurilingual. The survey begins by asking about the language experiences common to all (or almost all) students – learning languages, at primary school and now at secondary school – and then moves from this to asking about experiences of learning and using languages outside school. In this way, it presents language learning as a 'normal' experience for all students, before focusing on languages studied and used outside school, where some may have more to report than others.

In the second part of the form, which asks respondents to assess their language skills and to say in which contexts they make use of the languages other than English they know, the text does not indicate that these sections are only for those students who might typically be considered plurilingual, but rather encourages all students to report on their language skills and experiences. Thus the form collects data about students' assessment of their skills in the languages they have learned at school, as well as their assessment of those they may use outside school, and enables students to say whether they use the languages they have learned at school when not at school. For these reasons, there are very few elements in the survey form where students conventionally regarded as 'monolingual' would have little to contribute. Effectively, all respondents are considered to be 'plurilingual' on the basis that virtually all will have been studying another language, typically for around two years at the time they took part in the study, and that their views on these experiences were as relevant as those of those conventionally regarded as 'plurilingual'.

4.9 Summary of design and implementation

The design of the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey drew on discussions of the advantages and limitations of earlier language surveys, but also reflected the view that all students are – actually or potentially – plurilingual and that their experiences of language learning and use, in and outside school, should be explored together rather than understood to be unconnected.

Data was collected by means of a census document to be completed by all Edinburgh school children aged 11 to 12, in the autumn term of what, for most children, would be their first year of secondary education. Some special schools and some independent schools do not divide their provision into primary and secondary in the conventional way. In these schools, the census forms were to be completed by students in the same age range as those entering Secondary 1.

The form focuses on six aspects of children's linguistic experiences:

- languages learnt at school, both previously, at primary school, and now, in secondary school;
- languages learnt outside school, in formal provision such as after school classes;
- languages spoken outside school in the home, in the community or abroad;

- contexts for language use the people with whom different languages are used, and the places or circumstances in which they are used;
- linguistic competence how well students perceive they understand, speak, read and write the languages they know;
- attitudes towards learning and using other languages .

For all the questions, students are required either to tick boxes or to write minimal answers (one or two words, such as the names of the languages they use). There are no open-ended questions, and therefore no data which could be subjected to qualitative rather than quantitative analysis. On average, students took five minutes to complete the form, and administration of the survey took around 15 minutes of classroom time.

The form was piloted in five Edinburgh schools, including one special school, in the summer of 2001, following which some minor amendments were made to the form and to the instructions provided for teachers and students.

Permission to conduct the survey in Edinburgh schools was sought from and granted by the Director of Education for the City of Edinburgh Council. There is no body coordinating the work of Edinburgh's independent (private) schools, but the support of the Scottish Council for Independent Schools (SCIS) was also sought and given. Having secured permission at Council level, the headteachers of each school was approached for permission to distribute the census forms and support with the collection and return of the data.

In total, 36 schools agreed to take part in the study: 21 (out of 23) state-funded secondary schools; 5 (out of 13) state-funded special schools; and 10 (out of 11) independent schools. One state-funded secondary and one independent school declined to take part when contacted. A second state-funded secondary agreed to participate but encountered difficulties in administering the census and was unable to return the forms. The five special schools which took part in the study were those which had children of the appropriate age who were, in the eyes of the headteachers, capable of providing the information required.

The census forms were distributed to all state-funded secondaries and independent schools at the beginning of the autumn term, 2001, and returned to Scottish CILT by mid-October. Special school visits took place in September and October of 2001. In total, 3840 census forms were completed, a figure which represents approximately four fifths of the 11 to 12 year old population of Edinburgh (estimated to be around 5000).

Given the nature of the data collected, analysis is entirely quantitative. All responses were coded and input for the purposes of running SPSS analysis. Frequencies were established first and these are reported in Appendix A, following the format of the questionnaire. After this initial data run, a series of cross-tabulations were calculated, primarily to investigate in more detail the responses of those from five key language groups: Scots, Gaelic, Urdu, Panjabi and Chinese. In addition, breakdowns of the data by gender and by 'plurilingualism' have been run. In the latter case, respondents were

classified as 'plurilingual' (those who reported studying and using languages other than English outside school) and 'monolingual' (those who reported using only English outside school) to investigate differences in attitudes to language learning and use.

Work on the development of language maps of Edinburgh has yet to be completed. This involves retrieving the postcodes of all those who are defined as plurilingual and using these data to construct maps which chart the distribution of different languages across Edinburgh. This work will be conducted by staff at the London School of Oriental and African Studies – following the method developed for the maps used in the *Multilingual Capital* study (Baker and Eversley 2000) – at a future date.

5. Languages at School

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents survey findings relating to languages learned at school, typically French, German, Spanish, Italian, Gaelic and Urdu. The chapter looks first at the range of languages studied previously at primary school, and at the languages respondents were now studying at secondary. The implications of these findings are considered in relation to continuity, the principle of continuing to study the same language at secondary as had been started at primary school; and to diversification, the principle of ensuring that a wide a range as possible of languages are taught, in order to ensure that the Scottish population collectively develops skills in several languages.

Findings relating to the number of respondents studying and using 'school' languages out of school are then presented and discussed. These sections include consideration of the opportunities for studying 'school' languages outside school and the possible reasons for doing so. They also distinguish between those children who use 'school' languages outside school because they have family or other connections with places where these languages are widely used (e.g. one or both parents are French speakers, or the respondent has lived in Germany for a period of time), and those who use these languages outside school because they are keen language learners.

Thirdly, data relating to respondents' assessment of their language skills in 'school' languages are presented, again distinguishing between those who would conventionally be considered 'plurilingual' and those who are language learners.

5.2 Primary languages

The teaching of modern foreign languages in primary schools was introduced in the early 1990s, using a progressive implementation model which has steadily increased the number of participating schools, so that now virtually all primary schools in Scotland offer a modern language in Primary 6 and Primary 7 (i.e. ages 9 to 11).

The principal languages taught at primary level are French, German, Spanish, Italian, Gaelic and Urdu. Given the size of most primary schools and the limited number of teachers able to teach another language, most primaries offer only one modern language, usually in agreement with the secondary school to which their students are most likely to transfer, in order to promote continuity.

In the survey, most of the students (94%) said that they had studied at least one modern language at primary school, and almost a quarter (24%) that they had studied more than one language.

Three quarters of the respondents (75%) had studied French, over a quarter (27%) German, and a tenth (10%) had studied Italian. A small proportion had studied Spanish

(4%), Gaelic (2%), or other languages (3%) such as Urdu, Swahili and British Sign Language.¹⁷



Figure 5i: Primary Languages

The nature of the provision students had experienced was not explored in this survey. The Minister's Action Group for Languages (2000) recommended that primary school students should spend 75 minutes a week (preferably 15 minutes per day) on learning another language, but other research (Tierney and De Cecco, 1999; Johnstone et al., 2000) has shown that provision varies considerably across Scotland. In addition to making provision for the main modern languages, schools may choose to teach other languages, perhaps because a member of staff speaks the language, or because a particular initiative has raised interest in another language. Deaf Connections and possibly other organisations promote and support the teaching of British Sign Language to hearing children in primary schools. Some of the children participating in the survey who were either hearing- or speech-impaired were learning sign languages (British Sign Language or Signalong) as part of their communicative repertoire.

5.3 Secondary languages

The study of a modern foreign language for four years, from S1 to S4, has been (virtually) compulsory in Scottish secondary schools since the implementation of the 'Languages for All' policy in 1989 (Scottish Education Department 1989). This policy is still in force, although recent policy developments have created some confusion as to how it should be implemented in future. The main languages taught at secondary level are the same as those most commonly introduced at primary: French, German, Spanish, Italian, Gaelic and Urdu. A small number of schools teach Latin, Greek and Russian.

Almost all the students (99%) in the survey said that they were studying another language. The small number (1%) who were not studying a language were principally those attending special schools. Most students (89%) were now studying only one

¹⁷ Note that these percentages add up to over 100% because of the number of students who had studied more than one language.

language, and, for the majority (81%), this language was French. About a quarter (24%) of the respondents were studying German, while a very small proportion (less than 1% in each case) were studying Spanish, Italian, Gaelic, Urdu and Latin¹⁸.



Figure 5ii: Secondary Languages

5.4 Continuity and diversification

Continuity – in terms of studying the same language at secondary school as was started at primary school – is an important principle of provision, but it is not always possible for secondaries to ensure that this occurs. One reason is that not all students transfer to the secondary associated with the primary they attended, perhaps because the family has moved house or because of a request to attend a different secondary school. Students attending the only Gaelic medium unit in a primary school in Edinburgh come from all parts of the city, but are likely to transfer to the secondary school in their own area – which, in most cases, is unlikely to offer Gaelic as a modern language.

The data from this survey show that almost all (90%) of those who studied French at primary school were able to continue studying the language at secondary. In contrast, a little over half (56%) of those who studied German were able to do so, although over three quarters (76%) of those who had studied German as their *only* primary language continued to study the language at secondary school. Opportunities for those who had studied other languages at primary were more limited. The full picture is shown in Table 5a. Given that around a quarter of respondents had studied more than one language at primary, the presentation separates those who had studied only one language (those who should, according to the principle of continuity, have kept the same language at secondary school) from all of those who had studied the language at primary school.

Table 5a: Continuity in language study between primary and secondary school

	Learned in Pr moi	Learned in Prin	nary as only language	
Language	N	% still learning in	N	% still learning in

¹⁸ Note that these percentages add up to over 100% because of the number of students who had studied more than one language.

		secondary		secondary
French	2895	90%	2012	93%
German	1019	56%	514	76%
Spanish	144	6%	22	18%
Italian	371	1%	118	1%
Gaelic	58	17%	2	50%
Urdu	7	14%	1	0

Achieving diversification – the teaching of a number of languages, rather than only one or two – is a challenge for most education authorities, and has become more complicated since the introduction of primary languages and the need to ensure continuity as well as diversification. One of the ways in which Edinburgh has approached this question is to teach more than one language at primary school and to organise secondary provision so that different languages are taught in alternate years. This appears to be the explanation for the very low level of continuity in Italian, and may also have a bearing on continuity in Spanish.

5.5 'School' languages studied outside school

In the UK, in contrast to most other European countries, it is unusual for children to attend 'foreign' language classes outside school. There is very limited provision, principally for French, and mainly for children of primary school age (or below). Teaching tends to be very informal in style, befitting the age of the children. Parents who take up such provision, in many cases, do so because they believe that an early start to languages will give their child an advantage. It is frequently stated in the publicity for these courses and by the parents who send their children to them, that, to be successful language learners, children must start young. By implication, starting a language at secondary school (or even in late primary) may be 'too late'. However, these beliefs are not supported by research (Johnstone, forthcoming) and in fact there has been very little research into the impact of such provision on students' subsequent attainment in the formal system.

The data from the *Languages of Edinburgh* show that only a small proportion (4%) of survey respondents were attending language classes outside school. Just over half of this group (54%) were studying 'school' languages, and the remainder were studying 'out of school' languages (such as Chinese, Arabic, etc.) Study of 'out of school' languages is discussed in Chapter 6. Table 5b shows the number studying each of the 'school' languages.

Table 5b: Respondents studying 'school' languages outside school

Language	N	% of those studying languages outside school
		<u>(N = 142)</u>
French	26	18

German	9	6
Spanish	11	8
Îtalian	14	10
Gaelic	5	4
Urdu	12	8

With the exception of Urdu (which is discussed in more detail in Chapter 6), it is not known what kind of out of school provision was available to students. The cultural institutes in Edinburgh make some provision for children from French, German, Italian and Spanish speaking families, and there may be other provision, organised informally, by such families. Organised out-of-school classes for learners of these languages who do not have family or other connections with the places where the languages are widely spoken are likely to be relatively limited, even in the case of French, given that much of the available provision is for younger children, to compensate for what is perceived to be a 'late' start in language learning in Scotland. There is some evidence in the survey responses to suggest that some of those who say they are learning 'school' languages out of school are referring to home-based learning, possibly with parents or family acquaintances, in preparation for holidays abroad.

5.6 'School' languages in use outside school

Almost one in five (19%) of the survey respondents said that they used another language outside school. The full picture of out-of-school language use is given in Chapter 6, while this section focuses on 'school' languages which respondents said they spoke outside school. Of these, French was the language spoken by the largest proportion (3% of all respondents).

Language	N	% of those using 'school' languages outside school (N = 722)
French	110	15
German	77	11
Spanish	79	11
Îtalian	39	5
Gaelic	15	2
Urdu	56	8

Not all of those who say they can speak one or more 'school' languages outside school are those who would conventionally be regarded as plurilingual – i.e. those who have learned to speak the language(s) and do so regularly because they have family or other connections with the places where the languages are widely spoken. It is clear from the additional comments which some respondents made on the questionnaires that some said that they used a 'school' language outside school because they liked to practise this language when they were at home, with parent, siblings or neighbours, or when on holiday.

Although it would be helpful to distinguish between those who would conventionally be regarded as 'plurilingual' and those who might be categorised as 'keen language learners', this is not entirely straightforward, as what might be regarded as 'overreporting' of languages in use outside school was not anticipated in the design of the survey. To distinguish the groups, it was decided to classify as 'plurilingual' those who said that they spoke 'school' languages outside school and who also indicated, in questions relating to the contexts for language use, that they spoke these languages a) with their parents or carers and b) at home. Those who did not indicate that they used their 'school' languages in both of these contexts were categorised as 'keen language learners'. This system of distinguishing between the two groups is probably flawed. It is possible that some 'plurilingual' students might not report that they used their other languages at home and with their parents/ carers if, in fact, they use the language with other relatives, and only when abroad. It is possible also that some 'keen language learners' say that they do use their 'school languages' at home with their parents/ carers because it is in these circumstances that they practise the languages they are learning at school. However, it was felt that this was the best way available of making the distinction, and that the addition of any other criteria (for example that 'plurilinguals' might be distinguished by higher levels of competence in the languages than 'keen language learners') would be problematic rather than helpful.

It important to note, however, that the need to make this distinction relates principally to French, German, Spanish and Italian. In the cases of Gaelic and Urdu, there are distinctive features which have led to discussion of Gaelic and Urdu speakers being considered in more detail in Chapter 6. For Gaelic, the situation is complicated by the fact that a number of students attended the Gaelic medium unit when at primary school, but not all have Gaelic speaking parents. The amount of Gaelic they have acquired through what is effective 'immersion' education places them in a different position to others who have studied a language at primary school for a short period of time each week over the last two years. Their particular circumstances mean that they are usually considered to be 'plurilingual' even though they may not use Gaelic at home with their parents or carers. In the case of Urdu, very few of those who say they use the language outside school have had the opportunity to learn the language at primary school and fewer still to start or continue the language at secondary school. It therefore seems more appropriate to consider this group along with those who have acquired another language outside school.

Reanalysis of the data relating to those who use 'school' languages outside school shows that in each case, around half can be considered 'plurilingual' and half 'keen language learners'. Spanish is an exception, in that almost two thirds of those who say they use the language outside school are 'keen language learners' rather than plurilinguals. This may reflect greater opportunities to use Spanish on holiday than tend to exist for the other 'school' languages. The full picture is shown in Table 5d.

Language	Total N	'Plurilinguals'	'Keen language learners'
French	110	57	53
German	77	37	40
Spanish	79	29	50
Ītalian	39	26	13

Table 5d: 'Plurilinguals' and 'keen language learners'

5.7 Competence in 'school' languages: overview

In this section, the findings relating to students' assessment of their competence in French, German, Spanish and Italian are presented. The picture for Gaelic and Urdu is presented in Chapter 6. Differences in opportunities for learning the four languages discussed here are likely to influence students' assessment of their own competence. As seen earlier, only French and German are now widely studied. Larger numbers of students took Spanish and Italian at primary school, but very few now have the opportunity to study these languages. In addition, the numbers of 'plurilingual' and 'keen language learners' for each language need to be noted, along with those who are studying the language outside school. Table 5e indicates the patterns of study and use for each language.

Table 5e: 'School' languages studied, used, understood, spoken, read and written

	Frenc	h	Germa	n	Spanis	h	Italia	n
primary	2895		1019		144		371	
secondary	3091		931		30		7	
out of school study	26		9		11		14	
out of school use:	110		77		79		39	
'plurilingual'		57		37		29		26
'keen language learner'		53		40		50		13
can understand/ speak	3056		1287		277		335	
can read/ write	2996		1249		246		303	

French

Around 200 more respondents were studying French at the time of the survey (3091) than was the case at primary school (2895). This means that some respondents had only started to study French a few weeks before the survey was conducted. This may explain why the number who said they could understand and speak French (3056) is slightly lower than the number studying French at the time. The number who said they could read or write French (2996) is also lower (though still slightly higher than the number who were studying French at primary school). This is probably also a reflection of the fact that some students had only been studying the language for a few weeks, and possibly also of the likelihood that in some primary schools, the emphasis was on the spoken rather than the written language.

Of the 'plurilingual' French speakers, 16% (9 people) were *not* currently studying French at school.

German

Fewer respondents were studying German at the time the survey was carried out (931) than was the case at primary school (1019). It may also be the case that some of those studying the language now only started to do so at the beginning of Secondary 1. The number who said they could understand and speak (1287) and read and write (1249) German is higher than both the number currently studying German, and those who studied it at primary school. This reflects the fact that a substantial number of those who studied German at primary school have had to switch to another language when they started secondary school: almost a quarter of those who studied German as their only language in primary school and just under half of those who studied it as one of their primary languages (see Table 5a). The responses of these students would therefore reflect their view of the language skills they had acquired at the point when they left primary school. Thus the French and German data on competence in the four language skills need to be understood slightly differently. In the case of French, a small proportion (6%) of the students were reflecting on the limited competence they had gained in the few weeks they have been studying the language. In the case of German, a larger group (over 40%) were commenting on the skills they had acquired at primary school but currently had no opportunity to develop further.

Of the 'plurilingual' German speakers, 38% (14 people) were *not* currently studying German at school.

Spanish

Far fewer respondents (30) were studying Spanish at the time the survey was carried out than was the case at primary school (144). The number who said they could understand and speak (277) and read and write (246) Spanish is considerably higher than both the number currently studying Spanish, and those who studied it at primary school. This is difficult to explain, as the combined total of primary, secondary, out of school students and out of school users (264) is still slightly below those who said they understood and spoke the language – and in any case, these four groups are not mutually exclusive. One possible interpretation is that a relatively high number of students had studied or picked up something of the language in informal or semi-formal ways in preparation for, or in the course of, holidays in Spain. The data on students' linguistic competence in the four language skills thus need to be understood in the light of the possibility that a substantial number of those who responded were commenting on language skills acquired in the context of holidays. As with German, it is also clear the case that a large number of students (almost four fifths, or 79%) were commenting on the skills they acquired at primary school but currently had no opportunity to develop further at school.

Of the 'plurilingual' Spanish speakers, none was currently studying Spanish at school.

Italian

Very few respondents (7) were studying Italian at the time the survey was conducted, compared with the number who studied the language at primary school (371). The number who say they can understand and speak (335) and read and write (303) Italian is a

little lower than the number of those who studied it at primary school. This suggests that most respondents are reflecting on the skills they acquired at primary school but currently have no opportunity to develop further.

Of the 'plurilingual' Italian speakers, only *one* was currently studying Italian at school.

5.8 Competence in 'school' languages: understanding and speaking

In responding to the questions relating to their ability to understand and speak the languages they know, students were asked to include English, and to compare their competence in their other languages with their competence in English. For each language, students were asked to say whether they understood and spoke their languages 'well', 'quite well', 'a bit' or 'not yet'.

As discussed in Chapter 4, students' assessment of their competence is subjective and may well bear little resemblance to their teachers' assessment of what they can do. The data are not meaningless, however. If nothing else, they give us an idea of the confidence respondents have in their language competence. However, as the following discussion on the findings from this section of the survey will show, students' reported level of competence in the languages they know is not out of line with what we might expect for students who have been learning one or more languages at school for just over two years. Few rate their competence as highly in other languages as they do in English; and those studying French and German rate their competence slightly higher than those studying the other languages, reflecting the fact that most students are now studying French and German. Where they report on Spanish and Italian, they are in many cases referring to languages they have now ceased to study, and it is therefore to be expected that they now see their competence in these languages as less developed.

English

All respondents (100%) said that they could understand and speak English, and almost all of them that they could understand (92%) and speak (87%) the language *well*. These data and those relating to 'school' languages are shown in Table 5b:

	I can <u>understand</u>								I can <u>speak</u>			
Language (% of all respondents)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν	
English (100%)	92	5	1	0	3	87	6	1	0	6	3840	
French (80%)	5	42	49	3	1	5	39	49	3	4	3056	
German (34%)	7	34	52	6	1	6	30	55	6	3	1287	
Spanish (7%)	7	13	63	15	2	6	12	69	8	5	277	
Italian (9%)	14	22	50	12	2	11	22	50	13	4	335	

 Table 5f: Competence in understanding and speaking 'school' languages

Those who indicated that they understood or spoke English *quite well* or *a bit* are likely to include some students who have recently arrived in Scotland from a country where a

language (or languages) other than English is commonly used. Survey data show that 154 students (4%) had attended schools in places where English is not the principal language at some point up to the age of 11, but it is likely that some of these students were the children of British parents who were working abroad, and they may therefore have been educated in English. It is also possible that some students were modest in their estimation of their ability to understand and speak English. This was the case with some of the special school students who were interviewed in order to acquire survey results, and may apply to other students in mainstream schools.

'School' languages

Comparisons across the languages of the extent of student competence show that students report a higher level of competence generally, in French and German, than in the other languages. This is the case both for understanding (Figure 5v) and speaking (Figure 5vii). These findings presumably reflect the school situation, where most students are now studying either French or German. Many of those commenting on Spanish or Italian are describing the skills they acquired at the end of their primary school in languages they no longer study. The high proportion of students who say they understand or speak *a bit* of Spanish would seem to support the hypothesis that a substantial number of those who said they understood or spoke Spanish were referring to what they had picked up in holiday contexts.

Among plurilingual students of 'school' languages, however, the picture is more complex. Plurilingual speakers of Italian are the most likely to say that they understand and speak the language *well*, but when the data for those who say they understand and speak these languages *well* or *quite well* are combined, speakers of French and German report a higher level of competence. This may reflect the fact that these respondents are more likely to have had the chance to study the language at school, in addition to out of school opportunities to acquire the language.

The full picture for understanding and speaking school languages is shown in Figures 5iii to 5vi.



Figure 5iii: Competence in understanding 'school' languages: all students



Figure 5iv: Competence in understanding'school' languages: 'plurilingual' students

Figure 5v: Competence in speaking 'school' languages: all students





Figure 5vi: Competence in speaking 'school' languages: 'plurilingual' students

5.9 Competence in 'school' languages: reading and writing

As with understanding and speaking, respondents were asked to include English, and to compare their competence in their other languages with their competence in English. For each language, students were asked to say whether they understood and spoke their languages 'well', 'quite well', 'a bit' or 'not yet'.

	I car	read				I can <u>write</u>					
Language (% of all respondents)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν
English (100%)	92	5	1	0	3	87	6	1	0	6	3840
French (80%)	5	32	52	9	2	7	31	50	8	4	2996
German (34%)	5	25	54	14	2	5	24	53	15	3	1249
Spanish (7%)	7	10	49	32	2	4	8	45	39	4	246
Italian (9%)	8	19	39	31	3	8	15	40	33	4	303

Table 5g: Competence in reading and writing 'school' languages

English

All respondents (100%) said that they could read and write English, and almost all of them that they could read (92%) and write (87%) the language *well*. These proportions are identical to those who said they could understand and speak the language *well*, an outcome which is a little surprising. While the majority of the respondents, being 'native speakers' of English could be expected to say that they understood and spoke English well, it might be expected that some had difficulties with the written language. If so, these findings suggest they are not particularly aware of problems of this kind.

'School' languages

The proportions who say they can read and write 'school' languages *well* are similar in most cases to those who said they could understand and speak the languages *well*, although it perhaps surprising that a slightly higher proportion say that they can write French *well* than can understand or speak the language. More generally, as can be seen from Figures 5ix and 5xi, students report higher levels of competence in reading and writing French and German than for the other languages, again reflecting the fact that these are the languages which most students are studying now. The proportion who say they cannot *yet* read or write any of the languages is higher than the proportion for each language who say they cannot *yet* understand or speak them. This is likely to be partly the result of the emphasis on the spoken language in primary schools, and also the fact that literacy skills generally lag behind oral skills when languages are taught using communicative methods.

The figures for Spanish indicate that a substantial proportion of those who say they can read and write the language do not have a very high level of skill. Again, it seems likely that a many respondents acquired some knowledge of Spanish from holidays in Spain: some have not acquired any literacy skills in this context, while others have some rudimentary skills, more in reading than in writing.

Around 20% of the 'plurilingual' students say that they can read the language *well*, the largest proportion being those who speak Spanish. This is perhaps surprising given that none of these students is currently studying Spanish at school and few (7%) are studying Spanish in out of school classes. However, just over a fifth (21%) of the 'plurilingual' Spanish students had attended school in another country, outwith the UK (in another EU country or in South America), and these students may have learned to read Spanish while living abroad. The picture for writing another language is a little different, with French being the language which the largest proportion of 'plurilingual' students say they are able to write *well*.

The full picture for understanding and speaking school languages is shown in Figures 5vii to 5x.



Figure 5vii Competence in reading 'school' languages: all students

Figure 5viii: Competence in reading 'school' languages: 'plurilingual' students







Figure 5x: Competence in writing 'school' languages: 'plurilingual' students



5.10 Conclusions

Survey findings relating to languages learned at school show that virtually all Edinburgh schoolchildren were studying at least one language at school at the time the survey was conducted, with most studying French or German. Although primary provision was also dominated by French and German, greater numbers were studying other languages – including Italian, Spanish, Gaelic and Urdu – than was now the case at secondary school. In part this reflects the fact that students were more likely to study more than one language at primary school; in part the tension between the principles of continuity and diversification.

A small proportion of students said that they used 'school' languages outside school. Analysis of this group showed that some were likely to be 'plurilingual' – i.e. students who had acquired the language outside school because of family or other connections to places where the language is widely spoken; and others could be classified as 'keen language learners' – those who enjoyed trying out the language skills they had acquired at school while at home, or who had acquired some skills while on holiday in a foreign country. Thus interpretation of the data relating to students' assessment of their competence in 'school' languages needs to take into account that this competence was not, in all cases, acquired only at school.

Students' assessment of their competence in 'school' languages, while subjective, shows expected patterns. Students rated their competence in English much more highly than their skills in the languages they were learning at school, and competence in 'school' languages was generally reported to be higher in French and German, the languages that most studying at school now, than in Spanish or Italian, languages which some had studied at primary school but which few were studying now. Some who reported on their competence in Spanish appeared to have acquired a basic level of competence not at school but possibly on holiday. Students who were categorised as 'plurilingual' reported markedly higher levels of competence in 'school' languages than those who had been studying these languages only at school.
6. Languages outside school

6.1 Introduction

This chapter presents survey findings relating to the languages which respondents said they spoke and studied outside school. The first part of the chapter looks at the full range of languages which respondents said they could speak, and draws attention to some of the complications in understanding the data, in particular in relation to the five languages which have been selected as a focus for further analysis in this chapter: Scots, Gaelic, Chinese, Panjabi and Urdu.

The second part of the chapter looks in more detail at the data relating to these five languages, reporting the proportion who study these languages outside school, and the plurilingual respondents' assessment of their competence in understanding, speaking, reading and writing them. Discussion focuses on possible explanations for the differences between the five language groups in terms of their assessment of their own competence in each of the four skills.

In the third part of the chapter, the findings relating to the ways in which plurilingual respondents use their other languages outside school are presented. The data collected relates to potential interlocutors (family members and others) and to particular contexts (e.g. at home, in a religious place) in which respondents might have opportunities to use their languages. Different patterns of use for each of the language groups are discussed, and, in the conclusions to this chapter, consideration is given to the implications of these differences in terms of understanding plurilingualism and efforts to maintain the use of languages other than English among these different language communities.

6.2 Languages spoken outside school

In total, 722 students (19%) said that they spoke another language, apart from English, outside school. Of these 99 (3%) said that they spoke two other languages apart from English and 18 (0.5%) that they spoke three other languages apart from English.

As we have seen in Chapter 5, some adjustments to these figures were needed because some students reported that they used the languages they had been learning at school outside school because they enjoyed practising these languages at home. After these and some other minor adjustments, 525 respondents (14%) have been categorised as 'plurilingual', in the sense that they have acquired one or more languages apart from English outside school because of family or other connections with places where these languages are widely spoken.

In all, 59 languages were listed by students. Almost all responses have been treated as languages, although this might be contentious in some cases. Not everyone would grant the status of language to Scots, as discussed in Chapter 3, and there are other responses which might similarly be challenged: e.g. Shetlandese, Frisian, Mirpuri, and possibly others. One might also question whether Dutch and Flemish should be considered two different languages? In addition, 'AAC' - augmentative and alternative communication (systems used by people with speech impairments) – is considered to be another language

(more accurately, perhaps, each user's version of AAC is a separate language). To learn to use AAC is to learn a language quite different from English, even although it can be translated, when computerised, into English (Murphy et al. 1996). Only two responses were excluded, on the basis that they could not be interpreted: one was 'Enjin' (possibly an idiosyncratic spelling of 'Indian'); the other was illegible.

The full picture is set out in Table 6a.

French:	11%	German:	7%	Spanish:	6%
Italian:	5%	Gaelic:	3%	Other European ¹⁹ :	10%
Scots ²⁰ :	19%	Dialect of English ²¹ :	1%		
Urdu ²² :	11%	Panjabi ²³ :	8%	Bengali:	2%
Chinese ²⁴ :	9%	Mandarin:	1%	Japanese:	2%
Other Asian ²⁵ :	4%			1	
Arabic:	5%	Turkish:	2%	Other Middle Eastern ²⁶	: 2%
African language ²⁷ :	1%	Sign language:	1%	Other language ²⁸ :	1%

Table 6a: Languages spoken outside school

(N = 525)

²⁶ Includes Farsi and Hebrew

¹⁹ Includes Russian, Greek, Portuguese, Swedish, Norwegian, Danish, Dutch, Flemish, Friesian, Hungarian, Romanian, Polish, Bosnian, Ukrainian, Bulgarian, Maltese, Welsh, Irish Gaelic and Romany

²⁰ Includes 'Scottish', Scots and Shetlandese ²¹ Includes Cockney', 'American', 'Canadian' and 'Jamaican'

²² This category includes those who said they spoke Urdu only and those who said they spoke Urdu and Panjabi.

²³ This category includes those who said they spoke only Panjabi, and those who said they spoke Panjabi and Urdu. If those who said they spoke Panjabi and Urdu are excluded the proportion speaking Panjabi (only) falls to 3%.

²⁴ 'Chinese' includes those who said they spoke Cantonese and those who said they spoke 'Chinese'. From analysis of other survey data relating to Cantonese and 'Chinese' speakers it seems probable that all or virtually all of the 'Chinese' speakers are, in fact, Cantonese speakers. Cantonese and Hakka were spoken by one respondent.

²⁵ Includes Hindi, Gujerati, Mirpuri, Malayalam, Tamil, Sinhala, Malay, Indonesian, Thai, Tagalog Visnayan and Korean.

²⁷ Includes Yoruba, Ibo. Shona, Swahili and Africaans

²⁸ Includes Drehu (a language of the South Pacific) and Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC)

These data indicate that Scots is the most widely spoken language, after English, followed by French, Urdu, and Chinese (Cantonese). A wide range of languages is spoken: speakers of European languages (excluding Scots and Gaelic) make up a little over a third of the plurilingual population (39%) while speakers of Asian language constitute just under a third (31%). Another significant feature is the number of languages (40, excluding dialects) spoken by a very small number of speakers (i.e. fewer than five people).

In the following sections of this chapter, discussion focuses on five language groups which the findings suggest would be the most significant in the debate about multilingualism in Scotland. These are Scots, Gaelic, Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi. Scots and Gaelic are clearly of particular relevance in the Scottish context. Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi have been selected as the languages with the largest numbers of speakers. The findings indicate that there are also substantial numbers of French, German, Spanish and Italian speakers. Some of the data relating to these groups have been presented in Chapter 5, but further analysis of these groups could be undertaken. However, more information about speakers of European languages living in Scotland is needed to support interpretation of the data. Despite the growing emphasis on 'mobility' within the European Union, there appear to have been very few studies of the impact on the children of 'mobile' workers, in terms of their education generally or, more specifically, on their linguistic development.

Scots

Despite the fact that Scots emerges as the most widely spoken 'other language', the proportion who report speaking Scots is in fact much smaller than might have been anticipated from earlier studies. These estimated the Scots-speaking population as somewhere between 20% and 50% of the population (see Chapter 3). It should be noted that the proportion of *all respondents* (not only those who said that they spoke another language outside school) who said that they spoke Scots is just 2.6% (100 respondents). Why the reporting of Scots should be so low is not easy to determine, other than pointing to the well-established difficulties ensuing from defining Scots as a 'language', and of unwillingness to recognise Scots as a part of Scots' linguistic repertoire. Clearly the format of this questionnaire was not successful in drawing respondents' attention to the possibility of listing Scots as one of their languages. Even if the version of the form in which prompts specifically mentioned Scots as an option (see Chapter 4) had been used with all participants, the overall proportion who mentioned Scots would have increased only to 3.1%.

Gaelic

Although the proportion of respondents who said that said that they spoke Gaelic outside school is small (15 respondents, or 0.4% of all those participating in the survey), it is higher than the available statistics indicate is the case for Edinburgh as a whole. Rogerson and Gloyer's (1995) analysis of the 1991 Census data relating to Gaelic show that 0.87% (574 people) of the Gaelic speaking population of Scotland was then to be found in Edinburgh, indicating that they made up 0.1% of the Edinburgh population. Because of the small numbers of people involved, it is not possible to draw firm

conclusions from the findings of this survey, but these data may reflect the impact of the Gaelic medium unit in Edinburgh. It is unfortunate that the survey did not contain a question to identify those who attended the GMU. If a full survey were to be conducted, a question on this issue should be included.

An analysis of all the data relating to Gaelic in the survey shows that there were 58 respondents who had studied Gaelic at primary school, but only two had studied Gaelic as their only primary language. Of those who said they spoke another language outside school, 15 mentioned Gaelic, and seven of these had studied the language at primary school. This may indicate that seven of the respondents were GMU graduates, and eight were from Gaelic speaking families who had not sent their children to the GMU, but it is not possible to be sure of this. Four of the group were studying Gaelic at secondary school, and three were attending out-of-school classes in Gaelic.

Panjabi and Urdu

The presentation of the data in Table 6a relating to Urdu and Panjabi indicates some of the complexities in understanding the two groups of speakers of these languages. As discussed in Chapter 3, it is usual to divide Panjabi speakers into Panjabi (U) and Panjabi (G) groups. On the basis that those who say they only speak Urdu probably also speak Panjabi but have not mentioned this because of the higher prestige of Urdu, 56 respondents (11% of the plurilingual group) can be assigned to the Panjabi (U) category. By default, the remaining Panjabi speakers (15 respondents, or 3% of the plurilingual group) are probably Panjabi (G) speakers, particularly as Edinburgh is known to have a small Panjabi (G) speaking community. Subsequent analysis of the linguistic behaviour of the two groups (reported in the following sections) show that they are different and that it is therefore likely that the Panjabi only speakers are not from the same language community.

However, this analysis also shows differences in the linguistic behaviour of those who said they knew only Urdu and those who said that they knew Panjabi and Urdu, indicating a stronger commitment to the use of languages other than English among the Panjabi and Urdu group than among the Urdu only group. For this reason, the analyses presented below distinguish between the two groups. It is not easy to provide explanations for the differences between the two groups, given that all accounts of Panjabi (U) speakers in the UK assume that both languages are in use in this community. It could be hypothesised, however, that the use of Panjabi is disappearing in the Panjabi (U) community, given the length of time that some families have been living in Scotland, but that a formal commitment to Urdu remains, as the prestige language and – as the language of literacy, broadcasting and film – an important vehicle for maintaining forma links with Pakistan. Rosowsky (2002), in his analysis of the role of Qu'ranic Arabic among communities of Pakistani origin in the north of England, has argued that Qu'ranic Arabic is likely to remain an important element in the linguistic repertoire of these communities even if Mirpuri (this, rather than Panjabi, is the vernacular in the area studied) dies out, because of its formal cultural (i.e. religious) role. The same may be true for Urdu, at least in communities which have reasonably good access to Urdu classes and cultural activities which make use of the language.

Chinese

The figures for those speaking 'Chinese' include those who specified that they spoke Cantonese (33 people) and those who used the generic term 'Chinese' to describe the language they spoke (19 people). Analysis suggests that all of those who said they spoke 'Chinese' are likely to be Cantonese speakers. One respondent reported speaking both Cantonese and Hakka. Only a small group of respondents (six people) said that they spoke Mandarin outside school, but it seems that all but one of these are Cantonese speakers who are learning Mandarin, or have studied the language in the past, rather than people who have learned Mandarin in a Mandarin-speaking community.

6.3 Other languages studied outside school

In Chapter 5, it was noted that, in contrast to many other European countries there is limited interest in studying languages outside school in the UK. However, for plurilingual communities, out-of-school classes in the 'heritage' or 'community' language represent an important way of maintaining these languages, and particularly of ensuring that children become pluriliterate. As described in Chapter 3, there are out-of-school classes for Chinese (Cantonese and Mandarin), Urdu, Panjabi, Arabic, Bengali and Farsi organised with the support of the City of Edinburgh Council, and there may be other classes organised independently of the Council. However, the numbers attending these classes (323 in the academic year 2000-2001) seem relatively small, compared with the probably number of children who speak these languages: the available data from the City of Edinburgh Council (see Chapter 3) suggest that around one in four from these language groups are attending out-of-school classes.

The data from this survey indicate that the proportion attending out-of-school classes varies depending on the language in question. In total, 4% of survey respondents were attending language classes outside school. This represents a little over a quarter (27%) of those who said they spoke another language outside school. The full picture of attendance in language classes for the five language groups on which this chapter focuses is shown in Figure 6i. Note that Panjabi (U) speakers do not study Panjabi formally, so the figures relating to Panjabi are for Panjabi (G) speakers. Arabic, however, is included as a language which Panjabi (U) speakers study: the data presented here show the proportion of Panjabi (U) speakers studying Arabic.





NB: Figures represent % of speakers of each language who study the language outside school. For Arabic, the figure represents the % of Panjabi (U) speakers studying Arabic.

However, while around two thirds (64%) of Chinese speaking children are attending outof-school classes, only one in six (16%) of Panjabi (U) speakers are attending Urdu classes. The levels of literacy in Urdu among this group (see Section 6.5) suggest that a higher proportion may have attended classes in the past than are doing so now. In addition, a small proportion (11%) of Panjabi (U) speakers are studying Arabic after school. It is likely that this refers to the study of Qu'ranic Arabic in mosque classes, rather than to the study of modern standard Arabic. One in five (20%) Gaelic speakers was studying the language in after-school classes, compared with only one person (1% of the group) who said they could speak Scots. What provision is available either for Gaelic or for Scots out of school is not known.

6.4 Understanding and speaking other languages

Around half (50%) of those who speak one of the five languages say that they understand and speak the language *well*. The picture is set out in Table 6b.

I can <u>understand</u> I can <u>speak</u>											
Language	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν
Gaelic	33	20	40	7	0	40	20	33	7	0	15
Scots	59	31	9	1	0	50	30	16	0	4	68
Chinese/	51	31	16	2	0	56	29	16	0	0	45
Cantonese											
Urdu (only)	54	42	4	0	0	42	25	21	0	12	24
Urdu (P)	61	31	4	4	0	50	31	11	0	8	26
Panjabi (U)	68	20	8	4	0	56	36	0	0	8	25
Panjabi (G)	33	13	47	7	0	27	20	47	0	6	14

Table 6b: Competence in understanding and speaking other languages

The figures are highest for those who know Panjabi *and* Urdu, indicated by the labels 'Panjabi (U)' and 'Urdu (P)'. However, they are lower for those who say they know Urdu only. As noted in section 6.2, these kinds of differences between those who say they know only Urdu and those who say they know Panjabi *and* Urdu are problematic as, in theory, these are simply different ways of representing the same language group. A possible explanation is that Panjabi is being lost in families where English has become the principal home language but that some formal knowledge of Urdu is acquired, even in English dominant families, because of the prestige attached to this language.

Chinese speakers report levels of confidence in their ability to understand and speak Chinese similar to those of the Panjabi and Urdu group, with over half saying that they understand and speak the language *well*, and over four fifths describing themselves as able to speak and understand it *well* or *quite well*.

The figures are lowest for those who know Panjabi (G) and those who know Gaelic: in the case of Panjabi (G) speakers, a third (33%) say that they can understand the language well and 27% that they can speak the language well. This suggests that the shift towards English in the Panjabi (G) community may be more advanced than among other language groups. Gaelic speakers provide rather unusual data, in that a third (33%) say that they understand the language *well*, but a slightly higher proportion (40%) say that they speak the language *well*. The fact that Gaelic speakers are less confident about their linguistic competence may reflect the likelihood that this group contains children who attended the GMU but are not from families which are traditionally Gaelic speaking.

In contrast, Scots speakers seem quite confident about their competence in understanding and speaking Scots, indicating levels similar to Chinese and Panjabi *and* Urdu speakers. This and other data reported below suggests that people who identify themselves as Scots speakers are relatively positive about their competence in the language.

Figures 6ii and 6iii present the data from Table 6b in graphic form.



Figure 6ii: Competence in understanding other languages

Figure 6iii: Competence in speaking other languages



6.5 Reading and writing other languages

Community language speakers rate their competence in reading and writing considerably lower than their competence in understanding and speaking. This is not surprising, given the small proportion of respondents who are attending out-of-school school classes. The picture is shown in Table 6c.

	I can <u>read</u>					I ca					
Language (% of all respondents)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν
Gaelic	40	13	20	27	0	33	13	27	27	0	15
Scots	45	35	18	0	2	38	29	23	3	7	66
Chinese/	18	38	33	9	2	16	31	36	9	2	45
Cantonese											
Urdu (only)	16	12	44	20	8	12	12	32	32	12	25
Urdu (P)	31	35	19	11	4	27	31	15	19	8	26
Panjabi (U)	15	20	10	40	15	10	20	10	45	15	20
Panjabi (G)	8	23	31	38	0	15	0	46	31	8	13

Table 6c: Competence in reading and writing other languages

Scots are the most confident about their competence in reading and writing, with just under half (45%) reporting that they can read the language well, and a finding which is somewhat unexpected given that literacy skills in Scots are rarely consistently taught at school, and (with one exception) none of the Scots speakers are attending after-school classes. Some students may have had to opportunity to study Scots literature for periods of time at school: for example, primary schools may choose to focus on the poetry of Robert Burns around the time of Burns Night, and students may also be given the opportunity to write their own poems in Scots. Another interpretation of these data is that some respondents do not differentiate between 'Scots' and 'English' and therefore see their literacy skills as generic in relation to whichever language label is applied.

After Scots, the next highest level of literacy is reported for Gaelic. This may be explained by the probability that around half of this group are GMU graduates and therefore will have had extensive opportunities to develop literacy skills in the language.

Among the Panjabi (U) group, higher levels of literacy are reported for Urdu, among those who say they speak both Panjabi *and* Urdu than among those who say they speak only Urdu. Just under a third (31%) of the former say they read Urdu *well*, and just over half (27%) say they write it *well*. The corresponding figures for those who say they speak Urdu only are around half these levels. Again, these findings indicate differences in linguistic behaviour between the two groups. Literacy levels are lowest among the Panjabi (G) group; in fact, somewhat surprisingly, Panjabi (U) speakers report higher levels of literacy in Panjabi than do the Panjabi (G) group. This is unexpected given that Urdu, not Panjabi, is held to be the language of literacy for this group.

Given the high proportion of Chinese speakers who are currently attending out-of-school classes in Chinese, levels of confidence in reading and writing Chinese are, unexpectedly, lower than they are for the Panjabi and Urdu group. This may reflect the fact that Chinese is a difficult language to learn to read and write. Without a considerable amount of time dedicated to the memorisation of Chinese characters, it is very difficult to reach adequate levels of fluency in reading and writing, and finding the time to dedicate to this activity is a challenge for students who are also attending school full-time in English, possibly learning English as an additional language and having to complete homework assignments in addition to attending Chinese school. Urdu, of course, also requires the learning of a complex script, and, given that learners are usually Panjabi speakers, knowledge of another language in order to be able to read and understand texts, so comparisons of the relative difficulty of becoming literate in the two languages may be invidious. Another possible explanation of the different perspectives is that, for cultural reasons, Chinese speakers are more self-critical than Panjabi (U) speakers. Cultural differences in response to questions about linguistic competence is an area in which further investigation is required.

Figures 6iv and 6v present the data from Table 6b in graphic form.



Figure 6iv: Competence in reading other languages



Figure 6v: Competence in writing other languages

6.6 Using other languages outside school

Plurilingual respondents were asked to say with whom they spoke their other languages and in what contexts (e.g. at home, on holiday, when watching videos, etc.) Potential interlocutors and potential contexts were listed on the Census form, and therefore it is possible that key interlocutors and contexts have been omitted. It is also possible that there are cultural biases in each case. For example, Khan's (1991) study of Panjabi/ Urdu speakers in Newham identifies members of the *biradari* (kinship group) as an influential set of interlocutors for this speech community. However, just as it was not possible to produce a census form in the main languages other than in English in use in Edinburgh, it would similarly have been impractical for culturally specific items to be included in the list. It is, of course, not possible to produce a 'culturally neutral' list of interlocutors or contexts, and therefore those selected here are open to criticism on these grounds. It should, however, be noted that studies investigating the contexts in which people use their other languages are relatively rare – there appears to have been much greater emphasis on choices relating to interlocutors – and therefore the inclusion of this element in the census form should be regarded as experimental.

Using other languages with different interlocutors

The Census form invites respondents to say which language(s) they use with relatives – parents or carers, grandparents, siblings and other relatives – and with non-relatives (friends and teachers). There was also space for respondents to add other possible interlocutors, and analysis of this information might identify other significant groups.

It should be noted that where respondents indicate that they use their other languages with the various interlocutors listed, this does not necessarily mean that they use these languages exclusively. They may use the other languages all the time, frequently, sometimes or only very occasionally. As other studies have shown, among plurilingual interlocutors, code-switching between the other language and English is common, and it is also possible that new forms of diglossia are developing, with each language used for certain purposes: for example discussions about school or homework might habitually take place in English, while conversations about meals might habitually take place in the other language.

Figures 6vi and 6vii show patterns of language use with relatives and non-relatives, for each of the five language groups.



Figure 6vi: Other language use with relatives



Figure 6vii: Other language use with non-relatives

For each language, the data show that respondents are most likely to use their other languages with their parents. Over 80% of Chinese and Panjabi (U and G) speakers report using these languages with their parents, while Urdu only and Panjabi (G) speakers are as likely to use their other languages with their grandparents as with their parents. In most cases, respondents are least likely to use their other languages with their siblings (among their relatives). This picture fits what is already known about the use of languages other than English within the family: parents are highly influential in determining whether or not their children will learn to speak the other language, and one key factor in maintaining the other language is the need to be able to communicate with older relatives who may never have learned English, and other relatives, particularly those living in the family's country of origin. Siblings living in the UK, however, often use English among themselves, reflecting the fact that English often becomes the dominant language for this generation, as a result of schooling, and perhaps also the fact that interactions with siblings may often take place in contexts (school and other social gatherings) where the other language is not known by all those present.

Patterns for Scots are slightly different from those for the other groups, with Scots speakers more likely to speak Scots with siblings than with grandparents or other relatives. This may reflect negative attitudes towards Scots among older generations, and the use of Scots as an indicator of solidarity among young people. Supporting this hypothesis are the data in Figure 6vii which show that Scots speakers are the most likely to use Scots with friends.

Gaelic speakers show consistently the lowest level of Gaelic use with each category of relatives. They are more likely to use Gaelic with friends than with grandparents, siblings or other relatives. This may be evidence of a substantial proportion of the Gaelic-speaking group coming from non-Gaelic speaking families and having learned Gaelic at the GMU.

Although the use of Urdu and Panjabi with relatives is similar among Panjabi *and* Urdu, Urdu only and Panjabi (G) speakers, Panjabi *and* Urdu speakers are much more likely than Urdu only or Panjabi (G) speakers to use the languages with their friends. Again, this seems to indicate greater commitment to the use of their other languages among this group than the others.

Chinese speakers report high levels of use of Chinese both with relatives and with nonrelatives. They are the group most likely to use Chinese with some of their teachers, a finding which presumably reflects their greater participation in out-of-school classes than other groups.

Other language use in different contexts

The census form asked respondents to indicate whether they used their other languages in a range of contexts, listed on the form. These included: at home, at school, on holiday, on the telephone, when reading books, magazines or newspapers, when writing letters or email messages, when watching TV, videos or films, and when in a religious place. These particular contexts were chosen for various reasons. Clearly, the home is a key location for the use of languages other than English (despite the recent Blunkett furore – see Chapter 4) and home use is likely to be a determinant of the strength of commitment to the other language. Conversely, children are unlikely to have many opportunities to use languages other than English at school, unless they have some formal opportunities to study the other language (as is the case for a very small number of Gaelic and Urdu speakers) or unless children are attending school with others – friends or siblings – who speak the same language.

Some children, particularly those whose families are long-established in Scotland, and also, perhaps, those from families where only one parent speaks the other language, may use their other languages principally on the telephone to relatives abroad or when they go on holidays to visit these relatives. In some cases, if they are literate in the other language and maintain links by writing rather than telephoning, they may write letters or email messages to these relatives.

The use of other languages in cultural or leisure pursuits seems also to be an important indicator of commitment to the other language. For example, in Chapter 3, the importance of increasing the amount of Gaelic broadcast media was noted as one of the principal strategies developed to revive the language, but to what extent do children choose to watch the TV programmes, videos and films that are available to them in their other languages, given the enormous range of such material available to them in English? Similar questions apply also to their choice of reading material.

Potential use of languages other than English in these contexts is important not only because it would indicate commitment to other languages but also because these are opportunities for children to acquire competence in their other languages which goes beyond the immediate domestic sphere. Children who read in another language, who are familiar with the wider culture associated with the language through visual media and who can communicate orally and particularly in writing with non-English speaking relatives or acquaintances (where code-switching is not an option) are developing language skills which would enhance their pluriculturalism as well as their plurilingualism and could enable them to use their languages for a wide range of professional purposes, as adults. Thus understanding the extent to which young plurilinguals can and do take advantage of the opportunities available provides some indication of the potential linguistic resource they possess.

Use of another language in a religious place also has important cultural implications for several communities, and may play an important role in maintaining languages which are otherwise dying out in communities which once spoke them.

Figures 6viii and 6ix show patterns of language use in different contexts, for each of the five language groups.



Figure 6viii: Contexts for other language use (1)

As predicted, these data show that the home is the context in which plurilinguals are most





likely to use their other languages. Four fifths or more of the respondents in each language group reported that they used their other languages at home. Gaelic speakers are

the least likely (at 80%) to do so, once again presumably reflecting that not all plurilingual Gaelic speakers come from Gaelic-speaking families. In contrast, school use is very low for all groups, except for Scots speakers. This may reflect some formal interest in Scots in the English curriculum, or it may be linked to earlier findings which showed that Scots speakers were more likely to use Scots with their friends (which presumably includes informal use of Scots while at school).

Use of the other language on the telephone and when on holiday is high (over 60%) for all groups except Gaelic speakers and Panjabi only speakers. In the case of the Gaelic speakers these findings again reflect the lack of a Gaelic background for some of those who are plurilingual in Gaelic. In the case of Panjabi only speakers, they seem to suggest that this group is more English-dominant than the others and has less strong links to the country of origin or other communities in which Panjabi is spoken than is the case with Urdu/ Panjabi and Chinese speakers. Note also that Panjabi only speakers do not use Panjabi at school at all, perhaps because the speakers of the language are relatively isolated (they may be all at different schools) or perhaps because among young Panjabi only speakers, English is the main language in use, a possibility strengthened by the earlier findings indicating the Panjabi only speakers are unlikely to use the language with friends.

The data relating to cultural contexts in which other languages may be used show different patterns among the different language groups. Gaelic speakers are more likely to read in Gaelic than to write, watch TV or videos or to use the language in a religious place. Scots and Chinese speakers are most likely to watch films, TV or videos in these languages, while Panjabi (U and G) speakers are most likely to use these languages in a religious context. These differences reflect both different cultural emphases in the activities of particular language groups and the related phenomenon of the cultural opportunities available to each group.

Gaelic speakers are likely to be those with the most limited opportunities to make use of their languages in the kinds of cultural context listed. There are, for example, no Gaelic newspapers, although some Scottish newspapers have Gaelic columns, and, despite the move to increase broadcasting in Gaelic, there are still only a few programmes each week, and perhaps few of these likely to be of interest to Gaelic speakers in this age range. Only one or two films have ever been made in Gaelic. The need to write letters or emails in Gaelic is also likely to be more limited for Gaelic speakers than for the other languages, given that some of those in this group may not come from Gaelic-speaking families or communities and also given even among Gaelic communities, writing in Gaelic is rare (MacKinnon 1991).

In contrast, there are very well-established film industries in Chinese (Cantonese) and Hindi which make it much easier for Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi speakers to have access to films (on video, in the cinema or on TV) and, clearly, many of the survey respondents took advantage of these opportunities, at least on occasion: the survey data do not record whether people frequently or only rarely watched films, TV or videos in their other languages.

Use of the other languages in a religious place is also an important context for Panjabi (U and G) speakers. For each group, four fifths or more say that they use their other language in this context. This seems particularly significant in the case of the Panjabi (G) speakers: the religious context is perhaps the main opportunity they have to use their Panjabi. Panjabi (U) speakers are more likely to use Urdu than Panjabi when in a religious place, perhaps befitting the formal context. Of course Qu'ranic Arabic would also be a significant feature of worship for this group.

6.7 Conclusions

The survey data indicate a higher level of plurilingualism among S1 students than might have been anticipated from the available data collected by the City of Edinburgh EAL Service. The city-wide survey conducted by the EAL Service for the academic year 1999-2000 (see Chapter 3) found that 5.4% of the school population was plurilingual, compared with 14% in this survey. Part of the reason for the higher proportion in this survey is the inclusion of Scots speakers, but even if this group were eliminated, this would still give a figure of 11%, double that of the EAL Service findings.

There are a number of explanations for the differences. Firstly, the surveys were conducted in different years, and there are likely to be fluctuations - sometimes substantial – in the numbers of plurilingual students from year to year, depending particularly on the numbers of refugees and asylum seekers, and on the type of educational provision they can access. Secondly, the EAL Service survey covers all children in City of Edinburgh Council schools (including partner pre-school providers), from ages 4 to 18. It is possible that there are concentrations of plurilingual students in particular age groups: for example, there tend to be higher concentrations in the primary school (and perhaps in the early secondary) because families visiting the UK for work or study reasons are usually more willing to disrupt their children's education in the early stages than later, when this might mean missing out on preparation for important examinations. Thirdly, the EAL Service survey does not include independent schools, and it is possible that there is a higher proportion of plurilingual students in independent schools, particularly those which have boarding facilities and target overseas families. Nevertheless, it seems likely that the methods of data collection employed in the two surveys are part of the reason for the differences in findings: asking students to report themselves on their other languages has probably increased the number of respondents describing themselves as plurilingual.

This chapter has focused on five key language groups: Scots and Gaelic speakers, because of their particular significance to discussion of a multilingual Scotland, and speakers of Chinese, Panjabi and Urdu, as three of the most widely spoken other languages. Although several European languages are also widely spoken, further analysis of the data relating to these groups could not be undertaken at this stage, because of the need for more detailed background information about European language-speaking communities in Scotland than is currently available.

The findings relating to the experiences of respondents from these five language groups – of studying their other languages outside school, their assessment of their competence in their other languages and their use of their other languages with different interlocutors and in different contexts – reveal different patterns of study, competence and use. The findings suggest that moves to maintain and develop competence in languages other than English will need to take into account different experiences of or attitudes towards formal study of the language, and different opportunities and choices for use of the language outside school.

For example, speakers of Chinese (Cantonese) demonstrate a high commitment to studying the language outside school: almost two thirds (64%) of this group are currently attending out-of-school classes, and some are studying Mandarin in addition to Cantonese. This level of commitment is reflected in their use of the language outside school: over four fifths of respondents say that they use Chinese with their parents, grandparents and other relatives, and over two thirds that they use Chinese with their siblings (the highest reported use of another language with siblings, from among the five language groups). They also report high levels of use of Chinese with friends and teachers. Chinese speakers are the most likely to use their other language at home and on the telephone, and to watch TV, films or videos in Chinese. Although they are more modest about their competence in relation to literacy skills than might be expected from their commitment to studying the language outside school, the findings show that a relatively high number of respondents make use of these skills, in reading books, newspapers or magazines in Chinese and in sending letters or emails in the language. From these findings, it can by hypothesised that formal moves to support the development of Chinese students' language skills in Chinese would therefore be likely to be widely welcomed by the Chinese community and would build not only on an existing good level of competence but on a desire to maintain the language and to make use of it in a range of different contexts.

In contrast, the data relating to Gaelic indicate that, despite existing initiatives to maintain the language, there are still a number of hurdles to be overcome. This reflects the rather unusual context for the development of plurilingualism involving Gaelic, in which families who are not themselves Gaelic speaking have the opportunity to send their children to the Gaelic medium unit in an Edinburgh primary school. These children are educated throughout the primary years through the medium of Gaelic but, when they move on to secondary school, no longer have the same opportunities for extensive exposure to the language; and indeed some may not have opportunities to continue to study the language at all. These children rightly regard themselves as plurilingual, in English and Gaelic, but it is not clear how they can maintain their Gaelic in a context in which they will no longer be able to hear or speak the language regularly, and in which there will be very limited demands on their literacy skills in Gaelic. Thus the data show that Gaelic speakers are the most confident about their literacy skills in the language, but no more likely than Chinese speakers (who have had less opportunity to develop literacy in Chinese and are more modest about their abilities) to make use of them. The unusual circumstances in which some of these respondents have become plurilingual mean that Gaelic speakers are the least likely to use their other language at home or with relatives, as likely to use Gaelic with friends as with their parents, and more likely to use the language with teachers than with siblings. These findings suggest therefore that moves to enable Gaelic speaking secondary students to maintain and develop their Gaelic skills need to take into account the fact that the children have limited 'community' opportunities to use their Gaelic. Possibly, opportunities need to be created to enable graduates of the GMU to meet, in contexts where they would make use of their Gaelic rather than their English, in order for these students to be able to use the language in social circumstances.

In seeking to identify the potential resource which these languages could represent for Edinburgh, and ultimately for Scotland, two aspects of respondents' language use which enable them to go beyond the domestic seem significant. Firstly, TV, film and video are clearly an important source of linguistic input for Chinese, Urdu and Panjabi speaking students. More research is needed into the amount of time which children who speak these languages spend watching TV programmes or films, and into their cultural and linguistic content, to determine how influential such material may be in enabling children to develop good comprehension skills in the standard forms of the languages they speak, and greater understanding of the relationship between language and culture. Given the limited amount of TV programming and film material available in Gaelic, these findings may suggest that greater investment in Gaelic speaking secondary students to develop the same kind of linguistic and cultural competences which some of their other plurilingual peers may gain through these media.

Secondly, the findings show that plurilingual communities face considerable problems in ensuring that their children become functionally literate in their other languages. Apart from the Chinese community, the data indicate that uptake of out-of-school classes is low. For the Panjabi (U and G) communities, given that several classes are available, the reason for low uptake is unclear. In the case of Gaelic, there seems to be limited provision. Fewer than a third of the respondents in the Chinese, Panjabi (U and G) groups say that they can read or write their other languages well, and over a third of the Panjabi (G) group say they are not literate in Panjabi at all. Thus it is not surprising that under a third²⁹ of these respondents say that they read books, magazines or newspapers in their other languages, or write letters or email messages.

These relatively low levels of literacy in the other languages have implications for the respondents themselves and, ultimately, for Scotland. Plurilingual adults who are pluriliterate will have access to information, to cultural resources and to professional opportunities not accessible to those (monolingual or plurilingual) who can read and write only in English. Pluriliterate people may make use of this access for personal reasons or for career and business purposes; whatever the reason, the ability to do this has the potential to enhance both the individual's cultural and professional development and Scotland's culture and economy. Currently, however, the Scottish education system

 $^{^{29}}$ A higher proportion of Chinese speakers – 42% - say that they read books, magazines or newspapers in Chinese, a finding which supports earlier interpretations of Chinese students' own assessment of their literacy skills as modest.

neglects the potential here to develop higher levels of pluriliteracy in the plurilingual population.

7. Motivation to learn and use other languages

7.1 Introduction

This chapter aims to bring together the perspectives of those whose principal experience of learning and using other languages is at school, with those who also have experience of learning and using other languages outside school. For the sake of expediency, these groups are defined as 'monolingual' and 'plurilingual', respectively, but, given that virtually all of those in the 'monolingual' group have some experience of learning another language, the label is not entirely accurate.

Because of the time limitations on students completing the survey, only a very small amount of information about respondents' motivation towards learning and using other languages could be sought. Two of the census questions were relevant here: one which asked students to say whether they would like to learn another language, believed to give some indication of their enthusiasm for languages; and one, consisting of four statements about language learning and use, with which respondents were asked to agree or disagree. In the sections which follow, the views of 'monolingual' and 'plurilingual' students are compared. The discussion is supplemented by reference to earlier studies conducted by the author and colleagues, in which similar questions were asked of national (but not entirely comparable) samples.

7.2 Why investigate motivation to learn and use other languages?

It is now well established, both in Scotland and in the UK as a whole, that our national performance in language learning is poor compared with many other European countries. A variety of explanations for this lack of interest or commitment to learning and using other languages has been put forward in recent policy documents (Moys, 1998; Minister's Action Group for Languages, 2000; Nuffield Languages Inquiry, 2000) and elsewhere: these include the rise of English as a 'global' language (leading to the assumption that other languages are not necessary), ambivalence about the relationship of the UK to the rest of Europe, the relative isolation of an island nation, and the quality of language teaching in schools, among others. (See McPake, forthcoming, for a more detailed discussion of explanations for the UK's failure to achieve high levels of plurilingualism.) Most of those who have commented on this issue have not done so in a disinterested fashion, but have wanted to identify ways of persuading people to change their minds. They believe that it is important to learn and use languages other than English for a number of reasons. These include the growing emphasis on mobility within the European Union, the view that British trade would increase if business people were better able to negotiate in languages other than English, and, perhaps more fundamentally, the belief that plurilingualism (and an associated pluriculturalism) is 'good' for people, in terms of intellectual and cultural growth, citizenship and democracy.

For these reasons, understanding language learner motivation and how to influence it has become a major focus of recent UK research, much of which draws on the work of psychologist Robert Gardner and colleagues (see in particular Gardner 1985). This work is concerned with the impact – positive or negative – of the social context in which

language learners study and use languages. Key concepts in Gardner's work include the notions of *integrative* and *instrumental* motivation. *Integrative motivation* refers to a positive disposition in the learner towards native speakers of the language studied, including the desire to communicate with them, to understand the culture and, in a sense, to become 'more like' the native speaker community (i.e. to integrate with the community, or at least to be able to do so on occasion). *Instrumental motivation* concerns the personal gains the learner hopes to make by learning another language. These can range from passing examinations or gaining entry to a higher level of education to improving job-prospects or getting a pay-rise.

Since Gardner, there has been a considerable amount of research focusing on different factors likely to influence motivation. Key recent contributions to this work include those of Dörnyei (1994), Oxford and Shearin (1994) and Nikolov (1999) who have focused more specifically on learners' motivation in the language classroom and sought to identify factors inherent in the learning experience which are likely to influence motivation. Some studies conducted in the UK, making use of the various insights which this body of research has generated, seem to have established that motivational factors deriving from students' classroom experiences are more influential than integrative or instrumental goals (Lee et al. 1998; Chambers 1999). This may be because neither integrative nor instrumental motivation is strong in the UK context, for the reasons set out above, or it may be that younger learners (these studies focused on learners in the early years of secondary education) are, in any case, more influenced by classroom experiences than by wider societal factors. McPake et al. (1999), in a study entitled Foreign Languages in the Upper Secondary School (FLUSS), which focused on students aged 15-17, concluded that the interaction of a number of factors led to a decline in uptake of language courses post-16. This interaction involved both the absence of instrumental motivation (students believed that languages would not be as useful for future study or career purposes as other school subjects), and negative experiences of language learning, characterised as 'difficult', in the sense of 'tedious' rather than 'intellectually challenging'. Together these factors were a stronger influence on student decisions to give up language study than the potentially positive influence of integrative motivation (such as the desire to travel abroad and to make contact with people from other countries) which was also found to be present.

These earlier studies have sought to correlate motivation with certain language learning outcomes, such as performance on tests or examinations, or the decision to continue or abandon language learning. In the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey, the principal aim of including items relating to motivation was to make comparisons between monolingual and plurilingual responses. The hypothesis was that plurilinguals would demonstrate higher motivation than monolinguals because their greater experience and expertise in language learning would make them feel more confident about their abilities, more aware of the benefits and therefore more committed to language learning.

At the time the survey was designed, there appeared to have been little research investigating the effects of learning one language on motivation for subsequent language learning. The hypothesis was therefore developed from reflection on teachers' assumptions about plurilinguals' ability to learn a 'foreign' language. In fact, there are two contrasting assumption, widely held: some teachers believe that plurilingual students, particularly those whose English is not totally fluent, will be less likely than monolingual English speakers to learn another language successfully; while others believe that those who have already learned at least one additional language will be better placed to learn a third or fourth language. The former group seem to believe that foreign language learning is mediated through English (this may or may not be true, depending on the teaching approach adopted) and therefore those who are not fluent in English will be at a disadvantage in the foreign language class. They also sometimes argue that learning 'too many' languages is confusing. The latter take the position that language learning becomes progressively easier, the more experience one has of doing it, and that therefore plurilinguals ought to have an advantage over monolinguals.

The field of third language acquisition is now becoming more prominent. Although there still appears to be relatively little work on motivation in this context, Olshtain (2001) has pointed out that these kinds of assumptions are simplistic. The full range of motivational factors applies to plurilingual learners of languages as it does to monolinguals:

Acquiring an additional language: second, third or fourth, will be greatly affected by the social, political and economic environment within which the acquisition process takes place. Motivation and investment in this process, either by the individual or by society, will depend on the value attached to prospective gains accompanying proficiency in the relevant language.

7.3 Comparing monolinguals' and plurilinguals' motivation

The items with a bearing on motivation in the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey can only be regarded as the most rudimentary indicators, as there was limited space on the form for this kind of investigation, in view of the constraints on the time available for students to complete it. The findings, comparing monolingual and plurilingual response for the five items which relate to motivation, are presented in Table 7a.

	Monolingual <u>N= 3315</u>	Plurilingual <u>N=525</u>
Would you like to learn another language apart from those you already know?	Yes 67%	Yes 69%
Everyone should be able to speak more than one language	<i>Agree</i> 61%	Agree 70%
Learning another language is difficult.	Agree 76%	Agree 65%
English is the only language I need to know	Agree 13%	Agree 9%
Knowing more than one language will be useful to me in the future	Agree 84%	Agree 88%

Table 7a: Student responses to five items related to motivation

Desire to learn another language

Respondents were asked to say whether they would like to learn another language, in addition to the one they were currently learning. This was regarded as giving some indication of the extent to which students enjoyed learning languages: if they wanted to learn another, this would suggest that they had positive views about their language learning experiences so far. The findings in relation to this item reveal very little difference between monolinguals, 67% of whom said that they would like to learn another language, and plurilinguals, 69% of whom said so. These responses are in line with other recent research, conducted as part of the Scottish Assessment of Achievement Programme (AAP), by the author and colleagues (McPake et al., under review) in which a nationally representative sample of French and German students in Primary 7 and Secondary 2 were asked the same question. In this study, 66% of the P7 students said that they would like to learn another language, compared with 45% of S2. These findings correlate with others which indicate that motivation to learn languages is relatively high in primary school, but declines in the course of secondary education. The students surveyed in the Languages of Edinburgh survey had only recently left P7 when they completed the census form, and therefore it is not surprising that their responses are closer to the P7 than to the S2 levels.

Importance of knowing other languages, apart from English

Respondents were then asked to agree or disagree with four statements which reflected some of the factors which had been identified as influential in earlier research and policy discussion. These included saying whether they agreed that everyone should be able to speak more than one language, or conversely, whether English was the only language they needed to know. The latter statement reflects what is thought to be the widespread position among anglophones, while the former, effectively, presents the opposite view. In fact, our earlier studies (FLUSS and AAP) had shown that relatively few school students, when presented with a stark statement such as 'English is the only language I need to know' tend not to agree. In the two studies, 10% or fewer agreed with the statement in Primary 7 (age 10-11), Secondary 4 (age 15-16) and Secondary 5 (age 16-17). Secondary 2 (age 12-13) students, however, were more convinced: 21% agreed.

In the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey, 13% of the monolingual students agreed, compared with 9% of the plurilingual students. This shows little difference between the two groups, but it is striking to find that a proportion of plurilinguals equivalent to national norms for this age group, agrees that English is the only language needed. Analysis of the responses given by those belonging to the five language groups discussed in Chapter 6 (Scots, Gaelic, Chinese, Panjabi and Urdu) reveals that part of the answer lies in the responses of the Scots speakers, 19% of whom agreed that English was the only language they needed. This finding raises some difficult questions, firstly about what Scots speakers see to be the relationship between Scots and English, and secondly about the possibility that positively identifying as a speaker of Scots might – for a small proportion of this group – correlate with negative attitudes towards other languages. These issues need further exploration. It should also be noted that a small number of the other plurilinguals also agreed that English was the only language they needed, suggesting that the negative attitudes towards languages other than English which are to

be found in wider Scottish and UK society may affect some plurilinguals too. However, the main finding here, and from our earlier research, is that relatively few respondents accept a position which is widely held by policy-makers and the media to reflect majority opinion.

If phrased more positively – 'Everyone should be able to speak more than one language' – would respondents still indicate such a high level of commitment to plurilingualism? Respondents did not accept this statement as strongly as they rejected the view that English is the only language needed, but the findings are still positive: 61% of monolinguals and 70% of plurilinguals thought that everyone should speak more than one language. Although the difference between monolinguals and plurilinguals here is greater than on the previous item, it is still not very large. Again one can infer from this that there are plurilinguals who do not think that everyone should be able to speak more than one language. In fact 9% hold this view; the remainder are unsure. Possibly these are the same plurilingual respondents who believe that English is the only language they need to know.

Difficulty of learning another language

FLUSS had shown that many students regarded language learning as 'difficult', a term which emerged as implying 'tedious' rather than 'challenging'. A statement to this effect was used in the AAP study and in the Languages of Edinburgh survey, producing somewhat different results. While three quarters (76%) of the monolingual respondents in the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey and two thirds (65%) of the plurilingual respondents thought that learning another language was difficult, less than half (46%) of the P7 or S2 students in the AAP survey agreed with this statement. One explanation for this may be that the AAP students completed the survey after having taken part in an assessment task which the majority had enjoyed, and believed that they had done well. This experience may have coloured their thinking about the difficulties of language learning. The differences between the responses on the two surveys illustrate ways in which external contextual factors could influence the kinds of responses produced in surveys of this kind. This is the item on which the difference between monolinguals and plurilinguals is the greatest and so may suggest that plurilinguals are a little less daunted by the demands of language learning or that they find it more interesting (depending on the interpretation of 'difficult').

Future usefulness of knowing another language.

For the last item in this set, respondents were asked to say whether they thought that being able to speak another language would be useful to them in the future. This is perhaps the most important statement in that it should correlate with a key element in instrumental motivation, and one which the FLUSS study had shown was weak for many upper secondary school students. In terms of developing Edinburgh's or Scotland's linguistic resource, a positive response to this type of statement is important because clearly those who do not think that being able to speak another language will be useful to them in the future will not invest in developing these skills. This applies as much to plurilingual respondents as to monolinguals, because, as the Chapter 3 discussion of earlier studies of plurilingual communities in the UK has shown, attrition is a major concern. Plurilinguals who think that their other languages have little value are likely to lose them as they grow older. It is encouraging, therefore, that over four fifths of the respondents thought that knowing another language would be useful to them in future. There was, however, little difference between the monolinguals (84% of whom agreed) and the plurilinguals (88% of whom agreed) on this issue, suggesting that plurilingualism does not necessarily predispose students towards a more positive view of the role of languages in their future lives than is the case for monolinguals. Whether many respondents from either group will act on this view when it comes to making subject choices post-16 is difficult to say.

7.4 Conclusions

These findings suggest that survey participants had relatively high levels of motivation towards learning and using languages at the time the survey was carried out. Other research indicates that motivation is, however, likely to decline over the course of secondary education. Perhaps the main conclusion to be drawn from this analysis of a limited number of items with a bearing on motivation to learn languages is that, contrary to the initial hypothesis, plurilinguals do not appear to be more highly motivated towards language learning than monolingual students, at least at this stage of their education. As Olshtain's comment indicates, this is undoubtedly because the same wide range of factors which influence monolinguals' motivation affect plurilinguals too. If plurilinguals grow up in a society in which languages other than the dominant language of that society have little value, they may well not see a role for their other languages in the future, except perhaps for family occasions and, in some cases, for religious purposes.

8. Evaluation of the pilot

8.1 Introduction

The *Languages of Edinburgh* survey was devised as a pilot, to establish whether it would be feasible to map the languages of Scotland via a national census of S1 students. A key goal of the pilot was to produce language maps similar to those for London created by Baker and Eversley (2000). The population of Scotland is smaller than that of London, and, like London, Scotland is divided for administrative purposes into just over 30 local authorities (32 in Scotland, 33 in inner and outer London). This suggests a certain degree of comparability. However, unlike London, collection of information about children's other languages is patchy in Scotland; and even in London, the methods used to collect this information cannot be said to produce entirely reliable results. Baker and Eversley themselves suggested that the quality of the data could be improved by the use of the same census across London, and therefore the *Languages of Edinburgh* represents a trialling also of that idea, with a census based on a modified version of the questionnaire suggested by Baker and Eversley.

The evaluation of this pilot study is principally an evaluation of the census exercise, in terms of the logistics and of the value of the census form. The production of language maps for Edinburgh is yet to be undertaken, and may raise further issues in relation to the mapping of Scotland, given that the plurilingual population of Scotland is much smaller than that of London and probably more scattered.

8.2 Logistics

This section considers the logistics of conducting a city-wide census and considers what this would mean for a national census.

The administrative demands of the exercise are substantial, requiring contact with the local authority and with headteachers of all the schools involved in the study. In Edinburgh, both the authority representatives and virtually all the headteachers contacted were interested in the research and willing to take part. A small number of headteachers were less enthusiastic, in most cases because their schools were already involved in other research projects and were unwilling to use up more staff time on such tasks. Two headteachers (one of a state school and one of an independent school) refused to take part without giving reasons: in fact the researcher was unable to speak to these headteachers (the message was passed on by school secretaries in both cases) and therefore it has not been possible to establish why they did not wish to take part. Some of the special school headteachers were initially unwilling for their students to take part and extensive discussion was required to establish whether or not the students could provide the information sought. In most cases, it was necessary to interview the special school students on a one-to-one basis.

The personal contact approach adopted by the researcher was feasible in a city-wide survey, but would be difficult to sustain for a national census. In this case, a more effective approach might be to engage local authorities more actively in the task, asking them to take on the census as authority-wide initiative in each case, and using existing channels of communication with headteachers to agree a timetable and procedures for the administration of the census in mainstream schools. There is still a case for researchers to conduct the interviews in special schools, however. The experience of discussing the census with special school staff indicated that the potential contribution which their students could make to the survey was sometimes underestimated; furthermore, for these students to be interviewed by teachers from their own school would undermine the principle of confidentiality which previous research has indicated is important if students are to provide detailed information about their language histories. Independent schools would also need to be contacted by the researchers, with the help of the Scottish Council for Independent Schools.

Timing of the census is another important factor. It was decided to conduct the Edinburgh survey early in the autumn term for a number of reasons. Other research (perhaps most notably the two AAP studies in which the author and colleagues have been involved: Johnstone et al. 2000 and McPake et al., under review) has established that students' attitudes towards languages change in the early years of secondary education. Generally speaking, primary students are enthusiastic about language learning and about the expansion of their horizons which the idea of being able to speak another language suggests to them. By the time they have reached S2, however, this enthusiasm has dulled considerably. This may be a consequence of adolescence, of the fading of the 'novelty factor' in learning another language, the result of the kind of language teaching they experience at secondary school, or greater awareness of wider societal attitudes towards languages in Scotland – or indeed an interaction of some or all of these factors. It seemed important to capture students' experiences when they were still relatively positive about languages, because in this frame of mind they would presumably be more willing to provide information about their languages. Even later on in the year, they could already have become jaded and fail to contribute as much information.

Some commentators have suggested that, for these kinds of reasons, it would be better to conduct the survey at the end of P7 rather than the beginning of S1, and this may be the case. However, the logistics of a primary survey are more complicated, because of the much larger number of schools involved. Moreover, the information collected is of ongoing relevance to secondary schools, and to planning for this sector, while it has little lasting value for primaries as it represents the language background of students who are about to leave. Therefore, it seemed better to conduct the survey at the beginning of S1. The experience of conducting the survey in the early autumn has been positive: there were very few hitches, and few schools commented that they were too busy to fit the survey in, as might have been the case later in the year. It therefore seems appropriate to recommend that a national survey be conducted in the same period.

Cost also needs to be taken into account. On the basis of this pilot, production and processing of census forms costs around £2 per questionnaire. For an estimated S1 population of around 60000 students across Scotland, this means that the basic costs of a national census would be well over £100000. This figure does not include any researcher time. It is therefore very important to be able to demonstrate that the information

collected is worth both the financial costs and the demands to be made on many people's time.

8.3 The census form

This section considers how effective the census form was in generating the kind of information sought for this study. A slightly modified version of the form is included as Appendix A: the main modifications consist of the removal of routing instructions, for the purposes of displaying the results.

Overall, the form appears to have been successful. Though brief, it generated a wealth of data, as discussed in Chapters 5, 6 and 7. From the pre-pilot phase, when the teachers who administered the questionnaire provided feedback on the exercise, it seemed that students experienced little difficulty in understanding the questions and in providing the kind of information sought. Although teachers were not asked to provide feedback in the case of the full survey, there do not appear to have been major problems of comprehension or response.

The structuring of the questionnaire in which students were first asked questions about their language learning at school (an experience common to almost all) and then moved on to questions about language learning and use outside school seems to have worked well as an inclusive approach to a topic which, for the various reasons discussed elsewhere in this report, can be perceived by respondents as sensitive and possibly threatening. Though it is not possible to tell how many – if any – plurilingual respondents chose not to provide information about their other languages, the fact that the plurilingual proportion of the population is considerably higher than previously estimated suggests that most were willing to respond to questions on this topic.

There are, however, a number of modifications which would improve the quality of the data if a similar survey were to be conducted in future. These are listed below, following the order of the items on the form.

Primary languages

Two further questions would provide more detailed background information to help establish the extent of competence which students have acquired in other languages before starting secondary school:

- a question on the 'main' language studied, to distinguish between what may have been 'taster sessions' in several languages, and the language (or possibly languages) which have been studied over a substantial period of time (e.g. one year or longer);
- a question on primary medium of instruction, principally to identify students who attended GMUs, but possibly others who have been taught another language through partial immersion (an approach currently on trial in Aberdeen, and one which may be taken up by other schools); in addition, this would identify which of the respondents who had attended school in other countries in the past had studied through the medium of another language.

Language classes outside school

A number of additional questions would also provide more detailed background information to help establish the extent of competence which students have acquired in the languages they study outside school, and more about the nature of the provision:

- whether students had studied another language outside school in the past;
- how many years students had studied another language outside school;
- how much time per week students spent at language classes outside school;
- where the classes were held this would help to establish whether there are other providers in addition to those classes supported by the City of Edinburgh Council.

Languages in use outside school

In this section, several questions could be asked to help to distinguish between people who are plurilingual because of family or other links with places where their other languages are widely spoken and those who are enthusiastic language learners, practising the languages they are studying at school when at home, e.g.

• whether the language(s) were first learned at home, at school or elsewhere

It would also be useful to include questions based on those used in the Canadian census (see Chapter 2), such as:

- whether the respondent can conduct a conversation in the other language(s) this question may need some exemplification and it would be useful to see whether the supporting notes which accompany the Canadian census provide some guidance on this point;
- which language the respondent most often speaks at home.

It seems clear that the question about other languages in use outside school does not generate the kind of data about Scots which would be of value. More research needs to be done to establish whether a census style question can be used to identify Scots speakers in a meaningful way. This would be useful not only for future language surveys but also, potentially, for the next national Census in 2011.

Contexts for other language use

It could be helpful to review the question relating to *where* respondents use their other languages (question 12), considering whether other types of context should be added, particularly cultural-specific contexts, in relation at least to the main other languages in use. It appears that this type of question has not been used in language surveys in the past, but it has significant implications for understanding the potential language resource of a city or a nation, and therefore requires more thought. Qualitative research with speakers of the main other languages would help to identify key contexts for other language use.

Motivation

The range of motivation statements included in the questionnaire is too limited for very firm conclusions about learner motivation to be drawn. These could be expanded, drawing on those already used in other Scottish studies which include elements on learner motivation, in conjunction with a review of the most recent work in this area.

Alternatively, these statements could be removed and replaced by others which would more directly relate to language resource issues, focusing on the future use which speakers of languages other than English anticipate for these languages, e.g.:

- In the future ...
 - ... I expect to use another language (or languages) as well as English when studying at college or university
 - ... I expect to use another language (or languages) as well as English in my career
 - ... I expect to use other languages as well as English with the people I work with;
 - ... I expect to be able to search for information (in books, newspapers, on the internet and elsewhere) in other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to be able to send letters and email messages in other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to watch films, TV programmes, videos in other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to read books, magazines, newspapers in other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to play computer games which use other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to listen to music from around the world, using other languages as well as English
 - ... I expect to speak another language (or languages), apart from English, with members of my family
 - ... I expect to speak to my children in another language (or languages) apart from English
 - ... I expect to speak to my friends in another language (or languages) apart from English

The wording for these statements as set out here is cumbersome and work would need to be done to refine and pilot them, as there may be ambiguity in some of the statements. It would also be helpful to find a way of investigating which languages respondents are referring to in relation to these statements – it is possible that students who speak languages such as Chinese or Panjabi might agree with many of these, but in relation to French, for example, or that students associate the various languages they know with different kinds of linguistic activities. It would, however, be easy to make this a very complicated question which students would find difficult to understand.

8.4 Conclusions

As a pilot exercise, the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey has been successful both in terms of logistics and of the amount of data, relevant to the aims of the research, which has been collected. A national survey would be much more demanding, logistically, and therefore the support for local authorities for such an exercise would be crucial to its success. Modifications to the form would eradicate some of the ambiguities produced by the current version and generate additional valuable information, although if all the additions suggested in section 8.3 were included and few of the existing elements omitted, the form would probably double in length, increasing production and processing costs and the amount of time needed to complete it. There is, as yet, no answer to the

question of how, meaningfully, to include Scots in a study of this kind. This is an issue for which more research is urgently needed.

9 Conclusions

9.1 Introduction

This chapter considers what the findings from the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey can tell us about the nature of current language resources, their future potential, and the kind of investment required to help ensure this potential is realised. As stated in Chapter 1, this would be the fundamental goal of a study mapping the languages of Scotland. It is not necessarily appropriate to extrapolate from conclusions drawn about Edinburgh to Scotland as a whole and therefore the issues raised in this chapter should be regarded as suggestions concerning possible wider implications rather than firm conclusions, given that a national survey is still required.

9.2 Estimating the plurilingual population of Scotland

If the findings of the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey were replicated across Scotland, they would indicate that the proportion of the population which is plurilingual is likely to be larger than currently estimated. There are currently no reliable figures for Scotland as a whole: the 'best guess' approach, adopted by Landon (2001) and others has been to add the figures for the minority ethnic population to those for Gaelic speakers. Although not all people of minority ethnic origin are plurilingual, the Census data are thought to underreport the true figure for this group in Scotland, so these two unknown elements might be thought to cancel each other out. On this basis, using the 1991 Census data as a baseline, the plurilingual population would be around 130000. In the intervening period, the Gaelic speaking population is likely to have declined, but the ethnic minority population to have increased, so again it could be hypothesised that these changes will cancel each other out. This estimate suggests that 2.6% of the Scottish population is plurilingual.

However, the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey findings suggest that this would still considerably underestimate the position. The 'best guess' estimate takes no account of people who speak other European languages (who make up 39% of the plurilingual population in the *Languages of Edinburgh* survey), most of whom are presumably classified as 'White' on the Census; nor of people who use sign languages or AAC to communicate. Without a national census, we cannot say whether the figures for Edinburgh in relation to these languages are typical of the country as a whole or not. The estimate does not cover speakers of Scots, although the question of whether and how to include Scots speakers remains difficult to resolve. At any rate, to suggest that around 5% of the Scottish population is plurilingual is probably still a conservative estimate.

9.3 Identifying and investing in Scotland's language resources

If 5% of Scotland's population is plurilingual what sort of a resource does this represent? The findings indicate three 'groups' of languages to consider: 'world' languages European languages, and 'local' languages. There are a number of reasons for dividing the languages up in this way. World languages are defined as languages of major international significance, such as Chinese, Japanese, Hindi, Arabic. Several 'European' languages are also 'world' languages, but the point of differentiating between world and

European languages here is that both the European Union and the Council of Europe have developed policies to promote plurilingualism in European languages, to support communication amongst Europeans and particularly to encourage mobility. Thus educational policy in the UK, as elsewhere in Europe, is likely to continue to favour European over world languages. Local languages are those with limited European or international significance but quite possibly of high cultural value in specific areas. The main local languages discussed in this report have been Gaelic and Scots, which are of particular interest in Scotland but less so elsewhere. However, the term potentially includes the languages of other communities in Scotland, speaking a language – such as Maltese or Visnayan – which also represents a local social and cultural resource, possibly in Scotland, certainly in the countries where these languages are widely spoken, and probably also in certain other parts of the world where people speaking these languages have gone to live.

World languages as a resource

If the findings of the Languages of Edinburgh survey were replicated across Scotland, they would suggest the potential to develop capacity in at least three major world languages – Chinese, Panjabi and Urdu – by capitalising on the existing skills of children who already have a 'head start' in these languages. Investment in Chinese could be particularly advantageous, as the Edinburgh survey indicates there is very clear commitment in the community to maintaining the language, in terms of the level of participation in out-of-school classes and of the extent to which children are using Chinese in their daily lives. More research is needed into plurilingual students' commitment to formal language learning, to their perceptions of what they expect to be able to do with their other languages (for example, do they intend to use their other languages with their own children? do they see their plurilingualism as having career advantages?), and to the outcomes of existing provision. Development of provision would include not only considering extending school provision for Urdu (in Edinburgh very few Urdu speakers appear to be attending schools where Urdu is taught) and introducing school-based provision for Chinese, but also addressing the lack of opportunities to study these languages in further and higher education. There are no degree courses in Urdu in Scotland, and those in Chinese focus on classical literature, primarily in Mandarin. There therefore appear to be very few opportunities for speakers of these languages to develop them in the context of their academic or career choices.

The value of enabling these students to develop their skills in their other languages is not only in the potential economic benefits that these might bring, but in a range of other contributions they could make professionally, culturally and socially. There is, for example, a serious shortage of translators and interpreters in 'community' languages in Scotland, and a need for more plurilingual professionals in the police, education, health and social services and counselling (McPake and Johnstone, 2002). Similarly, as indicated in the National Cultural Strategy, there is a need to support and develop the cultural contribution of the other languages of Scotland (Scottish Executive 2000a).

European languages as a resource

The potential resource which European languages represent for Scotland is more widely understood but not necessarily easy to capitalise on. The rationale for developing Scotland's capacity, particularly in European languages, is set out in the Minister's Action Group for Languages report (2000). This draws attention to the economic benefits for the nation, the importance of mobility within Europe for those about to embark on their careers, and on a range of other social, cultural and intellectual benefits. As pointed out elsewhere in this report, it is, however, difficult to persuade the Scottish population of these benefits.

What do the survey data contribute to this debate? They provide us with a snapshot of children's language learning experiences in the relatively early stages. These show that, in Edinburgh, quite a large number of children have already had experience of learning more than one other language at school, although, now that they are at secondary school, French is the principal European language studied. It would require a series of surveys to establish trends: in particular whether French is becoming more dominant, as many suspect. On several of the questionnaires, respondents listed the other languages they had studied at primary school as languages they could speak, but added boxes to the lists of interlocutors and contexts for use which read 'no-one' and 'nowhere'. What could be done to enable students to retain some connection with the languages they studied in primary school but now have no further opportunity to learn? Investment in this case might involve provision of after-school classes or the development of self-study or distance learning courses not only for students who have had to give up their primary language but perhaps also to capitalise on the interest of those students (two thirds of the Languages of Edinburgh survey participants) who would study another language in addition to the language they are currently learning at school.

At this stage in their educational careers, *Languages of Edinburgh* survey respondents have relatively positive views about learning other languages, although other research evidence suggests that this is likely to change in the course of their secondary schooling. How to maintain that early enthusiasm is a challenge which many language educators are currently addressing, though solutions are so far elusive. However, among the survey respondents are a group characterised in this report as 'keen language learners'. These are the respondents who said that they spoke languages other than English outside school because they practised the languages that they were learning at school when at home. This is a small group but potentially important. Are they the linguists of the future? What might be done to sustain the enthusiasm and commitment of this group, and how might other children be encouraged to follow their example, seeing the languages they are learning as something more than a school subject? The survey has thus uncovered a potentially valuable element of the resource, but one which requires further study in order to identify an appropriate investment strategy.

In addition, the survey has established that a substantial proportion of the plurilingual school population are speakers of European languages. Very little is known about these students. With the possible, and now largely historical, exceptions of Greek and Italian speakers, they do not feature very highly in studies of ethnic minorities or plurilingual
communities in the UK. We do not know how many of these students are likely to be long-term residents and how many are the children of 'mobile' European workers located in Scotland for a short period of time before moving on elsewhere. We have little information relating to ways in which these children maintain and develop their other languages, an issue which will be of particular significance to them if they are expecting to return to an education system in which native-like fluency in their other language will be required for academic success. (See McPake and Powney, 1995, for a discussion of some of the issues raised for Japanese students moving between two educational cultures.)

Sometimes children who are 'transient' in this sense are not seen as a priority by education systems, because they will not remain in Scotland long enough for a 'return' to be gained on the 'investment'. However, a broader understanding of the resource they represent would refute such views. Given their family histories, many of these children may grow up to be 'mobile' Europeans themselves. Positive experiences of their time in Scotland (including supportive rather than dismissive attitudes towards their other languages) may predispose them to returning to study or to work here. They may bring inward investment, they may foster cultural links, they may promote Scotland in a variety of ways in other parts of the world. Of course these arguments apply not only to 'transient' students from Europe, but also to those from any other part of the world – including refugees. Investment in the language resource which this group of students possesses therefore requires a longer term view, recognising that support to enable them to retain high standards of competence in their other languages could pay substantial dividends in the future.

Local languages as a resource

The most widely spoken local languages in Scotland are Scots and Gaelic. The relationship which the Scottish population has with these languages, whether or not they speak either or both, is ambivalent. On the one hand, there is pride in the distinctive cultural traditions these languages represent and a desire to preserve and celebrate these as features of the 'new Scotland', post-devolution. On the other hand, the long history of suppressing these languages cannot easily be eradicated. Many Scots speakers seek to eliminate Scots from their own speech and particularly from that of their children. Many Gaelic-speaking families feel that their children will benefit more from an education in the medium of English rather than Gaelic. Neglect has brought Gaelic to the brink of extinction and makes any assessment of the use of Scots in Scotland difficult or impossible to conduct.

The *Languages of Edinburgh* survey data provide some evidence of changing attitudes and experiences, but also some warnings about the possibility that the potential resource these languages represent risks disappearing if it is not nurtured. The findings show that the existence of the GMU in Edinburgh is creating children who regard themselves as plurilingual in English and Gaelic, thus swelling the existing small population of Gaelicspeakers in the city. Similar effects will result from the work of other GMUs across Scotland, both in the *Gàidhealtachd* and in areas which are not traditionally Gaelic speaking. But whether educated in the GMU or Gaelic-speaking as a result of family experience, secondary students, particularly those outside the *Gàidhealtachd* have limited opportunities to use their Gaelic, whether through formal language learning or in social or cultural contexts. Because of the particular circumstances in which they became plurilingual, the GMU graduates may now only very rarely meet other Gaelic speakers. Compared with the speakers of many of the other languages in use in Edinburgh, there are few resources – books, newspapers, films, TV programmes – which they can use to maintain their comprehension of the language and the literacy skills they have acquired. These features of their circumstances raise some serious – and as yet unanswered – questions about the long-term outcomes of Gaelic medium education. Will the substantial investment in primary Gaelic be negated by subsequent neglect? These are clearly issues to be addressed at national level.

The findings for Scots are complex and confusing. It is probable that a survey of this kind is not the best way to investigate the nature and extent of competence in Scots among schoolchildren. Nevertheless, the findings raise issues which future studies need to take into account. It seems clear that school students (and probably others) tend not to understand questions about the *languages* they speak as including Scots. On the other hand, there is also evidence that some children reject the notion that the language they speak is called 'English', presumably on the basis that not being English is a key tenet of Scottish identity. The survey thus includes under-reporting of Scots, because some Scots speakers did not understand a question about languages to include Scots, and overreporting because some people refuse to call the language they speak 'English'.

What those who identified themselves as Scots speakers understood 'Scots' to mean is also difficult to ascertain. Other research has indicated that people may regard themselves as Scots speakers because they have a Scottish accent, because they use occasional Scots words in their speech, or, alternatively, only consider themselves to be Scots speakers if they habitually use what is sometimes called 'broad Scots' – i.e. a variety whose vocabulary, pronunciation and structure would present comprehension difficulties for a speaker of standard English. The possibility that Scots and English exist in a diglossic relationship is also difficult to explore. Many people seem unaware of the fact that they shift from one to the other, depending on the context, and this may be the reason why those who identified as Scots speakers confidently assert that they use Scots at school, that they read and write in Scots and have achieved high levels of literacy. These are possible but perhaps unlikely scenarios.

A worrying finding is that those who identified as Scots speakers were more likely than other survey respondents to think that 'English is the only language I need to know'. Paradoxical though this statement seems, it raises the possibility that a Scots identity is associated with parochialism. Action may be needed to enable Scots speakers to see themselves in a wider social context – possibly European – rather than locked into an identity whose principal characteristic is 'not English'.

In these circumstances what can be said about Gaelic and Scots as a resource? There is already widespread interest in the cultural connotations of the two languages. It is perhaps assumed that people can continue to enjoy these cultural assets without any investment in the languages. After all, people have continued to speak Gaelic and Scots over decades – even centuries – despite the moves to eradicate them. Now that the climate is more propitious, will they not flourish, even without any formal support? This is of course possible, but surely failing to provide support for the development of these languages cannot be regarded as an effective strategy. It also ignores the cumulative effects of centuries of neglect. How much more vibrant might the Scots and Gaelic cultural scene be if both were taught in schools and all Scottish children taught to see themselves as the inheritors of a multicultural and multilingual cultural heritage rather than one which prizes only English?

9.4 Potential returns on the investment

In his critique of language and literacy policy in Scotland, Lo Bianco (2001) identifies six dimensions of a nation's language resource: intellectual, cultural, economic, social, citizenship and rights. A nation which invests in all its languages is therefore likely to see:

- *enhanced intellectual and academic achievement* of all children, particularly those brought up plurilingually; a vast body of research from around the world points to the fact that plurilingual children whose other languages are ignored or devalued in an educational context may underachieve as a consequence, but those whose other languages are supported both by positive attitudes and by educational provision which enables them to develop formal language and literacy skills often excel academically, outperforming peers who are monolingual in the dominant language (see Portes and Hao, 2002 for very recent research in this area);
- *enriched cultural activities in all arts fields*, drawing on the traditions and creative potential of many languages and cultures, and also on the rich possibilities of hybridity which a multicultural city or nation presents;
- *greatly increased possibilities for trade and investment*, not just in the relatively narrow sense of greater linguistic ability *per se* but also because of the network of social and cultural links between people who speak the same language, increasing ability to identify potential markets, understand cultural practices in relation to trade, and embrace the career opportunities of enhanced mobility;
- *heightened capacity to compete in the knowledge economy*, gathering information not only from English language sources but from the growing volume of information available via the internet and other sources in other languages, and also disseminating information multilingually;
- *improved social services*, catering for people in linguistically and culturally more appropriate ways, identifying needs and opportunities which monolingual staff may be unaware of, fostering a sense of inclusion and well-being;
- greater opportunities for participation in public life, and for shaping democratic practices by helping to break down the barriers which can be created by traditional

monolingual political language practices, and by reflecting and drawing on the ideas and interests of everyone;

• *better strategies to combat prejudice, promote tolerance and mutual understanding,* through the valuing of other languages and the cultures they represent and by providing opportunities to address these issues multilingually.

These are returns which would seem to justify investment in Scotland's language resources.

References

- AITKEN, A. (1982). Bad Scots: Some Superstitions about Scots Speech. Scottish Language 1 (Autumn): 30-44.
- ANDY McALPINE ASSOCIATES (2001). *Report of the National Priorities in Education Workshop on Performance Indicators*. (21-22 June). Available at: <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/education/nationalpriorities/</u>
- ARSHAD, R. (2001). Race Equity in Education. A Scottish Perspective. Lecture given at the Ontario Institute of Education, Toronto, Canada. Available at: <u>http://www.mhie.ac.uk/~ceres/CERES%20WEBSITE2002/CERES.html</u>
- AUDREY, S. (2000). Multiculturalism in Practice: Irish, Jewish, Italian and Pakistani Migration to Scotland. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- BAKER, P. and EVERSLEY, J. (2000). *Multilingual Capital: The languages of London's* schoolchildren and their relevance to economic, social and educational policies. London: Battlebridge Publications.
- BARR, B. (1983). Chinese. In J.D. McClure (ed.) *Minority Languages in Central Scotland.* Aberdeen: Association for Scottish Literary Studies, University of Aberdeen.
- BLUNKETT, D. (2002). Integration with Diversity: Globalisation and the Renewal of Democracy and Civil Society. In P. Griffith and M. Leonard (eds.) *Reclaiming Britishness*. London: The Foreign Policy Centre. Available at: <u>http://www.observer.co.uk/race/story/0,11255,792231,00.html</u>
- CHAN, A. (1982). The Chinese in Scotland: Their Educational, Employment and Social Needs in British Society in the Past 20 Years. Glasgow: Multicultural and International Education Unit, University of Glasgow.
- CHAMBERS, G. (1999). *Motivating Language Learners*. Cleveland: Multilingual Matters.
- COUNCIL OF EUROPE (n.d.) Council of Europe Language Policy. Available at: <u>http://www.coe.int/T/E/Cultural_Co-</u> <u>operation/education/Languages/Language_Policy/_Summary.asp</u>

— (2001). *Common European Framework of Reference for Languages*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available at: <u>http://www.coe.int/T/E/Cultural_Co-</u><u>operation/education/Languages/Language_Policy/Common_Framework_of_Reference/cadre.asp#TopOfPage</u>

- CRAWFORD, J. (2002). *Making Sense of Census 2000*. Arizona State University Language Policy Research Unit Feature Article. Available at: http://www.asu.edu/educ/epsl/LPRU/features/article5.htm
- DALBY, D. (1999): The Linguasphere Register of the World's Languages and Speech Communities. Hebron, Wales. The Linguasphere Press.
- DÖRNYEI, Z. (1994): Motivation and motivating in the foreign language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 78 (iii): 273-84.
- DÓSA, A. (1999). Language, Dialect or Accent? Some contemporary perceptions of the present status and potential uses of Scots. *Scottish Language*, 18: 69-86.
- EDINBURGH EAL SERVICE (2000). Statistical Summaries of EAL Provision in Schools and Bilingual Pupils in City of Edinburgh Council Schools and Partner Pre-School Centres. Edinburgh: City of Edinburgh Council.
- (2002) *Statistical Summaries of EAL Provision in Schools*. Edinburgh: City of Edinburgh Council.
- FISHMAN, J. and TERRY, C. (1969). The Validity of Census Data on Bilingualism in a Puerto-Rican Neighborhood. *American Journal of Sociology*, 75 (November): 636-650.
- GARDNER, R. (1985). Social Psychology and Language Learning: The Role of Attitudes and Motivation. London: Edward Arnold.
- HAMERS, J. and BLANC, M. (1989). *Bilinguality and Bilingualism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- HELLER, M. (1999). Linguistic Minorities and Modernity: A Sociolinguistic Ethnography. London: Longman.
- (2002). Globalisation and the commodification of bilingualism in Canada. In D. Block and D. Cameron (eds.) *Globalisation and Language Teaching*. London: Routledge.
- HOME AFFAIRS COMMITTEE, GREAT BRITAIN PARLIAMENT HOUSE OF COMMONS (1985). *Chinese Community in Britain* 2nd Report. London: HMSO.
- IACUANIELLO, F. (1993). Linguistic Awareness and Attitudes in a Sample of Scottish Speakers. *Scottish Language* (11/12): 62-71.
- ILEA RESEARCH AND STATISTICS BRANCH (1979). Report on the 1978 Census of those ILEA Pupils for whom English was not a First Language. London: Inner London Education Authority.

- --- (1982) 1981 Language Census. London: Inner London Education Authority.
- --- (1983) 1983 Language Census. London: Inner London Education Authority.
- --- (1986) 1985 Language Census. London: Inner London Education Authority.
- ---- (1989) 1989 Language Census. London: Inner London Education Authority.
- JOHNSTONE, R. (1994a). The Impact of Current Developments to Support the Gaelic Language: Review of Research. London: CILT.
- (1994b). *Teaching Modern Languages at Primary School*. Edinburgh: Scottish Council for Research in Education.
- (2001) Immersion in a Second or Additional Language at School: Evidence from International Research. Stirling: Scottish CILT.
 Available at: <u>http://www.scilt.stir.ac.uk/pubs.htm#067</u>
- -- (forthcoming). The age factor. In Council of Europe. *Guide for Language Policy Makers.* Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publishing
- JOHNSTONE, R., CAVANI, J., LOW, L. and McPAKE, J. (2000). Assessing Modern Languages Achievement: A Scottish Pilot Study of Late Primary and Early Secondary Pupils. London: Centre for Information on Language Teaching and Research. Available at: <u>http://www.cilt.org.uk/research/aap.htm</u>
- JOHNSTONE, R., HARLEN, W., MacNEIL, M., STRADLING, B. and THORPE, G. (1999). *The attainments of pupils receiving Gaelic-medium Primary Education in Scotland*. Stirling: Scottish CILT.
- JONES, H.R. and DAVENPORT, M. (1972). The Pakistani community in Dundee. A study of its growth and demographic structure. *Scottish Geographical Magazine* 88 (2): 75-85.
- KHAN, F., (1991). The Urdu Speech Community. In S. Alladina and V. Edwards (eds.) Multilingualism in the British Isles Vol. 2: Africa, the Middle East and Asia. London: Longman.
- LAND, A. (2000): 'Languages speak volumes for global business'. In Baker, P. and Eversley, J. (eds.). *Multilingual Capital: The languages of London's schoolchildren and their relevance to economic, social and educational policies*. London: Battlebridge Publications.
- LANDON, J. (2001). Community Languages. *Multicultural Teaching*, 20 (1). (Special edition: '*Race' and the New Scotland*.)

- LEARNING AND TEACHING SCOTLAND (2000a). *Modern Languages: 5-14 National Guidelines.* Dundee: Learning and Teaching Scotland.
- LEARNING AND TEACHING SCOTLAND (2000b). 5-14 National Guidelines Modern Languages Guide for Teachers and Managers. Dundee: Learning and Teaching Scotland.
- LEE, J., BUCKLAND, D. and SHAW, G. (1998). *The Invisible Child: The Responses* and Attitudes to the Learning of Modern Foreign Languages shown by Year 9 Pupils of Average Ability. London: CILT.
- LINGUISTIC MINORITIES PROJECT (1986). *The Other Languages of England*. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- LI WEI (1994). Three Generations, Two Languages, One Family: Language Choice and Language Shift in a Chinese Community in Britain. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.
- LOW, L. DUFFIELD, J., BROWN, S. and JOHNSTONE, R. (1993). *Evaluating Foreign Languages in Primary Schools*. Stirling: Scottish CILT.
- MACAFEE, C. (2000). The demography of Scots: The lessons of the Census Campaign. *Scottish Language* 19: 1-44.
- MACKIEWICZ, W. (2002). Plurilingualism in the European Knowledge Society. Presentation at the Conference on *Lingue e Produzione del Sapere*, Università della Svizzera Italiana (14 June).
- McCLURE, J. D. (1995). *Scots and its Literature*. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- McCOLL, H. (forthcoming). *Modern Languages in Special Schools and Units in Scotland*, 2002. Stirling: Scottish CILT.
- McCRUM, R., CRAN, W. and MacNEIL, R. (1992). *The Story of English* (Revised Edition). London: Faber and Faber.
- MACDONALD, S. (1999). The Gaelic Renaissance and Scotland's Identities. *Scottish Affairs* (26).
- McENERY, T., BAKER, P., BURNARD, L. and SEBBA, M. (n.d.) *Locating Minority Language-Speaking Communities in the UK. MILLE Working Paper 3.* Available at: <u>http://www.ling.lancs.ac.uk/monkey/ihe/mille/wp3.htm</u>
- MacKINNON, K. (1988). A Century of the Census Gaelic in Twentieth Century Focus. In D.S. Thomson (ed.) *Gaelic and Scots in Harmony. Proceedings of the Second*

International Conference on the Languages of Scotland. Glasgow: Glasgow University. Available at http://www2.arts.gla.ac.uk/SESLL/STELLA/STARN/lang/GAELIC/focus.htm

- (1991). The Gaelic Speech Community. In S. Alladina and V. Edwards (eds.) *Multilingualism in the British Isles Vol. 1: The Older Mother Tongues and Europe.* London: Longman.
- McPAKE, J. (forthcoming). Languages Education in the UK. In E. Reid and J. Bourne (eds.) *World Yearbook of Education 2003: Language Education*. London: Kogan Page
- (under review). Assessment of Achievement Programme Modern Languages Survey 2001.
- McPAKE, J. and JOHNSTONE, R. (2002). *Literature Review of Research, Policy and Practice relating to Translating, Interpreting and Communication Support Services across the Public Sector in Scotland.* Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- McPAKE J., JOHNSTONE, R., LOW, L. and LYALL, L. (1999): Foreign languages in the upper secondary school. A study of the causes of decline. Edinburgh: Scottish Council for Research in Education.
- McPAKE, J. and POWNEY, J. (1995). A Mirror to Ourselves? The educational experiences of Japanese pupils at school in the UK, *Educational Research* (40)
- MENZIES, J. (1989). An investigation of attitudes to Scots and Glasgow Dialect among Secondary School Pupils. *Scottish Language 10:* 30-46.
- MILLER, J. (1982) Many Voices. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- MINISTER'S ACTION GROUP FOR LANGUAGES (2000). *Citizens of a Multilingual World*. Report of the Ministerial Action Group for Languages. Edinburgh: SEED.
- MOYS, A. (1998) (ed.). Where are we going with Languages? London: Nuffield Foundation
- MURDOCH, S. (1995) *Language Politics in Scotland*. Aberdeen: Aberdeen University Scots Leid Quorum.
- MURPHY, J., MARKOVA, I, COLLINS, S., and MOODIE, E. (1996). AAC Systems: Obstacles to Effective Use. *European Journal of Disorders of Communication*, 31 (1).
- NETTLES, D. and ROMAINE, S. (2000). Vanishing Voices: The Extinction of the World's Languages. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- NICHOLAS, J. (1994). Language Diversity Surveys as Agents of Change. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.
- NIKOLOV, M. (1999). Why do you learn English? Because the teacher is short. A study of Hungarian children's foreign language learning motivation. *Language Teaching Research* 3 (1): 33-56.
- NUFFIELD LANGUAGES INQUIRY (2000). *Languages: The Next Generation*. Final Report and Recommendations of the Nuffield Languages Inquiry. London: Nuffield Foundation.
- OLSHTAIN, E. (2001). Being Trilingual: Is there a price to pay? Paper presented at the *Third Language Acquisition and Trilingualism Conference*, Fryske Akademy, Leeuwarden-Ljouwert, The Netherlands (13-15 September).
- OXFORD, R. and SHEARIN, J. (1994). Language learning motivation: expanding the theoretical framework. *Modern Language Journal* 78 (1): 12-28.
- PATERSON, S. (2002). Fears over 'Rab C' accents fuel speech therapy surge. *Scotland* on Sunday (6th October).
- PHILLIPSON, R. (1992). Linguistic Imperialism. Oxford. Oxford University Press.
- PORTES, A. and RUMBAUT, R. (2001). *Legacies: The Story of the Immigrant Second Generation*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- PORTES, A. and HAO, L. (2002). *The price of uniformity: language, family and personality adjustment in the immigrant second generation. Working paper.* Princeton: Center for Migration and Development, Princeton University.
- POWNEY, J., McPAKE, J., HALL, S. and LYALL, L. (1998). *The Education of Minority Ethnic Groups in Scotland: A Review of the Research*. Edinburgh: Scottish Council for Research in Education.
- REYNOLDS, M. (2001). Panjabi/ Urdu in Sheffield: A case study of language maintenance and language loss. In J. Cotterill and A. Ife (Des). *Language Across Boundaries*. London: British Association for Applied Linguistics and Continuum.
- ROGERSON, R. and GLOYER, A. (1995). Gaelic cultural revival or language decline? *Scottish Geographical Magazine*, 111 (1): 46-53.
- ROSEN, H. and BURGESS, T. (1980). Languages and Dialects of London School Children: An Investigation. London: Ward Lock.

- ROSOWSKY, A. (2002). Liturgical Literacy in UK Muslim Communities. Paper given at the 35th British Association for Applied Linguistics Conference, Cardiff (September)
- SCOTTISH EDUCATION DEPARTMENT (1989). Circular 1178. Edinburgh: SED.
- SCOTTISH EXECUTIVE (1999). Social Justice ... A Scotland where Everyone Matters. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- (2000a). *Creating our future* ... *minding our past: The National Cultural Strategy*. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- (2000b). *Gaelic in Scotland. Factsheet*. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- (2002a). *Citizens of a Multilingual World: A Guide for Secondary School Pupils.* Leaflet. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- (2002b). *Citizens of a Multilingual World. Learning a Foreign Language: A Guide for Parents.* Leaflet. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.
- (2002c). One Scotland Many Cultures. Website: <u>http://www.civiccomputing.com:8080/one_scotland/OS_homepage.jsp?p_service=C_ontent.show&pContentID=354&p_applic=CCC&</u>
- SCOTTISH EXECUTIVE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT (2001). *Flexibility in the Curriculum. Circular 3/2001.* Edinburgh: SEED. Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/library3/education/circ3-00.asp
- SCOTTISH OFFICE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT (1991). Curriculum and Assessment in Scotland. National Guidelines: English Language 5-14. Edinburgh: HMSO.
- (1993). Curriculum and Assessment in Scotland. National Guidelines: Modern European Languages 5-14. Edinburgh: HMSO.
- SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT (2000a). *Standards in Scotland's Schools etc. Act 2000*. Edinburgh: HMSO. Available at: <u>http://www.hmso.gov.uk/legislation/scotland/acts2000/20000006.htm</u>
- (2000b). The Draft Census (Scotland) Order 2000. Research Paper 00/01. Available at: <u>http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/whats_happening/research/pdf_res_papers/rp00-01.pdf</u>
- SCOTTISH QUALIFICATIONS AUTHORITY (2002). Annual Statistical Report 2001. Glasgow: SQA.

- SMITH, P. (1991). *Ethnic Minorities in Scotland*. Central Research Unit Paper. Edinburgh: Scottish Office.
- TIERNEY, D. and DE CECCO, J. (1999). *Modern languages in the primary school research: Final report.* Glasgow: University of Strathclyde.
- TSOW, M. (1984). *Mother-Tongue Maintenance: A survey of part-time Chinese Language Classes.* London: Commission for Racial Equality.
- WONG, L. Y.-F. (1991). The Hong Kong Chinese Speech Community. In S. Alladina and V. Edwards (eds.) *Multilingualism in the British Isles Vol. 2: Africa, the Middle East and Asia.* London: Longman.
- (1992). *Education of Chinese Children in Britain and the USA*. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.

Appendix A: Student Questionnaire, with responses

<u>N = 3840</u>

Version 1: 50% Version 2: 50%

Mapping the Languages of Edinburgh: Student Questionnaire

1. Are you a girl or a boy?

	Girl	50%	Воу	50%	
2.	How old are yo	<i></i> ?			
	age 11: 31% no response	5	e 12: 67%	2	age 13: 1%
За	What is the p	ost code of your	home ad	dress?	
	not represe	ntable			
3Ь	What is the no	ame of the stree	t where y	ou live?	
	street name	e given: 99%	stree	t name not gi:	ven: 1%
4.	Have you ever	been to school ir	n another	country, apa	rt from Scotland?

Yes: 10%	No: 89%	No response: 1%

4a In which other country or countries apart from Scotland have you been to school?

Number of other countries in which students had attended school:

<u>N = 377</u>

one: 82% two: 14% three or more: 4	ne: 82%	two: 14%	three or more: 4%
------------------------------------	---------	----------	-------------------

Last age at which student was at school in another country:

<u>N = 369</u>

age 4 or below: 9%	age 5-7: 31%
age 8-10: 30%	age 11 or above: 30%

Last country in which student attended school:

<u>N = 375</u>

England, Wales, N. Ireland or Irish Republic: Other EU country China, Hong Kong, Taiwan Australia or New Zealand Africa Middle East Indian sub-continent (Pakistan, India,	48% 15% 5% 5% 4%
Bangladesh, Afghanistan)	3%
South America	1%
Other Asian country	4%
Other European country (not EU)	3%
Other country	1%

5. Which language(s) did you learn at primary school?

Number of languages studied at primary:

none: 6%	one: 70%	two: 21%
three: 2%	more than three: 0.5%	no response: 0.5%

Languages studied at primary:

N = 3610

French: 75%	German: 27%	Spanish: 4%
Italian: 10%	Gaelic: 2%	Urdu: 0.2%
Other: 3%		

Total = more than 100%, as some students studied more than one language

6. Which language(s) are you learning at school now?

Number of languages studied now:

none: 1%one: 89%two: 9%three: 0.5%more than three: 0.2%no response: 0.1%

Languages studied now:

N = 3610

French: 81%	German: 24%	Spanish: 0.8%
Italian: 0.2%	Gaelic: 0.5%	Urdu: 0.1%
Other: 3%		

Total = more than 100%, as some students study more than one language

7. Do you go to language classes outside school?

Yes 4% No 95% I	No response: 1%
-----------------	-----------------

7a Which language(s) are you learning in language classes outside school? N = 142

French: 18% Italian: 10% English: 1%	German: 6% Gaelic: 4% Other European: 6%	Spanish: 8% Scots: 2%
Chinese (Cantonese): 19% Arabic: 10% Japanese: 5%	Mandarin: 6% Urdu: 8% Other: 3%	Panjabi: 3%

8. Do you speak any languages apart from English when you are not at school? (e.g. Scots, Panjabi, Italian, Cantonese, Creole, etc.)

Yes 19% No 78% No res	sponse 3%
-----------------------	-----------

N = 525³⁰

French: Italian:	11% 5%	German: Gaelic:	7% 3%	Spanish: Other European ³¹ :	6% 10%
Scots ³² :	19%	Dialect of English	³³ : 1%		
Urdu ³⁴ : Chinese ³⁶ : Other Asian ³⁷ :	11% 9% 4%	Panjabi³5: Mandarin:	8% 1%	Bengali: Japanese:	2% 2%
Arabic:	5%	Turkish:	2%	Other Middle Easte	ern ³⁸ :
African language	. ³⁹ : 1%	Sign language:	1%	Other language40:	1%

9. How well do you <u>understand</u> or <u>speak</u> the languages you know?

I can <u>understand</u>	I can <u>speak</u>	
-------------------------	--------------------	--

³⁸ Includes Farsi and Hebrew

³⁰ These figures have been adjusted to represent 'plurilingual' students – those who have learned and use other languages outside school because of family or other connections with places where the languages are widely spoken. 'Keen language learners' – those who practise the languages they are learning at school when not at school have been omitted.

³¹ Includes Russian, Greek, Portuguese, Swedish, Norwegian, Danish, Dutch, Flemish, Friesian, Hungarian, Romanian, Polish, Bosnian, Ukrainian, Bulgarian, Maltese, Welsh, Irish Gaelic and Romany

³² Includes 'Scottish', Scots and Shetlandese

³³ Includes Cockney', 'American', 'Canadian' and 'Jamaican'

³⁴ This category includes those who said they spoke Urdu only and those who said they spoke Urdu and Panjabi.

³⁵ This category includes those who said they spoke only Panjabi, and those who said they spoke Panjabi and Urdu. If those who said they spoke Panjabi *and* Urdu are excluded the proportion speaking Panjabi (only) falls to 3%.

³⁶ 'Chinese' includes those who said they spoke Cantonese and those who said they spoke 'Chinese'. From analysis of other survey data relating to Cantonese and 'Chinese' speakers it seems probable that all or virtually all of the 'Chinese' speakers are, in fact, Cantonese speakers. Cantonese and Hakka were spoken by one respondent.

³⁷ Includes Hindi, Gujerati, Mirpuri, Malayalam, Tamil, Sinhala, Malay, Indonesian, Thai, Tagalog Visnayan and Korean.

³⁹ Includes Yoruba, Ibo. Shona, Swahili and Afrikaans

⁴⁰ Includes Drehu (a language of the South Pacific) and Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC)

	well (%)	quite well (5)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp.	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν
English (100%)	92	5	1	0	3	87	6	1	0	6	3840
French (80%)	5	42	49	3	1	5	39	49	3	4	3056
German (34%)	7	34	52	6	1	6	30	55	6	3	1287
Spanish (7%)	7	13	63	15	2	6	12	69	8	5	277
Italian (9%)	14	22	50	12	2	11	22	50	13	4	335
Gaelic (2%)	19	15	43	23	0	19	13	55	11	2	62
Scots (2%)	59	31	9	1	0	50	30	16	0	4	68
Other European (2%)	14	17	53	13	3	14	13	56	12	5	91
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	51	31	16	2	0	56	29	16	0	0	45
Mandarin (0.4%)	23	12	59	6	0	18	23	53	6	0	17
Urdu (1%)	57	47	4	2	0	46	27	18	0	9	56
Panjabi (U) (0.7%)	68	20	8	4	0	56	36	0	0	8	27
Panjabi (G) (0.4%)	33	13	47	7	0	27	20	47	0	6	14
Bengali (0.2%)	75	0	12	0	13	75	25	0	0	0	8
Japanese (0.8%)	3	10	57	30	0	6	10	67	17	0	30
Other Asian (0.8%)	26	39	32	3	0	19	29	46	3	3	31
Arabic (1%)	25	17	37	18	3	12	33	40	15	0	40
Turkish (0.3)	25	25	50	0	0	25	33	34	8	0	12
Other Middle	33	0	67	0	0	17	17	66	0	0	6
Eastern (0.3%)											
African language (0.1%)	29	14	43	7	7	43	21	36	0	0	14
Sign language (0.1%)	9	36	55	0	0	0	45	46	0	9	11
Other language (0.2%)	20	20	60	0	0	20	20	60	0	0	5

	I can <u>read</u>					I can <u>write</u>					
	well (%)	quite well (5)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp.	well (%)	quite well (%)	a bit (%)	not yet (%)	No resp. (%)	Ν
English (100%)	92	5	1	0	3	87	6	1	0	6	3840
French (80%)	5	32	52	9	2	7	31	50	8	4	2996
German (34%)	5	25	54	14	2	5	24	53	15	3	1249
Spanish (7%)	7	10	49	32	2	4	8	45	39	4	246
Italian (9%)	8	19	39	31	3	8	15	40	33	4	303
Gaelic (2%)	18	13	24	43	2	17	11	31	39	2	54
Scots (2%)	45	35	18	0	2	38	29	23	3	7	66
Other European (2%)	10	14	38	36	2	7	7	36	44	6	88
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	18	38	33	9	2	16	31	36	9	2	45
Mandarin (0.4%)	20	27	33	20	0	27	20	33	20	0	15
Urdu (1%)	23	23	31	15	6	19	21	24	26	10	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	15	20	10	40	15	10	20	10	45	15	27
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	8	23	31	38	0	15	0	46	31	8	14
Bengali (0.2%)	45	0	0	44	11	45	0	11	44	0	9
Japanese (0.8%)	4	4	12	80	0	4	0	28	68	0	25
Other Asian (0.8%)	14	14	24	48	0	7	14	28	48	3	29
Arabic (1%)	19	27	22	32	0	7	30	29	34	0	41
Turkish (0.3)	18	27	9	46	0	18	27	0	55	0	11
Other Middle Eastern (0.3%)	16	17	17	50	0	16	17	17	50	0	6
African language (0.1%)	18	18	18	28	18	9	27	37	18	9	11
Other language (0.2%)	0	20	40	40	0	20	20	20	40	0	5

10. How well do you <u>read</u> or <u>write</u> the languages you know?

	() I		
	one or both	one or more	N
	parents, or the	grandparents	
	people who look		
	after you		
	%	%	
English (100%)	95	87	3840
French (77%)	25	8	2954
German (31%)	25	8	1196
Spanish (6%)	35	15	227
Italian (7%)	28	13	273
Gaelic (1%)	27	26	55
Scots (3%)	78	65	100
Other European (2%)	54	31	87
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	93	84	45
Mandarin (0.4%)	25	6	16
Urdu (1%)	87	85	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	96	80	27
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	85	85	14
Bengali (0.3%)	90	100	10
Japanese (0.6%)	29	13	24
Other Asian (0.9%)	78	58	36
Arabic (1%)	63	50	40
Turkish (0.4%)	71	57	14
Other Middle Eastern (0.1%)	80	80	5
African language (0.3%)	77	46	13
Other language (0.2%)	63	63	8

11. With whom do you use the languages you know?

	brother(s) and/ or sister(s) %	some other relatives %	N
English (100%)	86	89	3840
French (77%)	16	10	2954
German (31%)	19	12	1196
Spanish (6%)	23	20	227
Italian (7%)	15	23	273
Gaelic (1%)	9	27	55
Scots (3%)	68	62	100
Other European (2%)	26	41	87
Chinese (Cantonese (1%)	69	82	45
Mandarin (0.4%)	19	31	16
Urdu (1%)	60	83	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	60	92	27
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	38	77	14
Bengali (0.3%)	70	90	10
Japanese (0.6%)	8	13	24
Other Asian (0.9%)	31	61	36
Arabic (1%)	38	58	40
Turkish (0.4%)	43	64	14
Other Middle Eastern (0.1%)	40	40	5
African language (0.3%)	39	39	13
Other language (0.2%)	38	25	8

11. With whom do you use the languages you know?

	some friends %	some teachers %	N
English (100%)	86	89	3840
French (77%)	16	10	2954
German (31%)	19	12	1196
Spanish (6%)	23	20	227
Italian (7%)	15	23	273
Gaelic (1%)	9	27	55
Scots (3%)	72	43	100
Other European (2%)	26	41	87
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	59	50	45
Mandarin (0.4%)	19	31	16
Urdu (2%)	37	14	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	60	8	27
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	8	0	14
Bengali (0.3%)	70	90	10
Japanese (0.6%)	8	13	24
Other Asian (0.9%)	31	61	36
Arabic (1%)	38	58	40
Turkish (0.4%)	43	64	14
Other Middle Eastern (0.1%)	40	40	5
African language (0.3%)	39	39	13
Other language (0.2%)	38	25	8

11. With whom do you use the languages you know?

	at home	at school	on holiday	on the	N
				telephone	
	%	%	%	%	
English (100%)	95	95	89	93	3840
French (76%)	26	87	35	4	2922
German (31%)	29	78	22	5	1173
Spanish (7%)	31	20	74	11	277
Italian (7%)	29	35	38	10	255
Gaelic (1%)	32	34	32	23	56
Scots (3%)	91	58	68	69	100
Other European (2%)	49	12	70	24	92
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	96	36	78	82	45
Mandarin (0.5%)	39	44	33	22	18
Urdu (1%)	90	12	82	77	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	92	8	77	69	14
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	92	0	42	50	8
Bengali (0.3%)	90	20	90	90	10
Japanese (0.7%)	35	23	12	15	26
Other Asian (0.7%)	77	6	63	43	35
Arabic (1%)	62	10	46	46	39
Turkish (0.4%)	71	14	93	43	14

12. Where do you use the language(s) you know?

Please tick the correct boxes

Other Middle Eastern (0.3%)

African language (0.4%)

Other language (0.2%)

	letters and e-mail	books and magazines	TV/ video/	religious place	N
		_	film		
	%	%	%	%	
English (100%)	93	94	93	54	3840
French (76%)	8	11	10	1	2922
German (31%)	7	9	7	1	1173
Spanish (7%)	10	9	20	2	277
Italian (7%)	14	10	15	6	255
Gaelic (1%)	13	23	25	7	56
Scots (3%)	45	53	58	15	100
Other European (2%)	13	15	20	12	92
Chinese (Cantonese) (1%)	31	42	78	42	45
Mandarin (0.5%)	6	6	22	6	18
Urdu (1%)	29	21	61	81	56
Panjabi (U) (0.5%)	23	15	62	73	14
Panjabi (G) (0.3%)	17	8	50	83	8
Bengali (0.3%)	20	0	40	80	10
Japanese (0.7%)	4	4	19	4	26
Other Asian (0.7%)	14	11	31	37	35
Arabic (1%)	18	10	28	60	39
Turkish (0.4%)	29	14	21	14	14
Other Middle Eastern (0.3%)	20	0	40	40	5
African language (0.4%)	0	14	0	14	14
Other language (0.2%)	14	0	0	29	7

12. Where do you use the language(s) you know?

Please tick the correct boxes

13. Would you like to learn another language apart from those you already know?

Yes: 67% No: 31% No response: 2%

13a If you could choose just one other language, which would you like to learn?

<u>N = 2560</u>

French: 4%	German: 10%	Spanish: 42%
Italian: 21%	Gaelic: 3%	Urdu: 0.3%
Scots: 0.3%	Russian: 2%	Other European: 4%
Chinese: 4%	Japanese: 3%	Other Asian: 0.6%
Middle Eastern: 0.5%	African: 0.5%	Latin: 1%
Other: 0.5%	Dialect: 0.3%	Sign Language: 0.1%

14. Do you think it is important to learn other languages? Say whether or not you agree with these comments.

_		Strongly agree (%)	Agree (%)	Don't know (%)	Disagree (%)	Strongly disagree (%)	No response (%)
a)	Everyone should be able to speak more than one language	16	46	21	11	З	2
b)	Learning another language is difficult.	21	53	11	10	2	3
c)	English is the only language I need to know	5	7	15	47	22	4
d)	Knowing more than one language will be useful to me in the future	52	32	9	2	2	3